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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Youzan Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, “Youzan” or “We ") collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “"GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make this report or any statement
herein misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A E

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

MEBRERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEZEE

2020 2019 Changes
“BIEF ZT—NF b=
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
ARBTRT ARETT %
(Re-presented)
(K&E:51)
Revenue Wz 1,820,723 1,168,857 55.8%
Gross profit EF 1,082,084 593,402 82.4%
Gross profit margin (%) EFE(%) 59.4 50.8 8.6
Loss before tax PRI RTES1E (592,282)  (1,012,351) (41.5)%
Loss for the year REERE (545,653) (915,569) (40.4)%
Loss attributable to owners of KNABIHER AFEILEE
the Company (294,671) (591,874) (50.2)%
Adjusted loss before interest, tax, KRR ERMEVITER
depreciation and amortization BiERIEE REER)
(unaudited) (319,764) (432,745) (26.1)%
Adjusted non-HKFRS loss for the year #&EHBEEIEEBIFHFRE
(unaudited) BB REBEZ) (318,237) (421,476) (24.5)%
FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS MBIRREE
As at 31 December
nr+=ZB=+—H
2020 2019 Changes
ZERIRFE EZ2NFE 2ig
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
ARBTRT ARETT %
Current assets MYEE 8,107,646 6,337493 279%
Non-current assets FERBEE 4,104,834 4,161,367 (1.4)%
Total assets BEEMRS 12,212,480 10,498,860 16.3%
Current liabilities mENEE 7,058,846 6,106,953 15.6%
Non-current liabilities FErRBar 523,535 492,860 6.2%
Total liabilities BREE 7582,381 6,599,813 14.9%
Net current assets mENEERE 1,048,800 230,540 354.9%
Equity attributable to owners of KRB R NEEER
the Company 3,858,795 3,658,468 5.5%
Non-controlling interests FEIERG S 771,304 240,579 220.6%
Total equity TR AR EE 4,630,099 3,899,047 18.7%
FEARERAT —B-BEER 005



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITRMEE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, and
| would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all shareholders
and express my appreciation to all the staff of the Group for
their unremitting efforts.

In 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak caused an impact on the
operation of offline retail channels and accelerated the process
of digital transformation of merchants. By providing SaaS
systems and integrated new retail solutions, Youzan helps
merchants build and improve their online business capabilities.
The Gross Merchandise Volume (“GMV") generated by
merchants through Youzan's solutions reached RMB103.7 billion
in 2020, representing an increase by 61% as compared to
the GMV of 2019. The number of our merchants continuously
increased. As of 31 December 2020, the number of paying
merchants was 97,158, increased by 18% as compared with the
number as of 31 December 2019. The number of new paying
merchants was 59,940 in 2020, increased by 10% as compared
with the number of 2019.

Our store SaaS business grew significantly. The number of
new paying merchants from Youzan Chain increased by 300%
approximately. The number of new paying merchants from
Youzan Retail, Youzan Beauty and Youzan Education increased
by 100% approximately. The number of paying stores of chain
merchants using our products increased significantly which was
around ten times of the number in 2019.

With the growing business scale of our merchants, our
monetisation progressed constantly and steadily. In 2020, the
average contract value of all of our SaaS products increased
and the average contract value of Youzan Chain increased more
significantly. Since we launched more merchant solutions to
help merchants increase their sales, our average revenue per
merchant increased as well.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
THERE=

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately RMB1,820,723,000, representing
an increase of 55.8% compared to that of the last year,
among which, the revenue from subscription solutions was
approximately RMB1,047951,000, representing an increase of
76.6% as compared to that of the last year, and the revenue
from merchant solutions was approximately RMB757511,000,
representing an increase of 33.7% as compared to that of the
last year. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
recorded a gross profit of approximately RMB1,082,084,000,
representing an increase of 82.4% as compared to that
of last year, among which, the gross profit of subscription
solutions was approximately RMB796,548,000, representing
an increase of 109.1% as compared to that of the last year,
and the gross profit of merchant solutions was approximately
RMB282,776,000, representing an increase of 34.4% as
compared to that of the last year.

We firmly believe that merchants will definitely accelerate
digitalisation, and private domain traffic operation is
indispensable for merchants. Youzan will uphold our mission
to help every merchant who values products and services
achieve success in commerce. While helping merchants create
long-term value, we will certainly bring satisfactory returns to
shareholders.

Mr. Zhu Ning
Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, the PRC, 26 March 2021
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ABOUT YOUZAN
FRBEE

The Company is an innovative investment holding company
with limited liability committed to providing online and offline
e-commerce solutions which also known as SaaS (Software as
a Service) and various payment services for merchants. Our
Group consists of the Company, Shenzhen Innovationpay Co.,
Limited and its subsidiaries, Country Praise Enterprises Limited
("CPE") and its subsidiaries (collectively the “CPE Group”)
and Youzan Technology Inc. (formerly known as Qima Holdings
Ltd.) and its subsidiaries (collectively “Youzan Group”). We
are principally engaged in the merchant service and payment
service business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").
As at 31 December 2020, our operation consists of five
operating segments, namely (i) merchant services — provision of
a variety of SaaS products and comprehensive services in the
PRC through Youzan Group; (i) third party payment services; (iii)
Onecomm — provision of third party payment system solutions
and sales of integrated smart point of sales devices; (iv) general
trading and (v) others.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Youzan provides merchants with powerful social network-based
SaaS systems with omni-channel operations and integrated new
retail solutions, applying PaaS cloud service to create business
customisation options, while providing extended services such
as Youzan Guarantee, Youzan Distribution, Youzan Promotion,
etc. We help every merchant who values products and
services privatise customer assets, expand internet customer
base, improve business efficiency, and help his/her business
comprehensively succeed in all aspects.

In 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak caused an impact on the
operation of offline retail channels and accelerated the process
of digital transformation of merchants. By providing SaaS
systems and integrated new retail solutions, Youzan helps
merchants build and improve their online business capabilities.
During the period of COVID-19 outbreak, Youzan also issued
16 "anti-epidemic measures”, including software service fees
reduction or exemption, provision of sales programs of “doing
business without going out”, etc., to help merchants “to fight
the epidemic together".

The Gross Merchandise Volume (“GMV")" generated by
merchants through Youzan's solutions reached RMB103.7 billion
in 2020, representing an increase by 61% as compared to the
GMV of 2019.

In 2020, the number of our merchants continuously increased.
As of 31 December 2020, the number of paying merchants
was 97158, increased by 18% as compared with the number
as of 31 December 2019. The number of new paying merchants
was 59,940 in 2020, increased by 10% as compared with the
number of 2019.

Our store SaaS business grew significantly. The number of
new paying merchants from Youzan Chain increased by 300%
approximately. The number of new paying merchants from
Youzan Retail, Youzan Beauty and Youzan Education increased
by 100% approximately. The number of paying stores of chain
merchants using our products increased significantly which was
around ten times of the number in 2019.

! The total value of all confirmed transactions for products and
services of Youzan Group, regardless of whether the goods are
delivered or returned or how such orders are settled.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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While we are helping more merchants achieve success in
commerce, our operation efficiency increased continuously. In
2020, the gross profit margin increased 8.6 percentage points
to 59.4% compared with the number of 2019. The gross profit
margin of subscription solutions increased 11.8 percentage
points to 76.0%. All of the expense ratios decreased
significantly. Our operating cash flow improved and the net
cash generated from operating activities was approximately
RMB144,426,000.

We offer a wide variety of cloud-based commerce services to
merchants through our subscription solutions, a suite of SaaS
products such as Youzan WeiMall, Youzan Retail, Youzan Chain,
Youzan Beauty, and Youzan Education. In addition, leveraging
our Youzan Cloud platform and our PaaS capabilities, we also
provide customised services on standardised SaaS products for
merchants and offer applications by third-party developers on
our Youzan App Market.

Youzan WeiMall is an integrated social-media-based
e-commerce solution designed for merchants of all industries
operating under various scenarios. Youzan WeiMall helps
merchants build a comprehensive e-commerce management
system to capitalise the user traffic of leading social media
platforms in China, enhance their brand awareness and
efficiently increase sales. Merchants using Youzan WeiMall
represent a wide array of industries including fashion, food,
cosmetics, digital products, garments, healthcare and home
appliances, among others.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B STam M

Youzan Retail is a cross-channel, integrated commerce service
solution designed for retail merchants. It helps retail merchants
establish online operations, upgrade storefront operating
systems, and grow sales both online and offline. Youzan Retail
provides merchants with a one-stop digital solution covering
storefront operations, scenario-based marketing, member-
based marketing, data-based decision-making, sales channels
integration and business coordination with third-party systems.

Youzan Chain is a digital and intelligent commerce service
solution designed for merchants with chain stores. It helps
merchants manage multi-layer online and offline storefronts,
realise cross-channel sales growth, and achieve operational
efficiency through digitalisation. Tailored for the multi-layer
management structure of offline chain stores, Youzan Chain
provides a comprehensive management system integrating
headquarter, franchisees, self-run subsidiaries, branch
companies and physical storefronts. It is designed as a multi-
layer system with different levels of authorisations and its
functional capacities are correspondingly incorporated into
different layers of the management system. The management
system for the headquarter enables merchants to monitor
business aspects that affect the overall business operations
such as pricing, promotion, inventory and order processing,
customer service, and membership. The franchisee module
enables franchisees to manage order, promotion, value top-up
as well as cash management of each franchisee storefronts.
Merchants can set up online storefronts for its every offline
counterparts, so that merchants can start business and conduct
marketing online, while convert online traffic into offline
purchase.

FEAEEARAT —TTEER

FETEERATERRMRNERE—R
EREMRLZE EPTEBRRBUK L
EH THRPIEKEE R BRE LB TE
EEMOEBR MR- FETERBX
RHBSZFMELE - HREH - GEEH
HERAR - HERBERG BINEFE=T%
MEBHEAZEZHRN—RIEBFHAS
22,
FEEHEREAEHPIENERMRKE
B FIEREECHERTERTTE B
BERMBAFEERZRE LG TPIE
EE-BREHEER UKRESKEENW
K- FBEHRMAR TERENZERE
B AKEEHIEHNEREHR—ME
EENGES R FEE -SMEB - EE
[E~DRBUREREHERER  HIHE
m—EZEREMER BB TRAKHH
EERR > MINE T RABEMAEERMR
WARRER - BEEENEERR B
UEZEIRZEREXEFEENREERIR
BoBIEB R -EFMITERE &
REGTREERRZ -MEMEERIRELN
ERMERETE e RE - B2ZFH
EEEEMBEPE AR HEHEG TP
[ERRILAR L5 & AL B R A LUE 4R £
REFBLETEN R LREET
MR THEE

011



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRI

Youzan Beauty provides an integrated commerce service
solution to build up e-commerce storefronts for merchants of
beauty industry. Through functionalities that integrate online
and offline operations, Youzan Beauty is able to help merchants
digitalise storefront management, marketing management,
membership management and chain store management.

Youzan Education is an integrated commerce service solution
for education service providers. It helps education service
providers realise business growth online and offline. Youzan
Education offers education service providers with a wide array
of management and marketing tools and functionalities such
as student recruitment, registration and reservation, curriculum
arrangement, student-teacher interaction and supervision, and
ancillary education-related products sales.

With Youzan Cloud platform and PaaS abilities, we can provide
merchants with customised services on our standardised
SaaS products, which enables our SaaS products to evolve
with merchants’ changing demand and special requirements.
We also provide Youzan App Market that offers applications by
third-party developers to merchants to achieve their respective
business goals. With our Youzan App Market, merchants are
able to access a wide array of applications including marketing
management, storefront operation management, integration
and compatibility of different management systems, online
storefront design and decoration, software customisation,
customer service, and logistics and inventory management.
As of 31 December 2020, we had 2,055 applications by 1,646
third-party developers on offer through our Youzan App Market.
As of 31 December 2020, more than 235,000 merchants had
subscribed to applications by third-party developers through our
Youzan App Market.

We also provide merchants with merchant solutions, a series of
value-added services to address merchants’ online and/or offline
operation needs, including payment services, merchandise
sourcing and distribution, consumer protection and online
traffic monetisation. Merchant solutions mainly include Youzan
Payment Youzan Distribution, Youzan Guarantee and Youzanke.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B STam M

Youzan Distribution provides our merchants with additional
means to facilitate effective and efficient sales and distribution
of products. Through Youzan Distribution, merchants who
manufacture and supply products are able to establish
collaborative relationship with merchants who want to distribute
such products in a cost-effective manner, therefore enabling
faster and more efficient distribution of products through such
synergy created.

Youzan Guarantee aims to resolve the problem of insufficient
trust between merchants and consumers which leads to low
purchase conversion rate. With Youzan Guarantee, we strive to
restore consumers’ confidence in merchants and their products
and, in turn, increase the customer acquisition and repeat
purchase.

Youzanke is a commission-based promotion platform launched
in 2020, which connects merchants with media content
providers such as KOLs, live-streamers and self-run bloggers,
so that merchants can market and promote their products
leveraging the Internet traffic brought by these media content
providers. Through this platform, media content providers
promote and market our merchants’ products and monetise
their online traffic by charging a commission from merchants for
the products sold. Youzanke, in turn, takes a percentage of such
commission. Youzanke provides merchants with an additional
marketing and sales channel as well as provides media content
providers with access of branded products and online traffic
monetisation opportunities. Our merchants are responsible
for product supply, logistics, inventory and customer services,
while the media content providers focus on product promotion
and marketing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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We provide a series of add-on services to the merchants
that subscribe our solution offerings, including services we
proactively provide to merchants, as well as services we provide
in response to merchants’ inquiries. Motivated by the belief
of helping merchants achieve success, we provide a wide
variety of personalised services, covering the initial contact of
merchants by our service managers, fulfilment of the first order
and reaching transaction value threshold or membership level
with our assistance, achievement of higher GMV and customer
active level, and renewal of our agreements with merchants.
We also endeavour to provide real-time help to our merchants
in response to their inquiries through our help centre, covering a
wide variety of topics such as product userguidance, merchant
service, consumer service, product vetting and examination,
and customer complaint.

In addition to the services we provide by ourselves, we
have launched Youzan Service Market, a platform where we
connect third-party service providers to our merchants. As of
31 December 2020, there were 111 service providers on our
Youzan Service Market, providing services of approximately
360 items in 10 categories, such as store decoration and
photography, operation management, publicity and promotion,
short video and live-streaming, and personnel training.

Endeavouring to resolving the critical needs of our merchants,
we have been driven by an unwavering focus on developing our
products to address a full spectrum of pain points experienced
by our merchants in different processes of their operations.
We released more than 52,000 updates and upgrades for our
Saa$S products in 2020. These updates and upgrades are aimed
to expand the functionalities as well as the performance of our
SaaS products. Our ability to compete successfully depends
on continuously development and rolling out new features,
functions and solutions tailored to the needs of merchants and
therefore continuous research and development is critical to
our future success. Our proven record of product development
capabilities is supported by our strong technology and products
development team. As of 31 December 2020, we had 1,231
product and technology staff with expertise in cloud computing,
mobile technology, social media platform development,
mobile Internet information technology, large-scale distributed
application technology, as well as big data computing
technology, together representing approximately 34% of our
total number of employees. Our research and development
expenses amounted to RMB452,446,000 in 2020, increased by
12%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In 2020, we continued to improve the construction of our sales
team and expand our sales force. We set up a new regional
operation center in Chengdu to expand and serve merchants
in the southwest region. As of the end of 2020, Youzan's
direct sales team covered six major cities including Hangzhou,
Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Chengdu. As of
31 December 2020, the number of Youzan channel partners
reached 568, covering 153 cities in 31 provincial regions in
China, increased 63% as compared with the number as of 31
December in 2019.

We consider our employees as our most important asset and
competitive advantage. We value the contribution of each of
our employees and we are dedicated to work together with
them to create value for our merchants. As of 31 December
2020, we have 3,603 employees, with 43% of sales, 34% of
product and technology, 17% of service and operation and 6%
of management and support.

FUTURE BUSINESS STRATEGIES

Our future business plan has been made based on our mission,
which is to help every merchant who values products and
services achieve success in commerce. To help the merchants
achieve success is to help them improve business efficiency
and expand the business scale by providing better solutions
to satisfy their business needs. We plan to implement the
following strategies to strengthen our leadership in the cloud-
based commerce services industry:

Grow our merchants’ sales

We believe that our business value is commensurate with the
continued success attained by our merchants and therefore our
first growth strategy is to keep helping grow our merchants’
sales. The more sales a merchant generates with our products
and services, the greater the financial return we would receive
in exchange for the value we created for them. We will further
review and monitor our merchants’ needs, and endeavour to
provide them with the most effective and efficient solutions
that are tailor-made for their needs. Furthermore, we will
further enhance and optimise our service capabilities helping
merchants use our products efficiently as well as providing
them with constructive advice for their business operations.
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Grow our merchant base and broaden sales network

We will further increase the size of our merchant base. We
believe that we are well-positioned to capitalise the continued
growth of the decentralised e-commerce market in China.
Merchants of all sizes demand userfriendly and efficient
management tools to digitalise their business operations,
manage their online customer traffic, as well as integrate their
online/offline operations. We will continue to design and launch
new solutions and optimise our existing offerings to capitalise
these industry trends. In addition, we will further expand our
sales network of direct sale team and channel partners, improve
our sales and marketing efficiency and increase penetration in
more regions with sales potential so that we can achieve further
growth.

Continuous innovation and expansion of our solution
offerings

Leveraging our in-depth industry know-how and proprietary
technologies, we will continue to develop new products and
services catering to our merchants’ evolving needs and pursue
cross-sell and up-sell opportunities. As for our subscription
solutions, we plan to invest in continuous innovation of our
Saa$S products and related services helping them better manage
their own customer traffic and achieve more efficient digitalised
operations. As for our merchant solutions, we will further
enhance our understanding of demands of merchants of all
sizes in different verticals and provide them with services that
align with their business process to meet their everincreasing
operational needs. Furthermore, in light of the emergence and
rapid development of live-streaming e-commerce and other
potential popular online sales and marketing channel, we wiill
strive to connect our merchants to more online platforms
with high customer traffic so as to increase their business
opportunities.
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Continue to expand our ecosystem and enhance our
capabilities to serve large-scale merchants

We will continue to grow and develop our ecosystem by joining
forces with our partners to foster the ability to serve large-scale
merchants by offering personalised and customised solutions:

o Youzan Cloud platform. We will further enhance and
optimise our PaaS capabilities. By enhancing and
optimising our Youzan Cloud platform, we are able to
make our Youzan App Market available to more third-party
developers who are capable to develop and offer more
quality applications to enrich our offerings on Youzan App
Market. In addition, we will increase our investment in
Youzan Cloud platform to strengthen our cloud offerings
such as E-commerce Cloud, Retail Cloud, and Marketing
Cloud.

o Youzan Service Market. We will further expand the
number of third-party service providers clustered
around Youzan Service Market. We plan to attract more
quality third-party service providers to Youzan Service
Market to enrich service offerings for merchants. We
will also deepen our relationships with third-party
service providers by offering better incentives for quality
services, efficient match with particular merchant with
service needs, as well as introduction of other business
opportunities.

Continue to build for the long-term

We are committed to creating long-term value for our
merchants and help them to achieve long-term success.
As an innovator and pioneer offering state-of-the-art cloud-
based commerce services solutions, we seek opportunities
for strategic partnership with other market players that
can create synergies with us, and opportunities for making
selective investments or acquisitions to constantly enhance
our competence. We believe the strategic partnership or
investments could further strengthen our market leadership
for the long run and create greater long-term value for our
merchants.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW BA75[olEE
Revenue Wezs
In 2020, the Group's overall business performances were good. —Z_ZTF > REBNEBLS R IR

The Group’s revenue was approximately RMB1,820,723,000 ZAEEREXEENA AKE1,820,723,000

(2019: approximately RMB1,168,857,000 (Re-presented)), 7T (=
representing an increase of about 55.8% as compared to 2019, 7t (&K &

which was mainly attributable to the substantial increase in  55.8%>

T—HEF M AR,168,857,000
7)) Bm-E—AERLEE

EEHNHERITRABRL R

revenue from sales of subscription solutions and merchant &EXRERAFZHEWAKRBIERK -

solutions to merchants.

The following table sets forth the revenue breakdown by major —F%E%WUEAFE‘T’EEFEE‘?I E &R E

products and services for the years indicated. DR E

<AR A o

For the year ended 31 December

BE+"_A=+—HL=EFE

2020 2019 Changes
ZEIEHF —LE b= 7]
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
AR®EF AERETIT %

(Re-presented)

(B E3))
Subscription Solutions STRIRR G2 1,047,951 593,565 76.6%
Merchant Solutions GER: P VaES 757511 566,721 33.7%
Others HAth 15,261 8,571 78.1%
Total Sy 1,820,723 1,168,857 55.8%
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Revenue (Cont'd)

Subscription Solutions

Revenue from subscription solutions primarily include
subscription fees for SaaS products and a pertransaction cloud
service fee for each extra order beyond a pre-specified order
number threshold that consumers made to such merchants
through SaaS products. The Group started to charge paying
merchants cloud service fee since July 2019. In 2020, revenue
generated from subscription solutions was approximately
RMB1,047951,000 (2019: approximately RMB593,565,000 (Re-
presented)), representing a yearon-year increase of 76.6%,
which was mainly attributable to the increase in the number
of paying merchants from 82,343 as of 31 December 2019
to 97158 as of 31 December 2020 who purchased SaaS
products, and the increase in average revenue per merchant
of subscription solutions from RMB7208.4 in 2019 to
RMB10,786.0 in 2020.

Merchant Solutions

The Group offers merchant solutions which comprise
comprehensive value-added services addressing merchant
needs that arise in daily operations. Revenue from merchant
solutions mainly include transaction service fee charged for
transaction service, service fees charged for Youzan Distribution,
Youzan Guarantee, as well as Youzanke. Transaction service fee
and service fees for Youzan Distribution, Youzan Guarantee and
Youzanke are determined with reference to the GMV generated
by merchants through solutions.

In 2020, revenue from merchant solutions was approximately
RMB757511,000 (2019: approximately RMB566,721,000 (Re-
presented)), representing a yearon-year increase of 33.7%,
which was primarily due to the increase in transaction service
fee, service fees for Youzan Guarantee and Youzanke, driven by
the increase in the number of paying merchants and the GMV
generated by such merchants.

Others

In 2020, revenue from other businesses was approximately
RMB15,261,000 (2019: approximately RMB8,571,000 (Re-
presented)), representing a yearon-year increase of 78.1%,
mainly due to the increase in the revenue from providing
catering services and management service.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Cost
The following table sets forth a breakdown of costs by nature
for the years indicated.

DN
TREHNPAIREERIEE S DI
ik

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T_A=t+-ALEE

2020 2019 Changes
—ECEE “Z-hF b=}
Percentage Percentage

RMB’'000 (%) RMB'000 (%) %
AR k% ARETTT 1tE% %

(Re-presented)

(= E751)
Staff costs AIEZ 156,845 21.2% 146,064 25.4% 74%
Server and SMS costs R #5288 B SMSR A& 106,448 14.4% 77826 13.5% 36.8%
Transaction costs RS 422,465 57.2% 321,691 55.9% 31.3%
Costs of goods sold HEEmAA 7101 1.0% 7735 13% 82%
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets  EREEENE 7,369 1.0% 8,017 14% -8.1%
Technology services expenses BMREHES 10,844 1.5% 1,132 0.2% 858.0%

Contracted customer services

expenses NRPRERS 7,841 1.1% - 0.0% 100.0%
Taxes and surcharges RER MM 7,067 1.0% 2,576 0.4% 174.3%
Others Hitr 12,659 1.6% 10,414 19% 216%
Total st 738,639 100.0% 575,455 100.0% 28.4%

In 2020, the Group's costs were approximately
RMB738,639,000 (2019: approximately RMB575,455,000
(Re-presented)), representing a year-on-year increase of
28.4%, which was mainly attributable to business expansion.
Transaction costs increased by 31.3% from approximately
RMB321,691,000 in 2019 to approximately RMB422,465,000
in 2020, mainly due to the growth of GMV and partially offset
by the decrease in the original third party payment services
business. Server and SMS costs increased by 36.8% from
approximately RMB77826,000 in 2019 to approximately
RMB106,448,000 in 2020, primarily attributable to the increase
in server usage as a results of business expansion. Technology
services expenses increased by 858.0% from approximately
RMB1,132,000 in 2019 to approximately RMB10,844,000
in 2020, primarily attributable to the increase in software
customisation service cost as a results of business expansion in
large-scale merchants.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

In 2020, the Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
RMB1,082,084,000 (2019: approximately RMB593,402,000 (Re-
presented)), representing a yearon-year increase of 82.4%.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s gross profit margin
increased from 50.8% (Re-presented) in 2019 to 59.4% in
current year. The increase in gross profit and gross profit
margin was mainly due to the increase in total revenue and the
proportion of subscription solutions that have high gross profit
margin. Revenue generated from subscription solutions as a
percentage of total revenue increased from 50.8% in 2019 to
576% in 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+-_A=+—HL=EE

2020 2019
b o 22 “E-NEF

Gross Gross
profit profit
margin margin
RMB’000 (%) RMB'000 (%)
ARBFT EfNE% ARETT EFES

(Re-presented)

(&)
Subscription Solutions HIE S 796,548 76.0% 380,957 64.2%
Merchant Solutions EEN: P YAES 282,776 37.3% 210,391 371%
Others Hth 2,760 18.1% 2,054 24.0%
Total HEEt 1,082,084 59.4% 593,402 50.8%

Subscription Solutions SRR F

In 2020, the gross profit of subscription solutions was
approximately RMB796,548,000 (2019: approximately
RMB380,957000 (Re-presented)), representing a year-on-
year increase of 109.1%. The gross profit margin increased
from 64.2% (Re-presented) in 2019 to 76.0% in 2020. The
increase in gross profit and gross profit margin of subscription
solutions was mainly due to the increase in average revenue per
merchant of subscription solutions from RMB7208.4 in 2019
to RMB10,786.0 in 2020, and the increase in the revenue of
subscription solutions whilst the relevant major costs did not
increase to the similar extent.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin (Cont'a)
Merchant Solutions

In 2020, the gross profit of merchant solutions was
approximately RMB282,776,000 (2019: approximately
RMB210,391,000 (Re-presented)), and the gross profit margin
increased from 371% in 2019 to 373% in 2020, which was
mainly due to the growth rate of our revenue of merchant
solutions exceeded the growth rate of our costs of sales
of merchant solutions, driven by the revenue generated by
provision of service under Youzanke, Youzan Guarantee and
Youzan Distribution whilst the relevant major costs did not
increase to the similar extent.

Others

In 2020, other gross profit was approximately RMB2,760,000
(2019: approximately RMB2,054,000 (Re-presented)), and the
gross profit margin decreased from 24.0% in 2019 to 18.1% in
2020.

Expenses and others

In 2020, the Group recorded a 43.9% yearon-year increase
in selling expenses to approximately RMB781,882,000 (2019:
approximately RMB543,215,000 (Re-presented)). The increase
was mainly due to the (i) increase in sales personnel which led
to the increase in sales staff costs and travelling expenses,
and (i) the increase in the amortization of capitalized contract
costs driven by the increase in the commission paid to channel
partners as a result of the increase in the number of paying
merchants contributed by channel partners.

In 2020, the Group recorded a 22.7% yearon-year increase in
administrative expenses to approximately RMB241,438,000
(2019: approximately RMB196,797000 (Re-presented)). The
increase was mainly due to the increase in staff costs because
of business expansion and the increase in legal and professional
fees for the listing application of Youzan Technology Inc.

In 2020, the Group recorded approximately RMB445,165,000
(2019: approximately RMB349,927000 (Re-presented)) of
other operating expenses, representing a year-on-year increase
of 272%, which was primarily attributable to the increase
in research and development expenditure since the Group
continue to invest significant resources in research and
development to enhance technology capabilities.
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Expenses and others (Cont'a)

In 2020, the Group recorded an 54.4% vyearon-year decrease
in equity-settled share-based payment to approximately
RMB62,197000 (2019: approximately RMB136,428,000). The
decrease was primarily due to the number of share awards
under vesting year in 2020 were less than that in 2019.

In 2020, the Group recorded an investment and other income
of approximately RMB76,937,000 (2019: approximately
RMB29,727,000 (Re-presented)), which was primarily
attributable to the increase in interest income and VAT super
credit.

In 2020, the Group recorded other net gains of approximately
RMB1,569,000 (2019: other net losses of approximately
RMB198,992,000 (Re-presented)). The change was mainly due
to no impairment loss was recognized for third party payment
services business in 2020 while RMB193,304,000 was
recognized for that in 2019.

In 2020, the Group recorded finance costs of approximately
RMB27886,000 (2019: approximately RMB22,044,000),
representing a yearon-year increase of 26.5%, which mainly
included the interest of lease liabilities and other loan.

The Group also presents alternative performance measurement
indicators. Adjusted performance is an alternative performance
measurement indicator which is used to align internal and
external reporting, identify and quantify items that the
management considers to be significant and reflect how the
management assesses period-on-period performance.
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Non-HKFRS measures

IFERMBFRSLEREE

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-HA=1+—HLEE
2020 2019
—EIERFE Z—NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTTT AR®BTT
(Re-presented)
C<==pl)
Loss from operations K& EE (563,235) (995,596)
- Equity-settled share-based payment —REEERAD ZIRIE 62,197 136,428
— Depreciation of property, —ME- -BERZEITE
plant and equipment 19,192 16,720
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —FREEETE 47,445 47072
— Amortization of intangible assets —mFEEEH 193,143 193,366
— Other (gains)/losses, net —HAth (Kz) #5480 7F %58 (1,569) 198,992
- Investment and other income — KB REMIKA (76,937) (29,727)
Adjusted loss before interest, tax, KAEEERFE~FRIE
depreciation and amortization TE IR A5 1R (319,764) (432,745)
2020 2019
—EIERFE —T—NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTTT AR®BTT
(Re-presented)
Ce==pl)
Loss for the year REERIE (545,653) (915,569)
— Equity-settled share-based payment —RREEBE RO SZRIE 62,197 136,428
— Amortization of intangible assets —mEEEH 193,143 193,366
— Impairment of goodwill —EERE 1,047 193,304
- Adjusted for tax effects on —IFER AT BEREER
non-HKFRS adjustments AET ML EE (28,971) (29,005)
Adjusted non-HKFRS loss for the year KARFEEIFEBMBRE
218 (318,237) (421,476)

Note: These unaudited non-HKFRS measures should be considered
in addition to, not as a substitute for, measures of the Group's
financial performance prepared in accordance with HKFRS. In
addition, these non-HKFRS financial measures may be defined
differently from similar terms used by other companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Annual Impairment Test - CGU

The Company has engaged an independent professional valuer
to assess the recoverable amounts the Group’s cash generating
units (“CGU") as at 31 December 2020, for the purpose
of annual impairment test in accordance with accounting
standards.

Cash generating unit

REELE

FEREANR-REELEEN
FABBEEBISEEEMGTERS
BB ((ReEf8i) RS °24
+ZAZ+—BZTERSE UARE
ReEEBUNEEAENR

Valuation date

AHEEAEH

Third party payment services (“CGU A")
FZFEARE ((REEEEMAL
Merchant services (“CGU B")

ERRT (BREESENIB))

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
on the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method, which is defined as the present value of the future
cash flow expected to be derived from the cash generating
units. When conducting the valuation, the valuer has taken into
account factors including but not limited to expected revenue
of each cash generating units provided by the management,
expected cost and other expenses of each cash generating
units, capital expenditure, operation plan, discount rate

31 December 2020
—EIEF+Z“H=+—H
31 December 2020
—ECEF+"HA=+—H

ReELBEUZAWOERESEERKIIR
ReEnBZitEEREEREE £HE
BEEARPELEEREEEBMUZREK
RERBZRE -ETHER HEMEE
k#EZREZ BEBARINBEEERM
WEREEEEMUATRAWA S REARAE
REAMMFAS  EARRA  BEFE REEM
AENMER RATEERRENT ISR
AEEFRRRARRESESE - RFEB

calculated by the valuer, the current conditions of the market F2E  sHLEIFTRANZIENT
and the Group and estimated trend in the future provided by an
industry expert, etc. The parameters adopted in the valuation
process were as follows:
Budgeted
revenue CAGR
in the 5-year Terminal Pre-tax
forecast growth rate  discount rate
B FMBE
FERI PRy FEHA
EXEEERE
HERE KEBIERE G IERETES
CGU A
REEFBMUA 30.4% 3.0% 20.1%
CGUB
REEL BB 276% 3.0% 20.5%
FEAEERAT —S-SHEER 025



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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At 31 December 2020, in CGU A within third party payment
services segment, the recoverable amount calculated based on
value in use exceeded carrying value by approximately RMB71
million. The pre-tax rates used to discount the forecast cash
flow of CGU A changes from 20.1% to 22.5%, would remove
the remaining headroom.

At 31 December 2020, in CGU B within merchant services
segment, the recoverable amount calculated based on value
in use exceeded carrying value (after gross up adjustment
of goodwill attributable to non-controlling interests) by
approximately RMB1,215 million. The pre-tax rate used to
discount the forecast cash flows of CGU B change from 20.5%
to 24.4% would remove the remaining headroom.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Ning, aged 38, joined the Company in April 2018.
He was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company in May 2018 and was further
appointed as the chairman of the Board in February 2021. Mr,
Zhu is the founder and the chief executive officer of Youzan
Group (comprising Youzan Technology Inc. (formerly known as
Qima Holdings Ltd.) and its subsidiaries) and is responsible for
formulation of the overall development planning and business
strategies as well as the daily management of Youzan Group. He
is one of the pioneer user experience designers in the People’s
Republic of China. Before establishing Youzan Group, Mr. Zhu
was a product experience planner of Alipay and an interaction
designer of Baidu and has profound experience in the realm
of internet, including but not limited to online payment,
e-business, internet communities and online search services.
He graduated from Henan Radio & Television University with a
diploma. He is also the executive officer of China Prepay Group
Limited (“China Prepay”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company.

Mr. Cui Yusong, aged 34, joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
technology officer of the Company in May 2018. Mr. Cui is the
co-founder and the chief technology officer of Youzan Group
as well as the chief executive officer of Youzan Cloud. Mr. Cui
is responsible for technology reserve, artificial intelligence
and product strategic planning as well as management of the
research and development (“R&D") team of Youzan Group.
Prior to joining Youzan Group, Mr. Cui served in a number of
R&D or R&D management positions in Alipay, Alibaba Cloud
and Taobao. Mr. Cui graduated from Shaoxing University with
a bachelor degree in management. He is also the technology
officer of China Prepay, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.
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Mr. Yu Tao, aged 33, joined the Company in April 2018. He was
appointed as an executive Director and the chief financial officer
of the Company in May 2018 and was further appointed as
the compliance officer of the Company in February 2021. Mr.
Yu graduated from Nankai University with a bachelor degree in
accounting and is a member of each of Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and Certified General Accountants
Association of Canada. Mr. Yu joined Youzan Group in 2014 as
the chief financial officer and is responsible for financial planning
and management, business data analysis, research on users,
investment and investor's relations of Youzan Group. Prior to
joining Youzan Group, he worked in Ernst & Young, Shantui
Equipment Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd. and Alipay. Mr. Yu is also
the financial officer of China Prepay, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, aged 39, joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
service officer of the Company in May 2018. She is responsible
for management of the help center, talent development
and organisation operation. Ms. Ying graduated from Beijing
Technology and Business University with a bachelor degree in
economics and a master degree in engineering, majoring in
science management and engineering. Ms. Ying joined Youzan
Group in 2014 as chief service officer and is responsible for
the management of client services and contract compliance
of Youzan Group. Ms. Ying is also the service officer of China
Prepay, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
Prior to joining Youzan Group, Ms. Ying worked in Lexmark
Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FIBR$TEN# CRYI) BRAF),
Huarun Sun Hung Kei Real Estate (Hangzhou) Co. Ltd. GEE¥h
TEEEME () BFE/AT)) and Tang Shuo Education (ERE

B).
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Mr. Cao Chunmeng, aged 49, joined the Company in March
2011 and acted as Vice President of the Company. Mr. Cao was
appointed as executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company on 11 July 2012 and was reassigned as executive
Director and president in July 2017 Mr. Cao held a bachelor’s
degree in Computer Science from Shandong University in 1994,
He obtained a master’s degree in business administration from
Peking University in 2006. He worked at Shandong Branch of
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, acted as
General Manager in Jinan Xiande Technology Limited GZ & %%
BRI ARAE), Senior Deputy President in Fengyuanxin
(China) Limited (B7t{E (RE) BFRAE]), General Manager in
Zongheng Tiandi (Beijing) Information Technology Limited (4
BRM Jbm) BB RAE), Vice President in Beikong
Easycode (Beijing) Electric Commerce Ltd. (JE#EZHEE (b
R) BEFEHF BT and Vice President of Beijing Shangyin
Investment Consultancy Co., Limited (FiERtE L R) L EE
B R/AE]) . From December 2014, Mr. Cao acts as Director
of Haier Consumer Finance Co., Ltd. CEFHESRMABREA
&]). Mr. Cao acts as a non-executive director of ISP GLOBAL
LIMITED (a company which is listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8487)) from 22 January 2021. Mr. Cao
has more than 20 years of financial information technology
Internet industry management experience.
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Mr. Yan Xiaotian, aged 61, joined the Company in April 2014
and acted as the chief strategy and investment officer of the
Company; and acted as the chairman and legal representative
of Beijing ONECOMM Technology Company Limited, an
indirect subsidiary of the Company since December 2014.
Mr. Yan has been appointed as an executive Director and the
chief investment officer of the Company with effect from 24
December 2014. Mr. Yan has obtained a master degree in
economics from Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China
(B AR ERITHIZEER) , which was then merged with Tsinghua
University and known as PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University since 2012, and is a senior economist. Mr. Yan had
worked consecutively as the president of the head office of
Bank of China Limited, vice president of Guangzhou Branch
of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, formerly known
as CITIC Industrial Bank Limited, general manager of CITIC
Securities Co., Ltd. (Guangzhou) and director and executive
president of South China International Leasing Co., Ltd. Mr.
Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
China Billion Resources Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, on 30 September 2019. Mr. Yan was also appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Prosperity
International Holdings (H.K.) Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, on 28 October 2019. Mr. Yan acts as an
independent non-executive director of ISP GLOBAL LIMITED (a
company which is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8487)) from 27 November 2020.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Fong Chi Wah, aged 58, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since December 2003.
Dr. Fong has over 25 years of extensive experience in various
sectors of the financial industry including direct investment,
project and structured finance and capital markets.

Dr. Fong worked for KPMG as an accountant from September
1986 to January 1989, the American International Group in Asia
as an accountant from January 1989 to January 1990 and as
an analyst from January 1990 to August 1993, ING Consultants
Co., Ltd (head in Beijing, PRC) as the general manager from
September 1993 to March 1995, Hong Kong Branch of ING
Group from May 1996 to October 1998, and the Beijing Branch
of ING Group from July 1999 to December 2002, where he
served as the director of Baring Capital (China) Management
Limited under the group.

Dr. Fong has been the chief financial officer of Citychamp
Watch & Jewellery Group Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 0256), since September 2004,
and the company secretary thereof since February 2007 Dr.
Fong has also served as director of its subsidiary, Bendura Bank
Liechtenstein, since September 2016. Also, Dr. Fong has served
as a non-independent non-executive director of Cordlife Group
Limited, a company listed on the Singapore Exchange (stock
code: P8A), since January 2019. Dr. Fong was an executive
director of National Investments Fund Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1227), from November
2005 to August 2018, and an independent non-executive
director of Real Nutriceutical Group Limited (stock code: 2010)
from March 2008 to December 2018.
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Dr. Fong graduated from the University of Lancaster, the United
Kingdom in July 1984 with a bachelor's degree in management
sciences (economics). Dr. Fong graduated from the University
of Warwick, the United Kingdom in July 1986 with a master's
degree in business administration, Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in November 1999 with a master’s
degree in investment management, and Monash University,
Australia in November 2001 with a master’s degree in practising
accounting. Dr. Fong also graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in December 2007 with a doctorate in
business administration and The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in November 2013 with a Juris Doctor degree. Dr. Fong
has been a chartered CFA since October 2003, a fellow of
CPA (Australia) since November 2005, a fellow of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since May 2015, a
member of The Institute of Certified Management Accountants,
Australia since October 2001, and a fellow of Hong Kong
Institute of Directors since September 2015. Dr. Fong attended
executive courses of Harvard Business School in June 2017 and
Said Business School, University of Oxford in October 2019.

Mr. Gu Jiawang, aged 70, has accumulated profound
knowledge and valuable experience in the mass media industry.
Mr. Gu worked as a commentator in the comment department
of People’'s Daily (AR H#R), deputy director of the editorin-
chief and director of the business development bureau. He was
also appointed as the chief executive officer of China Huawen
Investment Holding Company Limited (B ZEREE EITER AR
‘AE]) which is held by People’s Daily (AR HR)the chairman
of Zhongtai Trust and Investment Co., Ltd. (FZREEELEEIR
H1E/AT]), the chairman of Shanghai New Huang Pu (Group)
Co., Ltd. (E/8#&EH (EE) BREEAE)) and the chairman of
Shenzhen Stock Times Media Limited CRIIFE SRR ABRA
&)). Mr. Gu graduated in philosophy major from department of
politics in Nanjing University. He also obtained a postgraduate
diploma after studying two years at the Party School of the
Central Committee of C.RC.
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Mr. Xu Yanqing, aged 64, graduated from the Department
of Finance at the Central Institute of Finance (F15R&f B < Bh
E2[%) (now known as the Central University of Finance and
Economics) with a bachelor degree in economics (major in
international insurance) in 1984. Mr. Xu is a senior economist
and has over 30 years of experience in finance industry. Prior to
his retirement in August 2016, he was the vice general manager
of The People’s Insurance Company of China (Hong Kong)
Ltd between August 2011 and August 2016. Mr. Xu joined the
Company on 4 August 2017

Mr. Deng Tao, aged 66, obtained his bachelor degree at
the Beijing Foreign Studies University and his executive
master of business degree at the China Europe International
Business School. Mr. Deng has more than 25 years of working
experience in human resources management. He commenced
his career of human resources by working in a Chinese joint
venture company established by Hewlett-Packard Company
in 1984 and served in that company for around 11 years. He
then successively served in a number of human resources
managerial positions in different multinational companies
including but not limited to Maersk Line Limited, Allied Signal
Inc., AstraZeneca Plc, Whirlpool Corporation and Google. Mr.
Deng joined the Company on 8 May 2018.

FEEEARAT —T_TEER

BmEBRE 6450 R—NN\EFEEER
PREHEMER CRBATPRITLEKR
B EEBEBEB LB (FEBEERR
%) cRAESD— BB M E
BEBBASELRB - R_T—REN
BEAR BR_E—FENBE_E
—RNENBEAFEARRE (FB &
[RAB 2RI -REENR T —+
FNBMUBEMEBARAT o

WEHLE 66 NILRINEBABE
BELBE WHRPENER T m 20t E
BHEHEHIBEEBE T B - MuLER
ANEBEREBEFEERBAE2FETIEL
B o M it — ML\ M FE EHewlett-Packard
Companyft i 2 HEH&EE R ETH - [
BEZANEREZE > TN Z QBT
HNF-REBRAEBRAREBERAR (8
FEEARPE R Maersk Line Limited~ Allied
Signal Inc.~AstraZeneca Plc~Whirlpool
Corporation&Google) {EHE T ANTE R
EEBAU-MLER_SE—N\NFERAN
BHBEARE -

033



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkEREEE 2 BEF

==
=]

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Guan Yu, joined Youzan Group in July 2016 and served
as the chief marketing officer of the Company, responsible
for the overall market strategy, business decision-making,
business growth, sales channels establishment, sales strategy
formulation and business objectives advancement. Prior to
joining Youzan Group, she was the general manager of the
Internet division of Artron (Culture) Group and Artron. Net and
participated in the preparation and establishment of the Palace
Museum Cultural Relics Protection Foundation. She graduated
from the University of Bath in United Kingdom with a master
degree in economics.

Mr. Huan Fang, joined Youzan Group in September 2018
and served as the chief operating officer of the Company,
responsible for business data assessment, product
commercialization, market investment, sales channel policy,
resources allocation, etc. Prior to joining Youzan Group, he was
the deputy president of Hillhouse Capital Group, responsible
for the investment in high technology, enterprise services,
artificial intelligence and intelligent manufacturing, leading/
participating in over 20 projects with an investment amount
of more than US$1 billion. The typical cases include Youzan
Group, NIO INC, YITU, Horizon Robotics and other well-known
technology companies. He graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University and obtained a bachelor’'s degree in energy and
power engineering and finance.
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CHIEF ECONOMIC CONSULTANT

Mr. Xia Bin, a famous economist and financial expert in the
PRC, was acted as the Chief Economic Consultant of the
Company on 8 June 2011. Mr. Xia Bin currently serves as an
honorable director of Research Institute of Finance under
Development Research Centre of the State Council, and Chief
Consultant of China International Futures Co., Ltd. He had acted
as an independent director of China Fortune Land Co., Limited
and Haitong Securities Co., Limited. Mr. Xia was a director of
Research Institute of Finance under Development Research
Centre of the State Council, a number of the Monetary Policy
Committee of the PBOC, served as a vice director of the
Institute of Finance of the People’s Bank of China, a manager
of trading department of the CSRC, a general manager of
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, a person-in-charge of Department
of Policy Research of the People’s Bank of China and a director
of Regulatory of Non-Banking Financial Organization of the
People’s Bank of China. Mr. Xia Bin's research primarily covers
macro-economic condition; currency policy; financial regulatory
and the development of the capital market in the PRC. Mr. Xia
wrote or edited a lot of books which are very influential to the
capital markets.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Fung Kwok Leung, aged 55, holds an Honors Degree in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a practicing certified public accountant, a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a Certified
Tax Advisor. He has over 30 years of ample experience in
accounting, audit, taxation, mergers and acquisitions, corporate
finance and corporate aid service and consulting.

In his early years, Mr. Fung worked in international accounting
firms and investment banks. He acted as chief financial officer,
financial controller and company secretary of listed companies.
He also served as an independent non-executive director, non-
executive director and executive director of other companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. At present, Mr.
Fung does not hold any directorship in any listed companies in
Hong Kong or overseas.
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The Directors present this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

THE COMPANY

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 17 August
1999 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). Its shares have
been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 14 April 2000.

PRINCIPLE ACTIVITIES

The Group's operation consists of five operating segments,
which are (i) merchant services — provision of a variety of SaaS
products and comprehensive services in the PRC through
Youzan Group; (ii) third party payment services; (ii) Onecomm —
provision of third party payment system solutions and sales of
integrated smart point of sales devices; (iv) general trading and
(v) others.

An analysis of our Group’s revenue, segment result and assets
for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in notes 8
and 12 respectively to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

CUSTOMERS & SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the percentage of
revenue attributable to the Group's five largest customers
was less than 30.0% (2019: less than 30.0%), while the five
largest suppliers of our Group accounted for approximately
43.6% (2019: 43.6% (Re-presented)) of our Group's total
purchases, while the largest supplier of our Group accounted
for approximately 13.8% (2019: 13.9% (Re-presented)) of our
Group's total purchases. As far as the Directors are aware, none
of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders (which,
to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had a beneficial interest in the five
largest customers and suppliers of our Group.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of our Group's results for the year ended 31 December
2020 are set out on pages 158 to 159 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend
(2019: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB1,751,530,000 (2019:
approximately RMB746,194,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no bank borrowings
(2019: Nil).

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITY

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 52 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Details
of contingent liability of the Group are set out in note 51 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no pledge of assets
(2019: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC and
its transactions, monetary assets and liabilities are primarily
denominated in Renminbi. The Group monitors its foreign
currency risks and will consider hedging significant currency
exposures should the need arises.
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MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, details of material
investments or acquisition of capital assets please refer to
connected transactions which are set out on page 45 to 50 of
this annual report.

Details of material investments or acquisition of capital
assets after the reporting period are set out in note 55 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 426 (2019: 369)
trademarks registered, of which all trademarks have been
approved. At the same time, the Group had 132 software
copyrights (2019: 115) and 15 patents (2019: 8) in the PRC.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has 3,603 employees
(2019: 2,941). Employees are remunerated according to their
performance and work experience. In addition to basic salaries
and retirement scheme, staff benefits include performance
bonus, share options and share awards etc.. The Directors
believe that good quality of its employees is a company asset
which affects growth and improves profitability. The Group
recognizes the importance of staff training and thus regularly
provides internal and external training for its staff to enhance
their skills and knowledge.

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has no material
outstanding litigation.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 45 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the directors, the directors confirm that the Company
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2020, there were no outstanding
convertible bonds.

WARRANTS

On 6 February 2015 (after trading hours), the Company and
Greater China Select Fund (the “Subscriber”) entered into
a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
to broaden the Shareholders’ base of the Company and to
raise further capital which would strengthen the financial
position of the Group for its future business development
and general working capital requirement. Following obtaining
the shareholders’ approval for the subscription (the “Warrant
Subscription”) and issue of the warrant (the “Warrants”) at the
special general meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2015,
all conditions set out in the Subscription Agreement have been
fulfilled and completion of the Warrant Subscription took place
on 6 July 2015. Warrants of an aggregate amount of HK$381.6
million have been issued to the Subscriber at the issue price
of HK$0.002 per Warrant. The Warrants entitle the Subscriber
to subscribe a maximum of 530,000,000 shares (“Warrant
Share(s)”) at an initial subscription price of HK$0.72 per Warrant
Share for a period of five (5) years commencing from the date of
issue of the Warrants.
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All the Warrants that were outstanding as at 31 December
2019 entitling the Subscriber to subscribe for 520,000,000 new
shares have been fully exercised by the Subscriber (“Exercise of
Wiarrants”) in June 2020. Accordingly, there are no outstanding
Warrant Share to be subscribed (as at 31 December 2019:
520,000,000 Warrant Shares outstanding).

520,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
in an aggregate nominal value of HK$374,400,000 were issued
and allotted to the Subscriber at the subscription price of
HK$0.72 per Share.

The net proceeds from the exercise of Warrant Shares
received by the Company, after deducting all related costs,
fees, expenses and commission, amount to approximately
HK$374,400,000. The Company intends to apply the net
proceeds from the exercise of Warrant Shares for its general
working capital and as funds for future business development.

For further details of the Warrant Shares, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 February 2015, 5 March
2015, 29 May 2015, 29 June 2015 and 6 July 2015 and the
circular of the Company dated 9 June 2015.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME

Share Options Scheme

The Company adopted two share option schemes (the “Share
Option Schemes”), namely the share option scheme adopted
on 3 May 2012 (the “Share Option Scheme 2012") and the
share option scheme adopted on 12 June 2019 (the “Share
Option Scheme 2019").
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Set out below are the details of movements in the outstanding
options granted under the Share Option Scheme 2019 during
the year ended 31 December 2020:

Share Option Scheme 2019

Name of Selected Directors
EFEsHL
Mr. Zhu Ning

RERE

Mr. Cui Yusong
EXNEE

Mr. YuTao
AEEE

Ms.Ying Hangyan
Eingat

Subtotal
ey

Qther employees (include
3 senior management x
of the Group)

EHEE (AEFEEL
BREREAS)

Total
3t

Position held
within the Company

RAREREZEE

Executive Director and
chief executive officer

HTEERERYNOE

Executive Director

hiTEs

Executive Director

EGES

Executive Director
nnEs

Note 1: Vesting schedule

M1 BEBEX

1 uly 2020

“Z2EFLA-A

1y 2021

“B_-%th-A

1 July 2022

“Z-TEtA-A

1.y 2023

“ZTZFtA-A

PEEEHRAT

SRCBEER

Date of grant

RAEH

9.9.2019

9.9.2019

9.9.2019

9.9.2019

9.9.2019

9.9.2019

5%

5%

%%

5%

UFHENEE_E-_EF+_-_8=+—H
IEEFEEREBE_E—NEBREABELZ
i ARITEEE AR 2 B E AR

—E-hFRERESE

Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercise

Asat  Grant during during during during Asat Exercise
112020 the year theyear  theyear the year 31.12.2020 price HKS

i

KIEZEE k-S43
-A-B ERRY EREN EMEE ERGE TZRS+-R b4
100,000,000 - - - - 100,000,000 HK$1.00
10087
20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 HK$0.90
09037
20,000,000 - - - (5,000,000 15,000,000 HK$0.90
090A 7T
20,000,000 - - - (5,000,000 15,000,000 HK$0.90
09037

160,000,000 - - - (10,000,000 150,000,000
171,000,000 - (3,250,000 - (17596,000 150,154,000 HKS0.75
07557

331,000,000 - (3,250,000 - (2759,000 300,154,000

Exercisable
from

AR
[Note 1)
liEq))

1July 2020

~E-EE

-5

tA-H

1July 2020
“5°%f
tf-H

1July 2020
“BCEE

—<-%

tA-8

1.y 2020
“BCEE

-5

tA-H

1.y 2020

Exercisable
until

AR
(Note 1)
(Bz01)

30 June 2024

“EopE
AA=1H

30 June 2024
“ETmE
AAZTH

30 June 2024
- 13
~A=tH

30 June 2024
“EopE
AB=1H

30 June 2024

“ETmE
~AZTH

Percentage
out of total
number of
issued Shares
as at the date
of this report
approximately
(%)
fEREAS
BETRA
agzaEM
BE4(%)

0.58

0.12

0.09

0.09

087

087
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Set out below are the details of movements in the outstanding
options granted under the Share Option Scheme 2012 during

the year ended 31 December 2020:

Share Option Scheme 2012

UT#IEE—=

M ARITRERE R 2 EE5HI5 -

—E-_FREikEsE

Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercise
Grant during during during during Exercise
Asat112020  the year the year theyear  theyear Asat31122020  price HKS
| i’
k- 3:2 ka2
-A-B  EARH EMkR EmEE ERRTE TZE=t-B 0 R
Name of Selected Directors
EREsLY
Mr. Cao Chunmeng Executive Director 36,000,000 - (36,000,000 - - - HK§1.25
BEHEE angEs 12557
Mr. Yan Xiaotian Executive Director 25,000,000 - 25,000,000 - - - HK$125
BREEE AnES 12587
Dr. Fong Chi Wah Independent 3,000,000 - (3,000,000} - - - HK§$1.25
non-executive director
FEERL BUFaTES 12587
Mr. Gu Jiawang Independent 3,000,000 - (3,000,000} - - - HKS1.25
non-executive director
AgHRE BUFRTES 12587
67000,000 - (67000,000) - - -
Other employees 35,700,000 - (35,700,000) - - - HK$I%
AHES 12587
Total 102,700,000 - (102,700,000} - - -
)
Note 2: Vesting schedule
ME BERER
One year after the grant date 30%
thdarl 1k
Two year after the grant date 30%
RitARKE
Three year after the grant date 40%
R B B%IE

Details of the Share Option Schemes are set out in Note 49(a)

to the consolidated financial statement.
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Exercisable from

Afkd
[Note 2)
(F3t2)

1 February 2016
g

1 February 2016
“%-F_A-H

1 February 2016
% F_A-H
1 February 2016

2 EZR-H

1 February 2016
“%-/E_A-H

Exercisable until

AfEE
(Note 2)
iG]

10 June 2020
ZE2EEREHH

10 June 2020
8RR

10 June 2020
3IEEAA
10 June 2020

8RR

10 June 2020
ZE2EEREHH

—TFE+ZA=+—H
HFEERBE_Z-—_FERESIRE

Percentage
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issued Shares
as at the date
of this report
approximately
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 31 May 2018 (the “Adoption Date”) aimed
to recognise the contributions by eligible persons and provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for continuing
operation and development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Adoption Date unless early terminated by the
Board. For details of these share awards, please refer to Note
49 to the consolidated financial statement.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 47 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 163 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders. However, the
Company’'s share premium account, in the amount of
approximately RMB6,093,115,000 may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 8 April 2020, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agents pursuant to which the
Company has appointed the Placing Agents on a several (but
not joint or joint and several) basis as its agents to arrange,
on a best effort basis, and facilitate the subscription of up to
1,240,000,000 Placing Shares by the Placees at the Placing
Price of HK$0.64 per Placing Share on the terms and subject to
the conditions of the Placing Agreement.

On 17 April 2020, the Placing was completed in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Placing Agreement. A
total of 1,240,000,000 Placing Shares have been successfully
placed by the Placing Agents to not fewer than six Placees
at the Placing Price of HK$0.64 per Placing Share pursuant
to the Placing Agreement. The net proceeds from the Placing
received by the Company, after deducting all related costs, fees,
expenses and commission, amount to approximately HK$784.1
million. The Company intends to apply the net proceeds from
the Placing as to (i) approximately HK$705.4 million for system
upgrade, product development and marketing expenses; and
(i) the remaining approximately HK$78.7 million as general
working capital of the Group.

The Directors consider that the Placing represents a good
opportunity to raise capital for the Company and broaden the
Shareholder base and capital base of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Byelaws and the laws in Bermuda in relation to the
issue of new shares by the Company.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’'s subsidiaries and associates are
set out in notes 23 and 24 respectively to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Details of the Group's Share Option Schemes and Share
Award Scheme are set out in note 49 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in note 54 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, other than the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
of the Group set out below which should be disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules, no related party transactions disclosed in
note 54 to the consolidated financial statements constituted
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
which should be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
prescribed in Chapter 14A of the listing Rules with respect
to the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2020.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. Shares Purchase Agreement

On 5 June 2020, the Company, GuangFriends Limited
("GuangFriends”) and Guang Holdings Limited (“Guang
Holdings"”) entered into a shares purchase agreement
(the “Shares Purchase Agreement”). Subject to the
terms and conditions of the Shares Purchase Agreement,
among other matters, Guang Holdings agrees to issue
and allot to each of the Company and GuangFriends,
and each of the Company and GuangFriends agrees
to purchase from Guang Holdings, 10,000,000 new
class A ordinary shares in Guang Holdings being 10%
shareholding in Guang Holdings (on an enlarged basis
upon closing of the transactions contemplated under the
Shares Purchase Agreement (“Closing”)) representing
2.94% of the voting power at any general meetings of
Guang Holdings at the purchase price of US$5,000,000.
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The major terms of the Shares Purchase Agreement are

as follows:
Date:

Parties:

Subject of
the Shares
Purchase

Agreement:

5 June 2020

(i) the Company;

(i) GuangFriends; and
(i) Guang Holdings

Guang Holdings indirectly holds 100%
interests in the WFOE, the sole asset
of which is its investment in the entire
equity interests in the Domestic
Company through VIE structure. As
at the date of this announcement,
the WFOE has established the VIE
structure such that the WFOE has
effective control over the finance and
operations of the Domestic Company
and enjoys the entire economic
interests and benefits generated
by the Domestic Company. Subject
to the terms and conditions of the
Shares Purchase Agreement, among
other matters:

() Guang Holdings agrees to issue
and allot to the Company, and the
Company agrees to purchase from
Guang Holdings, 10,000,000 new
Class A Shares in Guang Holdings
being 10% shareholding in Guang
Holdings (on an enlarged basis
upon Closing) at the Purchase Price
of US$5,000,000; and
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(i) Guang Holdings agrees to issue
and allot to GuangFriends, and
GuangFriends agrees to purchase
from Guang Holdings, 10,000,000
new Class A Shares in Guang
Holdings being 10% shareholding
in Guang Holdings (on an enlarged
basis upon Closing) at a purchase
price of US$5,000,000.

Consideration: () The Company shall pay the
Purchase Price of US$5,000,000
as consideration to Guang
Holdings for the purchase of 10%
shareholding in Guang Holdings
(on an enlarged basis upon

Closing) at Closing.

(i) GuangFriends shall pay a
purchase price of US$5,000,000
as consideration to Guang
Holdings for the purchase of 10%
shareholding in Guang Holdings
(on an enlarged basis upon
Closing) at Closing. Subject to the
terms and conditions of the Shares
Purchase Agreement, both the
Company and GuangFriends shall
pay their relevant purchase price to
Guang Holdings in cash.

As at the date of signing the Shares Purchase
Agreement, Guang Holdings is owned as to
approximately 62.5% by Mr. Zhu Ning and his associates
and 375% by Mr. Huang Rongrong. Mr. Zhu Ning is an
executive Director and substantial Shareholder of the
Company, whereas Mr. Huang Rongrong is a director of
two subsidiaries of the Company. Therefore, each of Mr.
Zhu Ning and Mr. Huang Rongrong is a connected person
of the Company and the transactions contemplated under
the Shares Purchase Agreement constitute connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Reasons For and Benefits of The Transaction

The Domestic Company is principally engaged in the
business of operating a live streaming platform which
facilitates product promotion for businesses. The
Company believes that the acquisition of the Purchase
Shares (i) allows the Group to capture the benefits
generated by the speedy growth and expansion of the
live streaming business, particularly in the PRC; and (ii)
fosters the business integration between the Group
and the Aiguang Platform, which produces synergistic
effects, in that the live streaming platform, which is
designed chiefly to promote products, complements the
Group’s e-commerce business by allowing merchants to
engage streamers to promote their products. In view of
the foregoing, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) are of the view that the Shares
Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder have been entered into on normal commercial
terms or better, are fair and reasonable, and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

Further Round of Equity Financing of Aiguang Platform

A further round of equity financing in Guang Holdings
involved two institutional investors with an aggregate
amount of US$20 million at a post money valuation of
US$200 million (the “Equity Financing”) was completed
on 23 June 2020. Upon the closing of the Equity
Financing, the Company held 9.0% shareholding in
Guang Holdings.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 5 June 2020, 8 June 2020, 23 June
2020 and 29 June 2020.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
and confirmed the compliance of the VIE Agreements
(namely, the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge
Agreement and the Powers of Attorney) under the VIE
Structure for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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SUBSCRIPTION OF SHARES IN A NON-
WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY

On 16 September 2020, the Company entered into
a subscription agreement (the “Youzan Technology
Subscription Agreement”) with Youzan Technology
Inc. (formerly known as Qima Holdings Ltd.) (“Youzan
Technology”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, in relation to the subscription of approximately
35 million shares (the “Subscription”) of Youzan
Technology (the “Youzan Technology Shares”) for the
consideration of US$160 million payable in cash upon
completion of the Subscription (the “Completion”) in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Youzan
Technology Subscription Agreement.

Upon Completion, the Company held approximately
51.90% of the total issued shares of Youzan Technology,
which remained as a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

The major terms of the Youzan Technology Subscription
Agreement are as follows:

Date: 16 September 2020

Parties: (i) the Company; and

(i) Youzan Technology
Subscription Pursuant to the Youzan Technology
Subscription Agreement, the
Company agrees to subscribe for,
and Youzan Technology agrees to
issue, sell and allot approximately 35
million Youzan Technology Shares in
the consideration of US$160 million
payable in cash upon Completion.
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Consideration of US$160 million for
the subscription of approximately 35
million Youzan Technology Shares,
representing 2.31% of the total
issued Youzan Technology Shares as
enlarged by the issue and allotment of
the Subscription Shares.

Consideration:

As at the date of the Youzan Technology Subscription
Agreement, Youzan Technology is a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company which was owned as to
approximately 50.76% by the Company and 10.54% by
Whitecrow Investment Ltd. Whitecrow Investment Ltd. is
wholly owned by Mr. Zhu Ning, a Director and substantial
Shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Youzan
Technology is a connected subsidiary and connected
person of the Company and the Subscription constituted
a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Immediately upon the Completion, the Company held
approximately 785 million Youzan Technology Shares,
representing approximately 51.90% of total issued Youzan
Technology Shares as enlarged by the allotment and issue
of the Subscription Shares.

Reasons for and benefits of the subscription

To cope with the rapid development of the e-commerce
industry in the PRC, additional capital is required for
further expansion and to strengthen the competitiveness
of Youzan Group. The Directors are of the view that the
Subscription is in line with the Company’'s business
strategy of providing continuous support to the business
plan and development of Youzan Group.

Taking into consideration the above factors, the
Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that the terms and conditions of
the Subscription are fair and reasonable, on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course of
business and are in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
1. Loan Agreement

Major terms

Date:

Lender:

Borrower:

Loan amount:

Terms:

Interest rate:

FEEEARAT —T_TEER

27 April 2019
The Company

Youzan Technology, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability

Not exceeding HK$900,000,000 at
any time, inclusive of the principal
loan amount and interest

From 27 April 2019 (the "“Loan
Effective Date”) until 31 December
2021

Youzan Group shall pay interest on
any outstanding principal of the loan
at the interest rate of 2% per annum
above the Hong Kong Dollar Prime
Rate as quoted by The Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited (“Prime Rate”) from time
to time, which shall be calculated
and charged on a monthly basis.
Such interest rate was arrived
after arms’ length negotiation with
reference to the interest rate under
the previous loan agreement entered
into between China Youzan Limited
and Youzan Group on 8 April 2017 as
supplemented by the supplemental
agreement dated 29 November 2017
(the “Previous Loan Agreement”).
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Repayment
terms:

Conditions

precedent:

Other terms:

Youzan Group shall fully repay any
outstanding principal and any accrued
but unpaid interest and any other
monies due under the loan agreement
entered into between China Youzan
Limited and Youzan Group on 27 April
2019 (the “Loan Agreement”) on
the expiry of the term of the Loan
Agreement.

The commencement of the Loan
Agreement is conditional upon
fulfillment of (i) the obtaining of
the approval from the independent
Shareholders (the Shareholders
other than Whitecrow Investment
Ltd. and its associates and those
shareholders who have material
interests in the Loan Agreement)
(“Independent Shareholders”) by
the Company in relation to the
transactions contemplated under the
Loan Agreement in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii) the
approval from the board of directors
of Youzan Group in relation to the
Loan Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.

The Company has sole discretion
to refuse to advance any part of the
loan if the Company is not satisfied
with the use of the loan specified in
the executed notice of drawdown by
Youzan Group.

Proposed annual cap amounts for the Loan Agreement

The proposed annual caps in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Loan Agreement for each of the
three years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021
is HK$900 million, HK$900 million and HK$900 million

respectively.
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The aforementioned annual caps are determined with
reference to, among others, the current business plan of
Youzan Group.

As at the date of the Loan Agreement, Youzan Technology
is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
which was owned as to approximately 51.48% by the
Company and more than 10% by Whitecrow Investment
Ltd. Whitecrow Investment Ltd. is wholly owned by Mr.
Zhu Ning, a Director and substantial Shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Youzan Technology is a connected
subsidiary of the Company and the Subscription
constituted a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Reasons for and benefits of entering into the Loan
Agreement

As disclosed in the Company’'s announcement dated
2 April 2019, the Company raised the net proceeds of
approximately HK$910 million from the issue of new
Shares. It was intended that the Company would use part
of such proceeds in the sum of approximately HK$792
million to the business development of Youzan Group.

To facilitate Youzan Technology's business expansion,
which includes product development, marketing and
the promotion of advertising services, the Company
expected that a HK$900 million annual caps for the
Loan Agreement is appropriate, after considering (i) the
aforementioned HK$792 million proceeds raised from the
issue of new Shares and (ii) the US$10 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$78 million) advanced to Youzan
Technology under the Previous Loan Agreement.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the Loan Agreement has
been entered into after arm’s length negotiations on
normal commercial terms and the terms thereof are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.
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Internal Control Measures

The Company has established the following internal

control measures in relation to the Loan Agreement:

(i) Designated personnel from finance department will
perform regular check to review and assess whether
the loan is provided in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Loan Agreement; (ii) The audit
committee will review the report prepared by the
management of the Company based on the continuing
connected transactions conducted at least twice a vyear;
and (iii) The independent non-executive Directors and
external auditors will review and report on the continuing
connected transactions pursuant to Rule 20.53 and 20.54

of the GEM Listing Rules.

2. The 2019 Third Party Payment Services
Framework Agreement and the 2020
Third Party Payment Services Framework

Agreement
(A) 2019 Third Party Payment Services Framework
Agreement
Date: 31 December 2019
Parties: () Beijing Gaohuitong
Commercial Management
Co., Ltd.* UtmmERERE
= BIEBRLE)("Beijing
Gaohuitong”); and
(i) Hangzhou Youzan
Technology Co., Ltd,* (#1
MEBREZABERRF)
(“Hangzhou Youzan”)
Term: The 2019 Third Party Payment

Services Framework Agreement
is of a term commencing from 1
January 2020 and ending on 31
May 2020 (both days inclusive).
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Scope of
services:
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Beijing Gaohuitong shall provide
the following types of third
party payment services to
Hangzhou Youzan subject to
the terms and conditions of the
third party payment services
framework agreement:

1. offline integrated payment
transactions services,
including but not limited
to, point of sales-based
business handling services
for bank cards for offline
transactions;

2. online payment services
for “"WeiMall”, including
but not limited to express
checkout, Wechat Pay and
Alipay services;

3. cross-border RMB payment
settlement services for
“"WeiMall” overseas
merchants;

4. physical and virtual
prepaid cards services for
merchants of Youzan Group;
and

5. other payment related
services.
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Pricing policy
and payment
terms:

The service fee under the
third party payment services
framework agreement is
determined principally by arm’s
length commercial negotiations
between the parties with
reference to (i) the upstream
channel costs and operating
costs incurred in relation to the
provision of the similar payment
services by Beijing Gaohuitong
and (ii) the quotation
arrangement of similar payment
services by Beijing Gaohuitong
to independent third parties.
In any event, the service fee
charged under the third party
payment services framework
agreement shall not (i) be
less favourable than those
available to independent third
parties for similar quotation
arrangement of similar payment
services provided by Beijing
Gaohuitong; or (ii) be lower than
the upstream channel costs
and operating costs incurred
in relation to the provision
of similar payment services
by Beijing Gaohuitong plus a
markup of 20%.
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Proposed cap:

it g 32323

Under the terms of the third
party payment framework
agreement, the upstream
channel costs and operating
costs incurred in relation to the
provision of payment services
will be payable by the end users
directly to Beijing Gaohuitong
and the remaining service fee
will be payable by Hangzhou
Youzan. The end users of the
internet payment services
have entered into separate
agreements with Beijing
Gaohuitong in relation to the
payment of the service fees.

The annual caps in respect of
the transactions contemplated
under the 2019 Third Party
Payment Services Framework
Agreement for the five
months ended 31 May 2020 is
RMB28,000,000.
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Reasons for and
benefits of
entering into
the 2019 Third
Party Payment
Services
Framework
Agreement:

Following the integration of
Youzan Group's “WeiMall”
and its other ancillary and
specialised e-commerce
platforms with the Group's
third party payment services
infrastructure, the Group has
been providing third party
payment services on all online
stores opened with “WeiMall”
as the platform’s authorised
payment service provider since
2017 As the previous third party
payment services framework
Agreement has expired on
31 December 2019, in order
to continuously implement
the Group's development
strategy regarding its third
party payment services, the
Group intended to continue
the provision of the third party
payment services by entering
into the 2019 Third Party
Payment Services Framework
Agreement.

The Directors consider that the
terms of the 2019 Third Party
Payment Services Framework
Agreement (including the
proposed annual cap) and the
transactions contemplated
thereunder are on normal
commercial terms after arm'’s
length negotiations and in the
ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, fair
and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.
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(B) 2020 Third Party Payment Services Framework

PEAEERRAT

Agreement

Date: 12 March 2020
Parties: (i) Beijing Gaohuitong; and
(i)  Hangzhou Youzan
Term: The 2020 Third Party Payment

Services Framework Agreement
is of a term commencing from
the date on which the conditions
precedent contained in such
framework agreement were
fulfilled (i.e. 12 May 2020)) and
ending on 31 December 2022 (both
days inclusive).

The scope of services and pricing policy and
payment terms of the 2020 Third Party Payment
Services Framework Agreement are same as the
2019 Third Party Payment Services Framework
Agreement as set out above.
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Proposed caps:

Reasons for and
benefits of
entering into
the 2020 Third
Party Payment
Services
Framework
Agreement:

060

The annual caps in respect of
the transactions contemplated
under the 2020 Third Party
Payment Services Framework
Agreement”) for each of the
three years ended 31 December
2022 is RMB80,000,000,
RMB110,000,000 and
RMB150,000,000 respectively.

Following the integration of
Youzan Group's “WeiMall”
and its other ancillary and
specialised e-commerce
platforms with the Group's
third party payment services
infrastructure, the Group has
been providing third party
payment services on all online
stores opened with “WeiMall”
as the platform’s authorised
payment service provider since
2017
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As the 2019 Third Party
Payment Services Framework
Agreement has expired on
11 May 2020, in order to
continuously implement
the Group's development
strategy regarding its third
party payment services, the
Group intended to continue
the provision of the third party
payment services by entering
into the 2020 Third Party
Payment Services Framework
Agreement.

The Directors consider that the
terms of the 2020 Third Party
Payment Services Framework
Agreement (including the
proposed annual caps) and
the transactions contemplated
thereunder are on normal
commercial terms after arm'’s
length negotiations and in the
ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, fair
and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.
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3. The Services Framework Agreement and The
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Advertising Service Framework Agreement
The Services Framework Agreement

On 31 July 2020, Hangzhou Youzan (an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into
the Services Framework Agreement with Hangzhou
Aiguang Network, pursuant to which Hangzhou Youzan
shall provide various services to Hangzhou Aiguang
Network, including but not limited to workplace leasing,
computer and server leasing, customer service advisory,
administrative management consulting and other
services. The major terms of the Services Framework
Agreement are as follows:

Date: 31 July 2020

Parties: () Hangzhou Youzan; and
(i) Hangzhou Aiguang Network

Term: The Services Framework Agreement
is of a term commencing from 1
August 2020 and ending on 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive).
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Scope of
services:

FEEEARAT —T_TEER

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
the following types of services to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network subject
to the terms and conditions of the
Services Framework Agreement:

Workplace leasing services
Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
office space and equipment for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network's
staff to carry out its day-to-day
business activities;

Computer and server leasing
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
computer and server facilities for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network to
carry out its day-to-day business
activities;

Customer service advisory
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall assist
Hangzhou Aiguang Network in
resolving customer enquiries;

Administrative management
consulting services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
consultation services to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network concerning
administrative management
issues;

Other services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
other miscellaneous services
to Hangzhou Aiguang Network
pertaining to its day-to-day
operations.
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Pricing policy
and payment
terms:

Proposed annual
caps:

064

Workplace leasing services

The service fee was determined
principally by arm’s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to and shall not be lower
than the quotations obtained (from
time to time) from Independent Third
Parties in relation to similar services
provided by them.

Computer and server leasing
services, customer service advisory
services, administrative management
consulting services and other service
The service fees was determined
principally by arm’s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to (i) the operating costs
incurred in relation to the provision of
the services by Hangzhou Youzan to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network and (ii)
the service fees of similar services
provided by the Group (including
Hangzhou Youzan) to Independent
Third Parties (if any).

The service fees shall not be lower
than (i) the service fees charged to
Independent Third Parties for similar
services provided by the Group
(including Hangzhou Youzan) and (ii)
the operating costs incurred in relation
to the provision of the services
by Hangzhou Youzan to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network plus a markup of
5%.

The proposed annual caps in respect
of the transactions contemplated
under the Services Framework
Agreement for each of the three
years ending 31 December 2022 is
RMB9,100,000, RMB29,000,000 and
RMB29,000,000 respectively.
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The Advertising Service Framework Agreement

On 31 July 2020, Tianjin Youzan (an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into
the Advertising Service Framework Agreement with
Hangzhou Aiguang Network, pursuant to which Tianjin
Youzan shall provide advertising services to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network. The major terms of the Services
Framework Agreement are as follows:

Date:

Pa

rties:

Term:

Sc

Pri

PEAEERRAT

ope of
services:

cing policy
and payment
terms:

it g 32323

31 July 2020

(i) Tianjin Youzan; and
(i) Hangzhou Aiguang Network

The Advertising Service Framework
Agreement is of a term commencing
from 1 August 2020 and ending on 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive).

Tianjin Youzan shall provide advertising
services to Hangzhou Aiguang
Network subject to the terms and
conditions of the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement. Pursuant to
the agreement, Tianjin Youzan will
assist Hangzhou Aiguang Network
or its designated third parties in
obtaining traffic for its shopping
platform.

The service fees for the service
contemplated under the Advertising
Service Framework Agreement are
determined principally by arm'’s length
commercial negotiations between the
parties with reference to the service
fees of similar services provided by
the Group (including Tianjin Youzan) to
Independent Third Parties.
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In any event, the service fees
charged under the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement shall not be
lower than the service fees charged
to Independent Third Parties for
similar services provided by the Group
(including Tianjin Youzan).

Proposed annual The proposed annual caps in respect
caps: of the transactions contemplated
under the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement for each
of the three years ending 31
December 2022 is RMB10,000,000,
RMB29,000,000 and RMB29,000,000
respectively.

As at the date of signing the Services Framework
Agreement and the Advertising Service Framework
Agreement, Hangzhou Aiguang Network was held
(through contractual arrangements) as to 100% by Guang
Holdings. Guang Holdings, in turn, was owned as to
approximately 48% by Mr. Zhu Ning and was associates
and 8% by Mr. Huang Rongrong.

Mr. Zhu Ning is an executive Director and substantial
Shareholder of the Company, whereas Mr. Huang
Rongrong is a director of two subsidiaries of the
Company. Each of Mr. Zhu Ning and Mr. Huang Rongrong
is a connected person of the Company. Therefore, the
transactions contemplated under both the Services
Framework Agreement and the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Reasons For and Benefits of Entering into The Services
Framework Agreement and The Advertising Service
Framework Agreement

The Company considers that the provision of services
to Aiguang Group, which the Group owns a minority
interest, could foster business integration between the
Group and Aiguang Group, which in turn is ultimately
beneficial to the value of the Group.

The Directors consider that the terms of the Services
Framework Agreement (including the proposed annual
caps) and the Advertising Service Framework Agreement
(including the proposed annual caps) and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are on normal commercial
terms after arm’s length negotiations and in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation from Auditor of the Company and the
Independent Non-executive Directors in relation to the
Continuing Connected Transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor's Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions of
the Group as mentioned above in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor's
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered

into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

2. on normal commercial terms or better (as defined
in the Listing Rules); and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreement

governing the transactions on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor has confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. were, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group if the transactions
involve the provision of goods or services by the
Group;

3. were entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreement governing

the transactions; and

4. have not exceeded the cap.
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Use of Net Proceeds Raised from the Subscription
of New Shares Under General Mandate on 16

April 2019 and 23 April 2019

On 16 April 2019 and 23 April 2019, an aggregate of
1,719,030,188 Shares were issued to five subscribers at the
subscription price of HK$0.53 per share under general mandate
(the “Subscription of New Shares”). The following table sets
forth the Company’s use of the proceeds from the Subscription

of New Shares as of December 31, 2020.

A—F__
N —Z

NEOA+ER=ZZ—Hh
FMHA Z+=BIRE—ARIRET BN

IR BEZFRSTIRFERR

N — =

AT T

FIEHEZ

NWEMB+AAERZE—NLE
MEZ+=ZH RE—RE#E  UER
0.63BTZRBEEOALIBBARTEH
1,719,030, 1888 B 17 (IEBEEFTAZIDL) o T 3=
ETEBF+_HB=+—HEA

BB PRISRIB Z AR

Remaining Expected

Original allocation of the net balance timeframe for
proceeds as disclosed in the of net proceeds utilising the
Subscription announcement Remaining balance of Actual use of net up to remaining
dated 2 April 2019, 16 April net proceeds up to proceeds up to 31 December  unused net
2019 and 23 April 2019 31 December 2019 31 December 2020 2020 Proceeds
A& _-T—hAEMNAZH
—E-AFEMA+RBR BE_ZT-ZF BE_T_ZF BART
—E-hEMNAZ+=RHZ BE_T-N&E+ZA +ZBA=+—Hz +ZA=+—B XBRARET
REAEMIRBEZAGWERE =+—HZAERERE MSWEREZ ZFSRIEFEE TIERHEZ
ZRE R E ZERTAEER BRAR ZER T 4EER FEEAR R
() Approximately HK$28.3 Nil N/A Nil N/A

million will be used i TER ki B

towards system upgrade

#928,300,00078 7T A

RIRFHR
(I Approximately HK$55.7 Nil N/A Nil N/A

million will be used i TER ki B

towards product

development

#955,700,00078 T

FAn B
(I Approximately HK$281.0 Approximately HK$112.74  Approximately HK$112.74  Nil N/A

million will be used million to be used for the  million was used for the & TEA

towards marketing
#9281,000,000% 7T

FEEEARAT —T_TEER

original purpose
#9112,740,000% 7T
R IR A REN

original purpose
#9112,740,0007 7T
RRARHA
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Remaining Expected

Original allocation of the net balance timeframe for
proceeds as disclosed in the of net proceeds utilising the
Subscription announcement Remaining balance of Actual use of net up to remaining
dated 2 April 2019, 16 April net proceeds up to proceeds up to 31 December  unused net
2019 and 23 April 2019 31 December 2019 31 December 2020 2020 Proceeds
A& _-T—hAEMNAZH
—E-AFEMA+ARBR BE_ZT-ZF BE_T_ZF BART
—E-hEMNAZ+=RHZ BE_T-N&+ZA +ZBA=+—Hz +ZA=+—B XBRARET
REAEMIRBEZAGWERE =+—HZAERERE MSWEREZ ZFSRIEEEE TIERHEZ
2R E ZERTAEER BRAR ZER T 4EER FEEAR R
(IV)  Approximately HK$455.3 Approximately HK$120.95  Approximately HK$120.95  Nil N/A

million will be used million to be used for the million was used for the

towards the promotion of original purpose original purpose

advertising services

#9455,300,00078 75 #9120,950,00078 7T #9120,950,0007 75 =" A

RAEREERESRS R IR A REN RRARHA
(V) Approximately HK$89.7 Approximately HK$80.90 Approximately HK$80.90 Nil N/A

million will be used million to be used for the million was used for the

towards general working original purpose original purpose

capital for the Group

#989,700,0008 T FAATEA  4980,900,000 TR #I80,900,0008 TH/FER & A
EE-REEES FRENF wREA
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Use of Net Proceeds Raised from the Placing of
New Shares Under General Mandate on 17 April
2020

On 17 April 2020, a total of 1,240,000,000 Shares have been
placed by the placing agents to not fewer than six placees at
the placing price of HK$0.64 per Share under general mandate
(the "Placing of New Shares”). The following table sets forth
the Company’s use of the proceeds from the Placing of New
Shares as of December 31, 2020.

A _E_EFNA+EHIIRE—RKE
EAEMIRNEEZFSMIERREZ
&

A TE_EFENBE+tEtH O EEREE
BiE—RIEREESERRKRHB0.64BTZ
BEEBAARA LR ANLAREARE S H
1,240,000,0008% fg 15 (TBC &A1) o F
REFEBEEZEZEF+ A =+—H=R
NEIEEFRM ZERIERR

Expected
timeframe for
Original allocation of utilising the
the net proceeds as disclosed in Actual use of Remaining balance of remaining
the announcement dated net proceeds up to net proceeds as at unused net
8 April 2020 and 17 April 2020 31 December 2020 31 December 2020 Proceeds
HfRA_-_Z-_ZEHEMNANBR BE_ZTZHE BRBRTREA
—ERCEFENA+TERAZASHKE +ZBA=+—8z2 RZE-EF+”"_A=+—H FRiSRIRREEZ
ZPERIR R Z R Ia A A FRSRIBREZBIRAE ZAERIBREZR TR FERARS 5
(Il  Approximately HK$705.4 million Approximately HK$615.22  Approximately HK$90.18 million to  On or before
will be used for system upgrade, million was used for the be used for the original purpose 30 June 2021
product development and marketing original purpose
expenses

#9705,400,000B AR RA AR EfM  #615,220,000/87cREA 490,180,000 T ZEBEREFHE KT -—%,<B

REREERX BEA

=+HsZA

(I Approximately HK$78.7 million will be ~ Approximately HK$62.66  Approximately HK$16.04 million to  On or before
used as general working capital of the million was used for the be used for the original purpose 30 June 2021

Group original purpose

#978,700,000/8 T HEEAERZ — e  #62,660,0008T/RA  £916,040,0008 Tt EEHAEHE R_ZT-—%<B

FEEEARAT —T_TEER

=+HsZA
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Use of Net Proceeds Raised from the Exercise of

Warrants

TERRIEREE ZFSRIEFE

As disclosed in the section headed “Warrants” in the directors’ U ES GRS VR EE ) —HIFTHEE
report, in June 2020, a total of 520,000,000 Warrent Shares R _Z_ZTF; XA >  XABEETEH
have been issued and the net proceeds from the exercise of 520,000,0008% 58 & # 58 k& 15 > X 0 BR PR
Warrant Shares received by the Company, after deducting all BiHEBAMAE-ER X KEEE > AR
related costs, fees, expenses and commission, amount to H{TERRER KA PIISRVRIEFRELN 4

approximately HK$374,400,000.

Original allocation of
the net proceeds as disclosed in
the announcement dated 6 February 2015

HEAZE-RE_AXRHZ
REFRRBEZFISMAFEZRIGHE

Actual use of

net proceeds up to
31 December 2020

BE_S-ZHE
+ZBA=+—H2

FASRIEFEZERAR

374,400,000 7T ©

Expected
timeframe for
utilising the

Remaining balance of remaining

net proceeds as at unused net

31 December 2020 Proceeds
BRGRTREA

R-E-ZLE+"RA=1+—H FRiSTIRFEZ
ZFRGRRIER 2 BR T 48R TEHAR R 5 E

Approximately HK$374.4 million will be used
as general working capital and as funds for
future business development

#9374,400,0008 T AIF—REEET K
AREZERES
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Approximately HK$259.55
million was used for the

original purpose

#9259,550,0007 7T

BRREBLYA

Approximately HK$114.85 million ~ On or before

to be used for the original 30 June 2021
purpose

#9114,850,00038 7T ATE T —FRA
H %R ARE A =+H= A
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to Article 178 of the Bye Law of the Company, the
directors, managing directors, alternate director, auditors,
secretary and other officers for the time being of the Company
and the trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation
to any of the affairs of the Company, and their respective
executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them, their or any of their executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or
trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own willful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty
respectively, and none of them shall be answerable for the
acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of any other of them, or
for joining in any receipt for the sake of conformity, or for any
bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or effects of
the Company shall be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or
for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which
any moneys of the Company shall be placed out or invested, or
for any other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in
the execution of their respective offices or trusts, or in relation
thereto, except as the same shall happen by or through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

Such provision was in force during the year. In addition, the
Company has also maintained directors and officers liability
insurance during the year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 26 February 2021, BetaCafe Holdings Limited (the
“Offeror”) requested the Board to, subject to the satisfaction
or waiver (as applicable) of the pre-condition(s), put forward the
proposal (the “Proposal”) which comprises (i) the distribution
of the shares of Youzan Technology held by the Company to all
shareholders of the Company (the “Distribution”), such shares
which are proposed to be listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange by way of introduction; and (i) the taking private of
the Company, after completion of the Distribution, by way of a
scheme of arrangement under section 99 of the Companies Act
(the “Scheme”).

FEEEARAT —T_TEER

EHT 2 BERX
BEBERRBTZAEMAIE178K ZABE
S EERKE - BEEF REM WS
REMERZ EtMehBERERMEL
BIEREHITENRFEA @A) » LIkt
PEENEBATANEEETEA  5LM
I AT E F4E T A ~ A3 3L Ath 3 B9 AE 13
BEANTANEEEEARARNTHEZEH
BREEEETHNRENREBREFES
R BER B AEEER REIERM
EEN—UISBR R ERBRBE
RER BERSUAATEEMFHRBER
BREEMARZES  BE WH) %
BARSHNRERBNKRE  RFENTHE
MERRARZERI ; I BMMAEIRME
REMABERIWZ RBIKE > &
HRER-—REEMBRATABRRTR
HEHNN AR EORBXNMERERL
FREZE2REFMENEMRITHAEMA
T REHRUSRBEARBRENE
ARFENAERRE > HEHRRTHES
BRBAEEEFENETHMNEREEHE
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G o

ZIEXN B EREER LI ZATTFER
FEEREFKSRBERFREER

HREHAREMN

ATECT —HF-HFZ+75HBetaCafe
Holdings Limited (TB#A)) BREEEE
TOREHEERNERT WER) RIEEE
% (TEZ)  EFaEnEAQamER
BRRARBRBEZMBEEEREZRG
(TM3Ik1) > BRARMEEUN A S R
FREMR E™ ; RNPRFER2IKE  RIEAE]
EBMELGTE ZHE A X AR BFAE L
(Tst&)) o
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For further details of the Proposal and the Scheme, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26 February
2021 and the circular and scheme document containing further
details about Proposal and the Scheme to be despatched to the
Shareholders.

Besides on the above event, further events after the reporting
period are set out in note 55 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Guan Guisen'

Mr. Cao Chunmeng

Mr. Yan Xiaotian

Mr. Zhu Ning

Mr. Cui Yusong

Mr. Yu Tao

Ms. Ying Hangyan

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Fong Chi Wah

Mr. Gu Jiawang

Mr. Xu Yanging

Mr. Deng Tao

Note:
1. Mr. Guan Guisen resigned as a Director with effect from 17

February 2021. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 17 February 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Mr. Guan Guisen, who was an executive director during 2020,
has renewed his service agreement with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from 28 February 2020. His
service agreement has been terminated with effect from 17
February 2021.

Mr. Cao Chunmeng, an executive director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 11 July 2018.

Mr. Yan Xiaotian, an executive director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 24 December 2020.

Mr. Zhu Ning, an executive director, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2018.

Mr. Cui Yusong, an executive director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2018.

Mr. Yu Tao, the executive director, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2018.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, the executive director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 8 May 2018.

Mr. Fong Chi Wah, the independent non-executive director,
has entered into a service agreement with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from 19 December 2018.
Dr. Fong Chi Wah has served on the Board for more than 10
years but he has never held any executive or management
position in our Group nor has he throughout such period been
under the employment of any member of our Group. Dr. Fong
has demonstrated his ability to provide an independent view
to the Company’'s matters. The Directors noted the positive
contributions Dr. Fong made to the development of the
Company. Dr. Fong Chi Wah has given the confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of GEM Listing Rules to
the Company.

TEEEHARAT —T_TEFR
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The nomination committee of the Company has assessed and is
satisfied of the independence of Dr. Fong. The Board considers
that the long services of Dr. Fong would not affect his exercises
of independent judgments, notwithstanding his years of service
as an independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the
Board is of the view that Dr. Fong is able to continue to fulfill his
roles as required.

Mr. Gu Jiawang, the independent non-executive director, has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from 28 April 2020.

Mr. Xu Yanging, the independent non-executive director, has
entered the service agreement with the Company for a term
of one year commencing from 4 August 2019, and continue to
be an independent non-executive director thereafter, subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-Laws and be
eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting.

Mr. Deng Tao, the independent non-executive director, has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from 8 May 2018.

In accordance with Article 99 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Zhu Ning,
Mr. Cui Yusong, Mr. Yu Tao and Ms. Ying Hangyan will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors being proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by our
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Company to which the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which (i) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (iii) were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

SRR ERS
ACECEEFE+_RB=Z+—H EFNAE
AEREEAEREZE (EXRESHSKE
B & B SEXVER) 2 B~ ABRARR (D R B EE
o EARBES RS RAEXVEET
K82 BB AN B Ke B 32 i 2 M 2 3 3%
B (BEREE S RIS K5 A BIE 5
ERARABFEZERZIRAR) 5 HiRIEE
% R HAE 5B 5535216 R & 2B aC A Z &Pt
Mz ERmoRa 5 HiiRIEGEM L™
HHA)55.46 567K BRESTETHSR
BZREBANEARARBDRB T2 #m
RBEWT

Long Position in Shares
RifHZzHE

Interest in underlying Total interest %
Directors Interest in shares shares in shares Shareholding
£ iRz s BRI 2 RiRiR 2 s TR
Shareholding
f 1
Mr. Guan Guisen\ (Notej, Note 2) 411,592,000 - 411,592,000 2.39%
MERRE (a1 1Ek2)
Mr. Cao Chunmeng 53,420,000 - 53,420,000 0.31%
BEHLE
Mr. Yan Xiaotian 21,640,000 - 21,640,000 0.13%
BERLE
Dr. Fong Chi Wah 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.01%
AFEEREL
Mr. Gu Jiawang 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.01%
ABEAE
Mr. Zhu Ning 1,440,601,703 100,000,000 1,903,771,804 11.03%
REBRE (Note 3) (Note 6)
(F=E3) (i =26)
363,170,101
(Note 4)
(MizE4)
FEAEARAT —B-_BEER 077
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Long Position in Shares
R ZFR
Interest in underlying Total interest %
Directors Interest in shares shares in shares Shareholding
55 IRz # RIARRR D 2 i RiRiR 2 s BT AL
Mr. YuTao - 15,000,000 15,000,000 0.09%
e (Note 7)
(izE7)
Mr. Cui Yusong 241,885,127 20,000,000 261,885,127 1.52%
EENEE (Note ) (Note 7)
(H¥3E5) (Hi3E7)
Ms. Ying Hangyan 852,000 15,000,000 15,852,000 0.09%
s+ (Note 7)
(R#5E7)

Note 1: The shares are held by Mighty Advantage Enterprises Limited — Ffizt1 : %%/ {5 EMighty Advantage Enterprises
("Mighty Advantage”). Mighty Advantage is incorporated in Limited (TMighty Advantage ) #¥7%5 >
the British Virgin Islands and is beneficially owned by Mr. Mighty AdvantageZ R BB R LS
Guan Guisen. I HEABREEBRER ZAB

Note 2: Mr. Guan Guisen resigned as a Director with effect from 17  is32: BISHRILER B _—F A+t HE
February 2021. TE=S-

Note 3: The shares are held by Whitecrow Investment Ltd. 53 ZFRMDEWhitecrow Investment Ltd.
("Whitecrow"). Whitecrow is a company incorporated in (T'Whitecrow J) 575 ° Whitecrow# i3 22
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is 100% BEREZESHMRIZERAR > WHE
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhu Ning. BHE100%EmMER ©

Note 4: The shares are held by Youzan Teamwork Inc. (“Youzan  Mist4: ZF KM HEYouzan Teamwork Inc.
Teamwork”). Youzan Teamwork is a company incorporated (TYouzan Teamworkl) 5 ° Youzan
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability. As at 31 Teamwork &R EBELZESFMA L
December 2020, Youzan Teamwork was owned as to 8% by BRAB - RIEZEF+A=+—
Mr. Zhu Ning, and 18% by Whitecrow. H > Youzan TeamworkF R B L EIFHEH

8% = f& 1 #E i R WhitecrowiF A H18%
Z BRADRERR o

Note 5: The shares are held by V5.Cui Investment Ltd. (“V5.Cui"). FisE5: ZZFMRMHHEVE.Cui Investment Ltd. (TV5.
V5.Cui is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands Cui]) 55 o V5.CuiB P R E i L B B i
with limited liability and is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. i 2 BRAT > W HERRTE100%
Cui Yusong. BaER-

Note 6: The Company granted the share options under New Share [fiz56: ARBRZE—NAENANLBREME
Option Scheme on 9 September 2019, and was approved at SR EERE IR S —N%F+
the extraordinary general meeting on 14 October 2019. The BTIOHEERENREHE ZEERE
share options is valid until 30 June 2024 and has an exercise BRPE_ZTMERA=+H> Ki7E
price of HK$1.00. BA1.008 7T

Note 7. The Company granted the share options under New Share {517 HXABRZZ—AFNLANBRENE
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Option Scheme on 9 September 2019, and was approved at
the extraordinary general meeting on 14 October 2019. The
share options is valid until 30 June 2024 and has an exercise
price of HK$0.90.

RSt LERE TR —E2—NF+
ATHHRRFAGHIE ZERRE
BMECZNERA=1TH kiTfE
BA0.90%8 7T
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors of the Company had any interests or short positions
in any Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which (i) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (i) were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the register referred
to therein; or (iii) were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions
by Directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO
AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2020, there was
no other person (other than a director or chief executive officer
of the Company) who had any interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.

frEXFriRBEEN R _ZE_FF+°AH
=t+—B ARATDEFHERERATHE
EREEEZE (EEREFRBERMNE
XVER) Z R {n ~ MBRARR D ERES
BERRER S RPBERMEXVEBET7 RS
DEBANE R AT RGPz UK E
(BEREEFRAERHE B FESRS
FRERTAZRESRA) 5 RiNRIEE
5 R EAE R B 5536217 R RE ZREC A X IR P &t
Tz Emarka ; sii)RIEGEM LT
MAIF.46E5 67RAMEFTEITESFR
BZRERNGRRB R RFTZ Bm e

RPN
/ﬁE °

RIB GRS ARG AT RERN
HakEERR

BEXFTREEN KRB -BFE+ A
=+— 8 BEATREDSRBEREA
SE336IR AR BT M A Lo B Kt
AT (FRARESHEBTHABR 7
AABBRG RAABMRA h A A

Rsm e

Long Position in Shares
R ZER

Name of Number of interest %

Substantial Shareholders Capacity in shares Shareholding

TERFAE & iRz Em#E REFALL

Whitecrow Investment Ltd. Beneficial owner 1,440,601,703 8.35%
(Note 1) (Pi¥&E1) ETEBA

Poyang Lake Investment Beneficial owner 1,036,766,038 6.01%
Limited (Note 2) (Fifz+2) EREBA

Tencent Holdings Limited Interests of controlled corporation 1,036,766,038 6.01%
(Note 2) REGEEER

BAZEKRERAR
(FffzE2)

Ward Ferry Management Investment manager 1,191,529,426 6.91%
(BVI) Limited KREBEA

UBS Group AG Interests of controlled corporation 1,374,847484 797%

InREEBRAR REthEE R
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Note 1: Whitecrow is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and is 100% beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhu Ning.

Note 2: Poyang Lake Investment Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary

of Tencent Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code:
700), which is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Poyang Lake Investment Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year.

FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and consolidated statement of financial position of our
Group is set out on pages 371 and 372 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
RSM Hong Kong, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board

Mr. Zhu Ning

Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2020. This report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

The Board continues to monitor and review the Company's
corporate governance and makes necessary changes at an
appropriate time.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. The Company's corporate
governance practices are based on principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
("Code"”) in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the provisions of the Code for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the required standard of dealings set out
in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions in securities
of the Company. Upon the Company's specific enquiry, each
director has confirmed that during the year ended 31 December
2020, he/she had complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board's fundamental responsibility is to exercise its best
judgment and to act in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Board is responsible for overseeing the
management’s efforts to promote the Company’'s success
while operating in an effective and responsible manner. The
Board is able to delegate and confer on any executive Director
any of its powers, authorities and discretions for such time and
on such terms as it thinks fit.

The Board may at any time appoint any person who is willing
to act as a Director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to
the existing Board. The total number of Directors shall not be
less than two nor should it exceed fifteen. Newly-appointed
Directors shall retire at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM")
following the appointment and shall be eligible for election.
The Board may appoint any Director to hold any employment
or executive office and may revoke or terminate any such
appointment. Shareholders may, by ordinary resolution, appoint
a person as a Director or remove any Director before the
expiration of his or her period of office.

The Board regularly formulates our Group's overall business
strategies and monitors management’s execution of such
strategies.

By discharging its responsibilities, the Board has defined the
business and governance issues for which it needs to be
responsible, and these matters reserved for the Board have
been separately defined, and are reviewed periodically, to
ensure that our Group maintains the proper level of corporate
governance and to ensure they are up to date. In this regard,
the Board:

° determines our Group’s mission, provides its strategic
direction and is responsible for the approval of strategic
plans;

o approves the annual business plan and budget proposed

by management;
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o retains full and effective control over our Group and
monitors management with regard to the implementation
of the approved annual budget and business plan;

o appoints the Chief Executive Officer, who reports to the
Board, and ensures that succession is planned;

o approves our Group's consolidated financial statements,
interim and annual reports;

o determines our Group's communication policy;
o determines director selection, orientation and evaluation;
o ensures that our Group has appropriate risk

management, internal control, internal audit and
regulatory compliance;

o procedures in place and that it communicates adequately
with shareholders and stakeholders;

o establishes Board sub-committees with clear terms of
reference and responsibilities as appropriate;

o defines levels of delegation in respect of specific matters,
with required authority to Board sub-committees and
management;

° monitors non-financial aspects pertaining to the business

of our Group;

° considers and, if appropriate, declares the payment of
dividends to shareholders; and

° regularly evaluates our Group's performance and
effectiveness.
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To better serve the long-term interests of our stakeholders,
the Board dedicates certain matters which require particular
time, attention and expertise to be devoted to its committee.
The Board has determined that these matters are better dealt
with by the committees as they require independent oversight
and specialist input. As such, the Board has established
five committees to assist the Board: Audit Committee, Risk
Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Inside Information Committee. Each of the committees
has terms of reference which clearly specifies its powers and
authorities. All committees report back to the Board and make
recommendations to the Board should the need arise.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised six Executive
Directors and four Independent Non-executive Directors. Details
of biographical details of directors and senior management
are set out on pages 27 to 35 of this annual report. The Board
complies with the minimum requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors and one of them has the appropriate
professional qualifications required under Rule 5.05 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Board Meetings (attendance of meetings)

The Board has adopted good corporate governance practices
and procedures, formal notice of at least 14 days will be given
in respect of a regular meeting. For special board meeting,
reasonable notice will be given. Directors participated, either
in person or through other electronic means of communication
in the Board meetings. The Board meets regularly at least
four times every year. The directors participated in person or
through electronic means of communication. All notices of
board meetings were given to all directors, who were given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The
finalized agenda and accompanying board papers were sent to
all directors at least 3 days prior to the meeting.

All directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including
relevant rules and regulations. Directors can also seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company's expense, if necessary. The Company Secretary
records the proceedings of each board meeting in detail by
keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions by the Board
together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed
(if any). All minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on request by any director.

084

AHBEMNFHEERERRANAG &
EERNETERARERE - FTEHEE
EAANEERMCELZEERIE-EF
ERAZEEERERILERNERSE
o HEEEeREFTABHE AL - EX
ZERILEZESWHESE 8%
Eg -EREES - RLEZES -FMEE
ERABHEHEEZEG mééaﬂﬁﬂﬁzﬁé
HEARKEEENEBE-FIEZES
BEREIUMEEEERAAESRM
EEREZE

EEREREEE ZEBEHE
RAERSHE EFEMEREANBAT
EEAMNABUYFATER -EFKRER
EEBZEEFBEHNAFRE27ESS
B-ZEEERHACGEMLETRUERZEIR
DR BUFRTEFZRMBEE HP
— ANBHGEMLEHERIFEL.05FHEZ &
BEEERK-

EETEE (EREERER
EEgCENRERFrEEARERKER
EHgR2EABETERNgZETAIRD
MUHER EREFERIEH AEES
HEHRRANGTES ES5RINBEBEH
HMEFBEAFTXNDNEZTERHR -EES
SERIVBHANREHRER -ESERG
HENEBETFEAAS EZ2EH AHES
CEEA EEHEWEBEN EEEE/K
%hﬂjﬁmﬁﬂilﬁﬂj\auﬁm& = §: =
SEaEcEEEREXGNgEAHRD
S RAIEREREEE -

PREESETEERENETEAERHE
BHEXNES  SEARRRRRANE
Sl BENANBERSRKBIEEER
u%ﬁﬂ%%%ﬁ ERBAARTEE-
AEMERESREFTETERNREFLT
%m§%£ﬁ’@%%ﬁﬁ$ REME
FRENEENRENRZ WA) - FF
EFrAERGENKBERMA IR
48 o

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ﬂ:\¥ E/éiﬁm

The attendance of each director at Board, committee meetings HEZHFEEET - ZECTZEAKREE
and annual general meeting (“AGM"), whether in person or fﬁkﬁ" (MERBEFEARE)) (FRBRBIUE

by means of electronic communication, is detailed in the table BAA) NBEREHEEN TR
below:
Audit Nomination Remuneration  Annual General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BRZEE RALZEE FMEEE RRBERE
Mr. Guan Guisen (Note) 4/4 N/A " 11 0n
MERRE (5D TER
Mr. Cao Chunmeng 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 0N
B ENENE TER BB
Mr. Yan Xiaotian 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 0N
BERLE ENENE BB NER
Mr. Zhu Ning 4/4 N/A 7 il on
KELE TER
Mr. Cui Yusong 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 0N
BRINEE TEMA A EN Gk
Mr. YuTao 4/4 N/A N/A N/A on
AEEE TEA ABA B
Ms. Ying Hangyan 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 0N
e+ FEA A BB
Dr. Fong Chi Wah 4/4 4/4 n 1 n
AEERL
Mr. Gu Jiawang 4/4 4/4 " 1 0N
ARELE
Mr. Xu Yanging 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 0N
BEELE FEA TER TEA
Mr. Deng Tao 4/4 4/4 n 1 VAl
ELE

Note: Mr. Guan Guisen resigned as a Director with effect from 17 Mzt BIEREENR-ZZ—F"A+t
February 2021. HEtTEE-

Except for the annual general meeting, the Company did not FRERBFREGIHN ARERBEE_ZTZ

hold any other general meeting during the year ended 31 ZF+_-B=+—HLFELEETEM
December 2020. HMRERAS -
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At the Board meetings, the Board discussed on a wide range
of matters, including the Group's overall strategies, financial
and operational performances, approved the annual, interim and
quarterly results of the Group, the appointment of directors,
business prospects, regulatory compliance and corporate
governance, and other significant matters. The company
secretary, in consultation with the Chairman and the senior
management team, prepares the agendas for each meeting
and all directors are given the opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The company secretary also ensures
that all applicable rules and regulations in relation to the Board
meetings are followed. The company secretary sends notice
of the Board meeting to each of the directors at least fourteen
days in advance of each regular Board meeting. The company
secretary also sends the agendas, board papers and relevant
information relating to the Group to each of the directors at
least three days in advance of each regular Board meeting
and committee meeting, and keeps the directors updated on
the Group's financial performance and latest developments. If
any director raises any queries, steps will be taken to respond
to such queries as promptly and fully as possible. If there is
potential or actual conflict of interests involving a substantial
shareholder or a director, such director would declare his
interest and will abstain from voting on such matters. The
directors may approach the Company’s senior management
team when necessary. The directors may also seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense in appropriate
circumstances.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the Code, companies listed
on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may
choose to deviate from the requirement that the responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be segregated and should not be performed by the same
individual.

Since 19 February 2021, Mr. Zhu Ning, who has been an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of the
Company since May 2018, has also been appointed as the
chairman of the Board. Such practice deviates from the code
provision A.2.1 of the Code.

Mr. Zhu Ning has been the key leadership figure since joining
the Group who has primarily participated in formulation of
business plans, strategies and major decisions of the Group,
and has been responsible for the overall management
of the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the
implementation of our business plans, the Directors consider
Mr. Zhu the best candidate for both positions and this
arrangement is beneficial and in the interests of our Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of
the Code is appropriate in such circumstances.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All directors are appointed for a specific term. All the executive
directors and independent non-executive directors of the
Company are engaged on a service contract of appointment
with the Company for a term as stated in pages 75 to 76 of this
report. Besides, the procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of directors are laid down in the
Company's Bye-laws. According to Bye-laws, all directors of
the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and are eligible for re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company. Any new director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall submit himself for re-
election by shareholders at the first general meeting and any
new director appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting.
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Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers
that all the independent non-executive directors to be
independent.

Directors’ Training

All directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities as
a director, and of the conduct and business activities of the
Company. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for its directors. Accordingly, the Company
has put in place training and development programme for
the directors including: an on-going training and professional
development programme for directors. The Company regularly
organizes the seminars for the directors. In addition, individual
Directors also participated in other courses relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director or further
enhancement of their professional development by way of
online aids or reading relevant materials.

All executive and independent non-executive Directors had

provided the Company Secretary with their training records for
the year under review.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 30 June
2005. The Remuneration Committee is with the responsibility
of approving the remuneration policy for all Directors and senior
executives. The Remuneration Committee members include all
directors as follows:

Mr. Zhu Ning

Dr. Fong Chi Wah

Mr. Gu Jiawang

Mr. Deng Tao (Chairman)

All Remuneration Committee members met at the end of the
year for the determination of the remuneration packages of
Directors and senior management of the Group. In addition,
the Remuneration Committee members also meet as and
when required to consider remuneration related matters. The
works carried out by the Remuneration Committee are set
out below: (a) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure of remuneration of Directors
and the senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration; (b) to determine the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and the senior management,
including benefits in kind, provident/retirement benefits and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of independent non-executive Directors; (c) to review and
approve performance-based remuneration by reference to
corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time
to time; (d) to review and approve the compensation payable
to executive Directors, senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such compensation
is otherwise fair and not excessive for the Company; and (e)
to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that any compensation payment
is otherwise reasonable and appropriate.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 30 June
2005. The Nomination Committee made recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Directors and the senior
management personnel with reference to certain guidelines
as endorsed by the Nomination Committee members. The
Nomination Committee members include all directors as
follows:

Mr. Zhu Ning

Dr. Fong Chi Wah

Mr. Gu Jiawang

Mr. Deng Tao (Chairman)

The Nomination Committee is responsible in reviewing and
monitoring the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board in light of the group’s strategy, identifying
qualified individuals to be new Board members, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive directors, and
reviewing and monitoring the implementation of the board
diversity policies of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Under its terms of reference for Audit Committee passed
under a directors’ resolution dated 30 June 2005, is required,
amongst other things, to oversee the relationship with the
external auditors, to review the Group's preliminary results,
interim results and annual consolidated financial statements and
to monitor compliance with statutory and listing requirements,
to engage independent legal or other advisers as it determines
is necessary and to perform any investigations. The Audit
Committee members include all directors as follows:

Dr. Fong Chi Wah (Chairman)
Mr. Gu Jiawang
Mr. Deng Tao

The Audit Committee is responsible for meeting with the
external auditor regularly to discuss any area of concern during
the audit, reviewing financial data and information, overseeing
the financial reporting system and internal control procedures.
The primary duties of the Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
systems of the Group.
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Financial Statements

The Audit Committee held meetings to discuss the Group's
announcements and reports for quarterly results, interim results
and annual results. The Audit Committee reviews and discusses
the management’s reports and representations with a view to
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules and other legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
has provided advice and comments thereon.

The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and retention of the external
auditors.

External Auditor

The Group engaged RSM Hong Kong to provide services in
connection with the audit of the Company’'s consolidated
financial statements and other professional services.

Auditors’ Remuneration
During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to
the Company’s auditors, RSM Hong Kong, is set out as follows:

MR
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Fees
paid/payable
et EHER
HK$'000
Services rendered RIEBIARTS TETT
Audit services % AR5 2,205
Non-audit services IEZBARTS
— Other assurance services related to proposed —BREZEANENEFIER
privatisation of the Company and proposed listing BEAENEARAB L™
of Youzan Technology Inc. 2 HMEERE AR 7% 1,51
—Tax compliance services — IR ERARTS 12
— Other services —HMARTS 666
TOTAL ey 4,394
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DIRECTOR’S AND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'
RESPONSIBILITY FORTHE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries,
in accordance with accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong. The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements and the auditors’
responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report
in this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems.

The review process comprises, among other things, of
meetings with management of business groups, internal
control department, legal, and the external auditor, reviewing
the relevant work reports and information of key performance
indicators, the management self-assessment on internal control
and discussing the major risks with the senior management of
the Company.

Risk Management Report

Risk management is an integral part of our business planning,
implementation and review process. Apart from traditional
management of operational risks such as safety and plant
integrity, the Group's risk management universe encompasses
a broader scope of risks that include risks associated with
strategies, policies, financial, human resources, intellectual
properties, techniques and network management.
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Principal Risks

The Group's business operations and financial conditions may
be affected by risks and uncertainties pertaining to the Group’s
businesses, which mainly include the operational risks, financial
risks, market risks and regulatory risks.

Operational risks are those relating to the Group's internal
processes, including but not limited to potential misconduct
of employees and fraud, which may bring significant adverse
impact on the Group’s business operations and reputation.
Failures of information technology systems will result in
interruption of the operation of the Group and potential leakage
of confidential information. Operational risks may also result
from emergencies and unexpected events such as natural
hazards. In view of such risks, relevant operation policies and
procedures have been adopted and are in place to ensure
that the daily operation of the Group is in compliance with the
relevant requirements of laws and regulations. Internal reporting
procedures have been established and when any suspected
case of employee misconduct and/or fraud arises, any staff can
report directly to the management. The staff handbook has also
stipulated that employee misconduct and fraud are prohibited.
The Group places considerable value on data security and
data privacy. The computer systems are secured with access
controls, while maintenance and update are conducted regularly
by the information technology services providers.
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Financial risks include liquidity risk in the Group’s normal
course of business. Liquidity risk refers to the Group's ability in
maintaining sufficient fund to meet the liquidity requirements.
To ensure the Group maintains sufficient capital and credit lines
to meet its liquidity requirements, the cash flows projection
of the Group is reviewed on a regular basis. For the business
of the Group, the financial resources are regularly reviewed
to ensure that the financial reserve of the Group can meet
the liquid capital requirements under the relevant rules and
regulations.

Market risks relate to the change in macroeconomic conditions
and fluctuation of market variables such as gross domestic
product, exchange rates, equity prices and property prices in
China. These risks may generally affect market and merchants’
demands, especially the uncertain impact of the novel
COVID-19 outbreak on the macroeconomy since December
2019, which may lead to adverse impact on the Group's
revenue. The Group would from time to time fine-tune the
Group's business strategies, policies and procedures according
to the market situation.

Regulatory risks may arise from potential default of the Group in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group's business and any future
changes in the relevant laws and regulations. Non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations may bring various
consequences to the Group.

The Board is of the view that for the year ended 31 December
2020, the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by
staff of the appropriate qualifications and experience and that
such staff receives appropriate and sufficient training and
development. Based on the work of the Audit Committee,
the Board also believes that sufficient resources have been
obtained for the Company’s internal audit function and that its
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budgets are sufficient.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company assists the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
also responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.

As an employee of the Company, Mr. Fung Kwok Leung, the
company secretary of the Company, has undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update his
skills and knowledge in 2020.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information
about the Company's performance to shareholders through
the publication of quarterly reports and annual report. In
addition to dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports
to shareholders, additional information is also available to
shareholders on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company, which is updated regularly. The annual general
meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to raise
comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman, Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on
the Company’s businesses at the meeting. The Company
values feedback from shareholders on its effort to promote
transparencies and foster investor relationships.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Youzan Limited (hereinafter referred to as
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to
as the “Group” or “we") are pleased to publish our fifth
environmental, social and governance report (hereinafter
referred to as “ESG Report” or this “Report”). This
Report demonstrates the principles and sustainable
development philosophies during our fulfillment of the
Group's corporate social responsibility, and summarize
the Group's work and practices in environmental, social
and governance (hereinafter referred to as “"ESG")
aspects, so that stakeholders can better understand
the Group’s progress and development direction in
sustainable development issues.

1.1 Reporting Standard

This report is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (hereinafter referred to as “the Guide")
as contained in Appendix 27 of the GEM Listing
Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (The “Stock Exchange”). The report is
prepared on the basis of four reporting principles,
namely: materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency, and it has complied with the
“Comply or Explain” provisions and recommended
disclosure requirements in the Guide. Readers can
refer to Appendix Il of this Report: Index of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong for
quickly locating necessary information. This report
should be read together with the “Corporate
Governance Report” section of this Annual Report
to fully comprehend the ESG performance of the
Group.
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1.2

1.3

14

1.5

PEAEERRAT

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise specified, this report focuses
on the performance of the core business directly
controlled by the Group from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020 (the “Year”). The environmental
performance indicators cover 7 offices located
in Hangzhou, Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Shenzhen, Chengdu and Hong Kong.

Reporting Language

This report is published in Traditional Chinese and
English version. In case of discrepancies, the
traditional Chinese version shall prevail.

Confirmation and Approval

The Group’'s Board of Directors (the “Board”)
is fully responsible for the establishment
and disclosure of relevant measures and key
performance indexes. The Group has established
internal controls and formal review procedures
to ensure that all data presented in this Report
are as accurate and reliable as possible. At the
same time, to ensure that this Report covers
environmental and social issues to the Group, this
Report has been reviewed and approved by the
Board on 26 March 2021.

Feedback Mechanism

We attach great importance to your views on this
report. If you have any enquiries or suggestions,
please feel free to contact our Group via email
(investor@youzan.com).
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CONCEPT OF SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

The Group has been committed to integrating the
concept of sustainable development with the overall
development strategies, policies and business plans
of the Group. Therefore, we have established an ESG
task force to manage ESG-related risks and promote
the implementation of various ESG policies by various
departments. This task force is coordinated by the Chief
Executive Officer and will regularly report to the Board
to help it determine and evaluate whether the Group's
ESG risk management and internal control systems are
appropriate and effective.

The ESG management structure of the Group is shown in
the figure below. The head of each functional department/
ESG representatives needs to report the relevant work
progress to the ESG Task Force.

Each functional
department/ESG

Regional offices

BHEMAE

representatives

BHAERRPT BB

Members of the ESG Task Force:

The members of the ESG Task Force of the Group include
the Chief Executive Officer and our senior management.
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ESG Task Force
ESG E&/\H
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The responsibilities of the ESG governance level are as
follows:

Organizational level: ESG Task Force

PEAEERRAT

The Chief Executive Officer will report to the Board
on a regular basis (for example, through a meeting
or a written form, at least once or more a year);

Identify, evaluate, review and manage major ESG
issues, risks and opportunities;

Formulate ESG management policies, strategies,
plans, annual work and goals for approval by the
Board, and promote relevant implementation work;

Responsible for reviewing and monitoring the
group’s ESG policies and practices to ensure
that the group complies with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements;

Collect, understand and respond to the opinions
of stakeholders on material ESG issues through
appropriate channels;

Participate in the preparation of the annual ESG
report and maintain communication with the ESG
consultant team;

Continue to track and review ESG-related
performance and target progress to ensure that
each ESG matter is properly managed and relevant
ESG policies are implemented,;

Coordinate and promote the implementation
of each ESG policy by each department, and
monitor the ESG-related work of each functional
department; and

Put forward ESG-related suggestions to the Board

at an appropriate time to improve the group's
performance in ESG.
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Executive level: each regional office/each
functional department/ESG representatives

Organize, promote and implement various ESG-
related tasks in accordance with the group's
ESG management policies, strategies, plans,
deployment, requirements and division of annual
work and goals;

Collect and report ESG internal policies, systems
and ESG-related performance indicators;

Comply with each of ESG-related policies and
systems; and

Regularly report to the ESG task force (for
example, through meetings or in writing).

Mode of operation

2.1

Executive-level reports regularly to the ESG task
force;

The ESG task force regularly reports to the Board

Stakeholder engagement

The opinions of stakeholders can help the Group
identify existing and potential opportunities and
risks and contribute to the stable development
of the Group’'s business. Therefore, the Group
attaches great importance to communicating with
stakeholders. This year, we communicated with
stakeholders such as customers, shareholders,
employees, investors, regulators, media,
communities/non-government organizations,
peers, suppliers, etc. through various channels to
understand their expectations and use this as an
important reference for formulating the Group's
sustainable development strategies.
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Major Stakeholders

FERME

Major Issues of Concern

TEMIEE

Major Communication Channels

FTEBBRE

Employee training and
development
BTHEIIFER

Prevention of child and forced
labour

TEPRE T R&HI5% T
Employee safety and health
BTZ2HERE

Employee engagement
BT2H

Diversity and equal opportunities

EZEhTERE

Customers Customer satisfaction Customer advisory group
=R BERRRE KR8/
Customer privacy Customer service center
AR B ERRBH O
Data safety Activities to enhance customer
L Sraes loyalty
Anti-corruption EARFPEHENEE
R&5 Customer relationship manager
Product responsibility visit
EmaE B P RAGKIEERS
Daily operations/communication
HEEE/n
Online service platform
WERB TS
Phone
Mailbox
Eilpe]
Employees Employment management Staff opinion survey
BT RIEEIE BIRRHAE

Channels for employees to
express their opinions (forms,
suggestion boxes, etc.)
BTRERRNES EE BR
%)

Work performance evaluation
TERIFTZ

Group discussion

INEET R

Conference meeting

B &M

Work performance review
TRRIFER

Business briefing

EF A LED

Special Advisory Committee/
Thematic Discussion Group
FRlaAEZE S E@sym/ 4
Seminar, workshop, lecture
Wst®, TIEYh B
Publications (Staff newsletter)
Hi4p B Tid)

Staff communication meeting
BTEBRKRE

Staff intranet

BT
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Major Stakeholders

Major Issues of Concern

Major Communication Channels

FERME

Shareholders/Investors

RERKREE

TEMIEE

Anti-corruption

R&5

Product responsibility
mEE

Technology development

b ax

Supply chain management

HEEREE

Sustainable supply chain

FTEBBRE

Annual general meeting of
shareholders and other general
meetings of shareholders
KREAFASEHAMRBRREAS
Interim report and annual report
FREASR & B3R

Corporate communications, such
as shareholder letters/circulars
and meeting notices

Sustainable supply chain
EIESS 1t
Anti-corruption

R&s

EIESTL0 3 EEBEF MBRBEHBR
Customer satisfaction EEEAN
HEEWmEE Results announcement
Climate change E VNG
RIEZ1E Shareholder visit
RERBEES
Investor meeting
KREEGH
Results announcement
FERM
Meeting interview
BEE
Business partners Technology development Meeting
EBBH S igint 25
Visit
b
Seminar
o B
Suppliers Supply chain management Supplier management
HIER HEEEIE programming

HEmMBEIERR
Supplier/contractor evaluation
system

g, A TS E
Field trip

BfHRE
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Major Stakeholders

Major Issues of Concern

Major Communication Channels

FERFHE TEMIEE FERBERE
Regulatory authority e Anti-corruption Written response to public
EEEAE KR&5 consultation
e Product responsibility HARBANESHECIRE
mEE Compliance report
e Technology development BRRE
SR ifint
e Employment management
EEEE
e (Climate change
RIZEE
e Energy management
AEREIE
e \Water resources management
KEREIE
e \Waste management
REEYEIR
e Emission management
BE EIE
e Greenhouse gas management
RERBEIE
Media e Anti-corruption Press conference
B R&5 WEEmS
e Customer satisfaction Press release
BERWREE WEfE
e Product responsibility Results announcement
Emat ES YNl
e Community investment Media gathering
HEeRE BEERE
Community/ e Community investment Volunteering activities
Non-Governmental HERE E1EH
organization
& FFENTER
Peers e Technology development Group announcement
GES R finhAEE EEBES
Communication conference
EBRE

FEEEARAT —T_TEER
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2.2

Material Issues

This year, in order to more accurately locate
important ESG issues, we have carried out
materiality assessment work. By comparing
the requirements of the “Guide” of the Stock
Exchange, considering our business development
goals and actual conditions, referring to the
SASB material issues database, and consulting
professional consultants, the Group has identified:
issues with high materiality, including “energy
management”, “water resources management”,
“employment management”, “employee training
and development”, “prevention of child and forced
labour”, “product responsibility”, “customer
satisfaction”, "“technology development”, and
“anti-corruption”; issues with moderate materiality,

including “waste management”, “emissions
management”, “greenhouse gas management”,
“employee safety and health”, “employee

engagement”, “diversity and equal opportunities”,
“user privacy”, “data safety”, “supply chain
management”, “sustainable supply chain” and
“community investment”; and issues with low
materiality including “climate change”.

The Group has reviewed and confirmed the
identification results of material issues. All
identified material issues will be disclosed in this
report in a targeted manner. In addition, we will
also review and improve the Group’s sustainable
development plan based on these material issues.
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3. REGULATE OPERATION

3.1

PEAEERRAT

Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to creating a working
environment of honesty, integrity, mutual respect
and trust. We strictly abide by related laws and
regulations such as the Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Anti-Money Laundering
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Supervision
Law of the People’s Republic of China and Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China and operate
our business cautiously.

To comply with the above laws and regulations, we
have formulated the Youzan Code of Work Conduct,
Youzan Code of Business Conduct, Youzan
Reimbursement Manual, etc. which explain the
basic principles, important policies and procedures
that should be followed in business activities,
regulating the behavior of employees. We
resolutely eliminate any corruption, such as bribery,
extortion, and money laundering. In order to further
strengthen the management of anti-corruption,
we have established a Disciplinary Committee to
deal with matters related to the above-mentioned
standards of the Group. It has the highest decision-
making power and interpretation power. The
disciplinary committee is directly led by our leading
members include our chief executive officer, chief
technology officer, and chief financial officer.

We require employees to disclose potential or
existed conflicts of interest to the Disciplinary
Committee in a timely manner. They are not
allowed to participate in related activities
without approval or exemption. Employees are
also required to submit a statement to other
responsible persons designated by the Disciplinary
Committee within one month after the end of each
year, stating any existed or potential conflicts of
interest that can be foreseen during the year, or
guarantee that there is no such situation.
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We also require employees not to solicit or accept
any personal benefits or gifts, nor to offer or give
any bribes, kickbacks, private commissions, or
payments or gifts of a private benefit, nor to use
price-sensitive information deemed unpublished to
gain benefits for themselves or others.

We have also established “Anti-Money Laundering
and Anti-Terrorist Financing Management Basic
System”, and have formulated corresponding
internal control systems, including the “Customer
Identity ldentification System”, “Customer
Identity Information and Transaction Record
Preservation System”, “lLarge Transaction and
Suspicious Transaction Reporting System”,
“Customer Money Laundering and Terrorist
Financing Risk Classification Management
Measures”, “Customer Money Laundering and
Terrorist Financing Risk Classification Management
Measures”, “Customer Money Laundering and
Terrorist Financing Risk Assessment Measures”,
“Anti-Money Laundering Audit System”, “Anti-
Money Laundering Confidentiality System”,
“Anti-Money Laundering Publicity System”,
“Anti-Money Laundering Training System”,
“Measures for Freezing Assets Involved in Terrorist
Activities”, “Measures for Coordinating Anti-
Money Laundering Supervision”, “Measures for
Freezing Assets Involving Terrorist Activities”,
and “Measures for Assisting in Administrative
Investigations on Anti-Money Laundering”.
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Our Board is responsible for the Group's overall
anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist financing
work. It has established an anti-money laundering
leading group, and authorized senior management
personnel to take the lead in managing money
laundering risks. The anti-money laundering leading
group has a Compliance Management Department.
The Compliance Management Department is
the organization for the company’s anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorist financing work and is
responsible for the specific implementation of anti-
money laundering and anti-terrorist financing work.
The supervisors of the Group are responsible for
supervising directors and anti-money laundering
leading group to perform anti-money laundering
and anti-terrorist financing responsibilities, urging
directors and anti-money laundering leading group
to carry out anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist
financing related work, and put forward reasonable
opinions on issues in the company’'s anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorist financing work.

The members of the anti-money laundering leading
group are composed of the general manager, the
deputy general manager in charge of risks, the
heads of relevant departments, and the heads
of branch companies. The general manager
serves as the leader of the anti-money laundering
leading group and reports directly to directors.
The Compliance Management Department is
composed of department heads and anti-money
laundering specialists, and part-time anti-money
laundering personnel are set up in relevant
departments and branches. The duties of the anti-
money laundering leading group are as follows:

° Responsible for the overall planning of the
Group’'s anti-money laundering and anti-
terrorist financing work, and supervise
implementation of the work;
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Review and publish anti-money laundering
and anti-terrorist financing regulations and
implementation rules;

Build the group’s anti-money laundering
organizational structure, hiring and
dismissing anti-money laundering staff;

Clarify the specific responsibilities of each
anti-money laundering department and
business personnel;

Check violations of anti-money laundering
regulations and working procedures and
punish relevant personnel;

Coordinate and resolve major issues in anti-
money laundering work, and report major
money laundering risk to directors in a timely
manner;

Designate departments for implementation
of anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist
financing work, and supervise and urge
the implementation of relevant policies and
procedures;

Other anti-money laundering duties required
by the directors of the group.

Anti-money laundering work needs to maintain
independence and confidentiality to ensure
fairness and justice. The Anti-Money Laundering
Leading Group convenes at least one anti-money
laundering meeting every six months. The meeting
is convened by the Compliance Management
Department. Participants should include the
Group's directors, supervisors, and all members of
the Anti-Money Laundering Leading Group.
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We will also conduct an anti-money laundering
performance appraisal every six months. Directors
of the group and the anti-money laundering
leading group will inspect the performance
of the anti-money laundering responsibilities
of relevant departments and branches. The
assessment content includes the construction
of anti-money laundering internal control system
and mechanism, customer identification and
transaction record keeping, customer and business
risk rating, cooperation with supervising anti-
money laundering work, risk rating, cooperation
with supervisory anti-money laundering work, anti-
money laundering monitoring and analysis and
large-value and suspicious transaction reporting,
anti-money laundering promotion and training
and other anti-money laundering performance
For employees who do not meet the assessment
criteria, we will require them to rectify the
problems; for employees who constitute violations
of laws and crimes, we will transfer them to
relevant regulatory agencies or judicial authorities.
For departments and employees that have made
outstanding contributions to the Group's anti-
money laundering work, upon the proposal of
the Compliance Management Department, we
will give them bonus points during performance
appraisal.
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3.2

We provide safe and confidential reporting
channels, and encourage employees or other
persons in the know to report incidents suspected
of violating business ethics. Our Disciplinary
Committee will carefully handle the information we
obtain, conduct a fair and impartial investigation
of the reported incident, and take corrective
measures for the discovered misconduct. If the
reported incident is confirmed to be true after
investigation, we will deal with the relevant person
according to law.

This Year, the Group did not have any lawsuits
against the Group or its employees or any cases
of corruption, bribery, blackmail, fraud or money
laundering.

Information Security

Our business involves collecting, using, analyzing
and storing the personal information of merchants
and consumers. Therefore, ensuring the security
of business information is an essential aspect
of the Group's operations. The Group strictly
complies with related laws and regulations such
as Regulations of the People’s Republic of China
for Safety Protection of Computer Information
Systems, Cybersecurity Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Provisions on the Technical
Measures for the Protection of the Security
of the Internet, Administrative Measures on
Internet Information Services 2000 and Measures
for Security Protection Administration of the
International Networking of Computer Information
Networks, so as to fully protect information
security.
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We have also formulated about 30 relevant
policies such as the Youzan Business Code
of Conduct, Youzan Information Security and
Privacy Protection Manual Management, Youzan
Information Security and Privacy Protection
Strategy, Youzan Product Privacy Protection
Design Guidelines, Youzan Information Security
Risk Assessment Management Regulations,
Youzan Data Security Specification and Youzan
Cryptography Use Security Management. Through
these policies, we standardize procedures and
responsibilities for behavior such as collecting,
using, and protecting customer data. We wiill sign
“Personal Information Use Authorization”, “User
Authorization Agreement”, “Information Use
Authorization Form” and “Youzan Authorization
Service Agreement” with merchants and users, so
that merchants and users can clearly understand
the types and purposes of the personal data
collected and rights of both parties before using
our products and services. In addition, we also
provide employees with personal information
protection training to enhance their awareness
and responsibility for protecting customers’ private
information. We have also established a personal
information protection department. If customers
have any doubts, suggestions or complaints about
the privacy policy or the use of personal data, they
can contact us by email (privacy@youzan.com), and
we will investigate as soon as possible and reply to
customers.

We provide customers with bank-level information
security protection system. Qur information
security management system has been accredited
with certifications for information security and data
privacy, including CSA C-STAR certificate (Est&
Z2FHEE), ISO 27001-Information Security
Management System Certificate (B %2 B
B2 A W88 E) and ISO 27701-Privacy Information
Management System Certificate (ZFA(S B & IBRE
£358:58582), which are solid proofs of the security
of our system.
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3.3

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights
The Group strictly complies with laws and
regulations such as Advertising Law of the
People's Republic of China, Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Detailed Rules for the
Implementation of the Patent Law of the People's
Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People's
Republic of China, Law of the people’s Republic
of China on the protection of intellectual property
rights, and Copyright Law of the People’'s Republic
of China.

In order to respect and protect the intellectual
property rights of ourselves and the market,
we regulate intellectual property management
including trademark rights, patent rights, copyrights
by formulating and implementing Youzan Code
of Business Conduct, Guidelines on the “Use of
Intellectual Property Rights for Youzan Employees”,
“Youzan Brand Use Specification” (Visual and
Material Chapter) and “Youzan Brand Logo
Specification” (Channel Chapter).

We provide employees with detailed guidelines
to avoid infringement, establish a procurement
application process, and formulate measures for
infringement complaints. We require employees
never commercialize non-paid copyrighted works
unless expressly authorized. If employees need
to purchase paid copyrighted works due to work
reasons, they must apply to the Group in advance.
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At the same time, in order to establish the brand
image of Youzan and accurately convey the
brand value, we require employees and agents
to strictly abide by the rules for using the Youzan
brand. No one may confuse/fake the official
identity of Youzan, or disclose company license
information to third parties in private, or disclose
company trademarks and license information
to merchants or partners without blurring the
image. All marketing materials related to the
Group (including but not limited to the use of the
Group’s trademarks, use of the Group’s product
image), such as event posters, event details pages,
brochures, leaflets, display racks, display boards,
three-dimensional models, employee uniforms,
customized gifts, etc., must be reviewed and
approved by the marketing department of the
Group before they can be released to the outside
world to prevent false and misleading information.
Youzan agents need to sign the “Youzan Regional
Agency Agreement” with Youzan. If relevant
agreement is violated, we have the right to impose
penalties on Youzan agents in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Youzan agent supervision
and management regulations.

We have also established an intellectual property
complaint and appeal platform on the official
website of Youzan to protect the interests of
intellectual property owners. If the goods/services
provided by the operator in the Youzan environment
infringe on the intellectual property rights of others
and are complained, or are complained in bad
faith, after ascertaining the facts, we will double
the liability of infringers and those who make
the malicious complaint to pay compensation in
accordance with the law.
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Adopting National High and New Product
Technology as a core, we continue to increase
investment in product research and development
and the transformation of technological
achievements, form the core independent
intellectual property rights of the enterprise, and
provide reliable technical support for businesses.
One of our group’s major subsidiaries, Hangzhou
Youzan, has been accredited with “National High
and New Technology Enterprise Certificate (BIZR &
T %EE) . In addition, our dedicated R&D
centre for the SaaS products has been accredited
with “High and New Technology Enterprise
Research and Development Center Certificate (&
e ERTRAEFROES) . The Group
was recognized as “Provincial-level High-tech
Enterprise Research and Development Center (&
SRR EREZEFOFESE) " by the Zhejiang
Provincial Department of Science and Technology in
February 2020.

This Year, the Group had 3 registered patents and 5
new authorized patents.

Product Quality

The Group strictly abides by industry-related laws
and regulations including the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests, with the mission of “helping
every business that values products and services
to succeed”.

As a merchant service company, our service
methods include providing merchants with
system services, traffic orders, business
recommendations, and talent services. Starting
from the SaaS service, we gradually improve
the quality and depth of the service, and then
penetrate the front and back parts of the
merchant’s business field. Our merchant services
do not impose all functions on every customer, but
to find services that merchants really need and can
bring value, especially long-term value, including
providing more efficient transaction processes,
more quality consumer experience, and healthier
ecological environment.
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We firmly believe that “system stability is above
all else.” Since 2017 we launched the “Youzan
Escort” plan. After continuous improvement,
we have upgraded the products of the WeChat
mall chain and retail chain and renamed them as
“Youzan Chain”. Youzan Chain includes “Youzan
Chain Professional Edition”, “Youzan Chain
Flagship Edition D", and “Youzan Chain Flagship
Edition L". The “Youzan Escort” program is also
applicable to merchants of Youzan Chain. If the core
services of Youzan Chain are unavailable, which
affects the customer’s business, we will give 102.4
times compensation according to the unavailable
time.

We take “POSER" as our corporate value, namely:

Professionalism

EmEE

C

Results

BREGR

Execution

IEBAT

We seize the development opportunities brought
by technology, cater to customer needs and market
changes, and continue to provide more efficient
and diversified products and services. However,
our services are selective and have a bottom line.
In order to create a fair and honest agent system,
we have formulated the “Regulations on the
Supervision and Management of Youzan Agents”,
which sets out the responsibilities and obligations
of agents. We only cooperate with conscientious
merchants who abide by the local laws and
regulations of the sites of operation, have a stable
source of high-quality goods, have excellent
service capabilities, integrity, and value aftersales
service and consumer reputation.
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3.5

Customer Service

Our customer service team has about 281 people,
answering questions and solving problems for
merchants and customers in a timely manner, and
is committed to protecting consumer rights and
interests. We have set up:

o Seller's hotline for difficult questions,
respond to buyer inquiries online;

° Buyers' aftersales problem assistance team,
assist buyers to contact merchants and
solve aftersales problems;

° The customers security technical team
that monitors consumption risks, takes the
initiative to attack when abnormalities occur,
and stops losses in time;

° Risky trading early warning system, 24-hour
all-round monitoring, automatic alarm for
abnormal data, to prevent before it happens;

o Quick emergency solutions, record common
problems, prioritize handling, and respond
quickly;

° Buyers' consumption warning column, which

publishes consumption warnings in a timely
manner to improve buyers’ awareness of
rights protection.

We have also set up business reminders to
guide merchants to properly handle aftersales
rights protection issues. We have established a
comprehensive customer complaint mechanism
to efficiently and properly deal with complaint and
dispute.
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We welcome merchants and consumers to
put forward their opinions on the services of
the Group. Channels for receiving information
include mailboxes, complaint hotlines, online
complaints, etc. In order to prevent complaint
being handled inappropriately, we record the
complaint, determine the responsibility for handling
complaint, analyze the reasons of complaint,
propose specific solution, implement the solution,
communicate promptly with the complainant and
then communicate with the relevant business
departments to improve countermeasures.

Supply Chain Management

We tend to cooperate with suppliers with
sustainable development concepts, and give
priority to environmentally friendly products and
services with lower environmental impact. In order
to ensure the stability of the service, we have
established the Youzan Procurement Process and
Bidding Process. Business parties are required
to independently investigate the functions and
prices of products in the market and match their
own business needs, and form a procurement
team with the Finance Department and the
Legal Department to shop around and jointly
promote the selection of suppliers and business
negotiations. We will also review suppliers based
on business needs, and those suppliers that do not
meet the criteria will be removed from our supplier
database.

This Year, our major suppliers provided server,
payment and SMS services respectively.
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED

4.1

26.87%

5798% ——

Employment Convention

People are our valuable assets. The Group strictly
abides by laws and regulations such as Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Labor Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation
on the Implementation of the Employment
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Law of the People's Republic of China on the
Protection of Minors, and Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labor. We continue to
promote the building of talent teams, effectively
protect the rights and interests of employees, and
strive to create an equal, inclusive, healthy and safe
working environment, avoiding any discrimination
related to gender, marital status, age, race, color,
disability, nationality, religion, etc., to achieve
the common development of the company
and employees. This year, the total number of
employees is about 3,603. The following is the
employment situation this year:

Number of Employees by Gender
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The human resources department will formulate a
recruitment plan on a quarterly basis according to
business development needs, and recruit talents
through a variety of methods, taking education
background, work experience and other relevant
conditions into consideration. We select suitable
candidates through multifarious ways, and require
the Human Resources Administration Department
to carefully check personal data by requiring
applicants to produce identification documents,
in order to ensure that the recruited employees
comply with laws and regulations, and to eliminate
child labor as defined by laws and regulations. On
the basis of equality, voluntariness, compliance
with legal regulations and consensus, we sign
legally effective labor contracts with newly hired
employees to protect the rights and interests of
both parties.

At the same time, both the Group and employees
maintain the right to terminate the employment
relationship. When an employee makes a
resignation request, the person in charge of the
human resources department will interview him to
understand the reason for his resignation, so as to
identify the employee’s resignation-related issues
and make corresponding improvements.

We refuse forced labor. Taking into account the
particularity of the industry of the Group, we have
formulated and implemented the "Attendance
Management”. According to the needs of different
positions, the working hours of employees are
divided into standard working hours and irregular
working hours. We have also implemented flexible
working time management to respect each
employee’s rest habits. Employees who need to
work overtime due to work reasons can apply for
transfers.

This Year, the Group did not have any violation of
child labor or forced labor.
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4.2 Health and Safety
The Group pays attention to the health and
safety of employees and complies with laws
and regulations, such as the Law of the People's
Republic of China on the Prevention and Treatment
of Occupational Diseases, Production Safety Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Provisions on
the Supervision and Administration of Occupational
Health at Work Sites and Regulation on Work-
Related Injury Insurances. We have implemented
the following measures:

o Provide gym to employees;

° The management (supervisor/manager) is
responsible for providing and consolidating:

- Safe working environment
- Safe working system

- Apparatus and equipment in a safe
state

- Any information, guidance, training
and supervision needed to protect
employees from work-related injuries

° Establish a safety early warning system to
report dangers, injuries, diseases, etc.;

o Discipline employees who commit acts
that endanger the safety of themselves or
others;
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° Notify employees about safety inspections,
injury and disease statistics and other
safety-related matters;

o Provide general safety education for new
employees and employees starting a new
job, including company safety regulations
and emergency measures;

° Provide special training on the dangers that
employees may encounter at work and how
to protect themselves;

° Establish emergency measures, such as fire
or explosion response plans;

° Regularly hold rescue and fire escape drills.

At the beginning of this year, we released work
schedule adjustments in a timely manner based
on the situation of the pandemic, and provided
tutorials on working remotely, office health
measures, and out-of-home health protection to
ensure the safety of employees and the smooth
transition of work. We have also disinfected the
office and provided masks and disinfectants to
employees so that they can resume work at ease.

This Year, the Group had no deaths caused by
work, and the number of working days lost due to
work-related injuries was 36 days. In the future, we
will continue to improve our employee health and
safety management system to reduce employees’
work-related injuries.
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4.3 Employees Benefits

We have formulated the rules of “Performance
Evaluation Score” and “Salary Concept” to provide
employees with market-competitive salaries. Our
salary is determined comprehensively based on
the salary level of similar positions in the same
industry, our salary portfolio strategy, and post
salary structure. There are two salary review each
year. Based on the results of the “Performance
Evaluation Score”, we will also provide
corresponding sales bonuses, daily performance
bonuses and yearend bonuses, as well as options,
equity, etc., in order to encourage employees to
grow together with us.

We have also formulated the “Welfare System”
to provide employees with a series of benefits. In
addition to the statutory holidays stipulated by the
Chinese government, we provide employees with
paid holidays, sick leave, marriage, maternity leave,
paternity leave, funeral leave, work injury leave,
etc. We set every Wednesday as “Family Day”
so that everyone can leave work early to be with
family and friends.

In addition to the statutory “five insurances and
one pension”, we also provide employees with
transportation subsidies and monthly subsidies
for employees to eat, drink, play and shop. On the
anniversary of the Group and holidays, as well as
the birthdays of employees, we will provide ample
gifts. If employees have newborn children, we will
also send gifts to congratulate them.
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In order to promote the physical and mental
health of employees, we also have Youzan
exclusive doctors, so that employees can get
timely guidance from professional medical care
through the online medical care platform when
they need it. At the same time, in order to give
employees more relief, we allow them to bring
a family member for free physical examination
each year. We are also equipped with fitness and
leisure places, so that employees can relax and
exercise after stressful work. In order to enhance
the relationship between employees, we organize
various team building activities and club activities
from time to time.
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4.4 TalentTraining

We are committed to creating an equal and
inclusive working environment for our employees,
so we will listen to the voice of every employee.
In order to maintain the effectiveness of internal
communication, we provide a platform for
employees to communicate with management
through methods such as internal networks,
newspapers, questionnaires, and employee
forums.

Dialogue with executives =" Qi Ma night talk” £

We also hope that each employee can continue to
grow in the field they are good at. Therefore, we
provide employees with two growth paths, namely
the professional path and the management path.
Each path is divided into three systems, and each
system contains the corresponding position. In
order to enable employees to grow in a fair and just
environment, we have also established rules for
the promotion of employees. We will make multi-
dimensional assessments for employees who
apply for promotion or are nominated, including
performance, knowledge understanding of the
company and professional knowledge, professional
skills, occupational ability, internal return (such as
serving as a trainer) and cultivation of successors
(nominating qualified candidates for their current
positions), etc. They can only be promoted after
passing the review by the review committee.
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Management
EEH

Talented management e Technical university
Customer satisfaction e Qi Ma night talk
training e Recognition of cultural

growth camp
e Talented mini training
e 336 Talent cultivation

plan

o BEFEHERREES
o B AminitZ 3|
o 33AAIEELTE

PEAEERRAT

We believe that the ability of our employees
is of paramount importance to maintain and
strengthen our competitiveness. Therefore, we
provide diversified training which aims at improving
employees’ relevant industry knowledge and
skills. We will review the effectiveness of training
according to the need of employees, in order to
plan the training content for the coming year. We
have implemented the “336 Talent Cultivation
Plan”, and we plan to train more than 36 senior
management talents under the age of 36 within
3 years, who will be responsible for most of
the business units, and 300 talents under the
age of 30 responsible for important positions.
For new managers, we have set up a “Talented
management growth camp” to provide them with
3 to 4 months of training to help them master and
improve their management skills. WWe have also
created a “Talented mini training” to help mature
managers who have recently joined the group
quickly understand our management requirements
and management methods. The training system of
the Group is as follows:

Professionalism

XN

We welcome employees to serve as lecturers to
share expertise in their fields with other colleagues
and promote common growth.
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We also hire external training institutions according
to the needs of our employees. We ensure the
effectiveness of training through methods such as
problem diagnosis, telephone interviews, focused
lectures, example guidance, learning applications,
reporting results and evaluation of outcome. This
year, the training programs of external training
institutions hired by the Group include “Project
Management”, “Management Principles”, “Time
Management” and “Hour of Glory".

This Year, the percentage of male employees of
the Group received training was 50.07%, and the
average training hour was 8 hours; the percentage
of female employees trained was 52.58%, and the
average training hour was 7 hours.

GREEN OPERATION

The Group abides by relevant laws and regulations such
as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
Law of the People’'s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Pollution From Environmental Noise, in order to
minimize the environmental impact caused by business
management activities, and operate the business
carefully.

We encourage employees to participate in various
activities hold by environmental protection groups,
and spread environmental protection knowledge to
employees through e-mails, posters, internal networks
and other media in order to enhance their environmental
awareness. During the year, the Group did not violate any
environmental protection laws or cause major accidents
affecting the environment and natural resources, and did
not receive any notice of penalties or litigation in the area
of environmental protection.
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5.1 Energy Management 51 BEREE
This year we actively adopted the following energy AEEHRMBBETHRER
saving measures in the office: BT U EIAYSETRBITBBE
Lighting systems ° Turn off the light when the office is not in use
REARMR TMEAWAERRIEEE
o Try to use daylight illumination
EEFERBERHA
o Keep the lighting devices and electric lamps clean to maximize
their energy efficiency
RERBEELREREER BERESHERME
° The office is d|V|ded into multiple different lighting areas, and

independently controllable lighting switches are set up in
different lighting areas

B9 R BR R R

lamps and light-emitting diodes)
KASERS@HOER (BIUITER B R ZiHRE)

higher than demanded
EERBERTENM S REEE2E

o Use lamps with high energy efficiency (such as T5 fluorescent

MAZEE D RZEFFRBES EFRRBEERILAIET

o Reduce the number of lights in places where the luminance is

conditioning loss

NP H#ERR LUR D 2 RSk
of refrigerant leakage
R EL B R IRY AT 85 1%
° Turn off the airconditioner when the office is not in use
N R NN ST R

heat
A E RS IR L SRR E A BBE R RN

suit to reduce the use of air conditioning

EE

U Use low-emissivity glass to block ultraviolet rays that generate

Air Conditioning U Avoid installing air conditioners in locations directly exposed to
Systems the sunlight
TR BETAGERERBRRINMERE ST
U Regularly clean the filter/fan coil
E AR
o Reduce gaps between doors and windows to reduce air

o Regularly check and replace the pressure gauge, pressure hose
and the connector of the air compressor to reduce the possibility

EHRERERBENE BHREREREMEKIERES 1M

U In hot weather, employees are allowed not to wear a tie and full

ARBRR T BFELIARHET RTBAE LUV ERE

TEEEHARAT —T_TEFR
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Other electronic
equipment and
electrical appliances

HEFREKRE

Set the computer to enter automatic standby/sleep mode when
idling

RESTEME B RE A BENFEFEREL

Use a timer to completely turn off the printer during non-working
hours

EAERES  NIFLIERET 2 BAIEFTENE

Unplug the electric kettle and microwave oven when there is no
one in the office

A = AR i B EUK R R MO IE RV 168

Turn off the power in office during holidays

gk AR AEEIR

Purchase electronic equipment with energy efficiency labels
EEREAERUGRENETRE

Concentrate multiple servers in a single high-capacity server to
reduce energy consumption
EZERBREFNE—RESSENRBREF > LURDEERHE
¥

Use virtualized computer equipment to reduce power
consumption and hardware installation
KAERCATERZHEURVEBEREFNE

Use water-cooled brackets instead of aircooled air Conditioners
to cool servers and other devices

BRAKESZRMIFR SN ERBLUS ARG R R EMEE

We also conduct monthly electricity statistics

KT ERETEER

to monitor electricity consumption and make MEEZEREIF R I F e

necessary improvements. This Year, the total
power consumption of the Group during operation
was 2,604,501.20 kWh, the per capita power
consumption was 722.87 kWh, and the power
consumption per square meter was 64.02 kWh.
In the coming year, we will continue to monitor

ERE-AFE > AEETTE
BEBRARBEPNBEEEES
2,604,501.20F BB > A9%E
BEEAT2287TRE 8F5
KEEEA64.02TRE %K
F B %ﬁ%;%ﬁﬂ$$%¥

"'_EE\

the power consumption of the Group's business BEESNEES  MAMERE

operations and review powersaving measures to

il ﬁEﬁ'ﬁ%’ExﬁZBﬂRﬁHaﬁﬁ

more effectively reduce the power density. Eo
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5.2

5.3
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Emissions Management

Vehicle exhaust emissions are our main source
of emissions. We coordinated with the Chinese
government'’s actions to control vehicle emissions.
By understanding the fuel consumption of the
vehicles operated by the Group this year, we
planned and implemented targeted emissions
reduction measures, including: promoting the use
of public transportation, planning driving routes
in advance, and prohibiting vehicle abuse and
arranging regular maintenance, etc.

Greenhouse Gas Management

In addition to the measures mentioned in the
“Energy Use"” section, we also require employees
to choose low-carbon ingredients or locally grown/
produced foods to reduce carbon emissions from
food transport, choose direct flights for inevitable
business travel, and use video conferencing to
replace non-essential overseas business trips. We
also promote low-carbon technology innovation
and actively promote the use of new low-carbon
technologies and products.

In accordance with the "“Greenhouse Gas
Protocol” developed by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development and the “1SO14064-
1" formulated by the International Standards
Organization, we have conducted investigation into
greenhouse gas for the seven operating points
of the Group in Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Shenzhen, Chengdu, Hangzhou and Hong Kong.
The performance is as follows:
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Greenhouse gas emission

Unit 2020

= R ASHE ==K v 2020F EE1CME
Scope 1 Direct greenhouse gas Tonnes of CO2-equivalent 1,262.30
3 [E]1 emission RE—F R EE
B REREBIK
Scope 2 Energy indirect GHG Tonnes of CO2-equivalent 1,589.29
F[E2 emissions RE—F R EE
AR ZES I
mE R AR BN
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes of CO2-equivalent 2,851.59
(scope 1 and 2) RS ES
REREBIERALE EENF2)
Greenhouse gas emission intensity (scope 1 and 2)
AERBHREE
Per staff (Scope 1 and 2) Tonnes of COz-equivalent/ 0.79
FHETI (BENH2) staff
AR tHREE BT
Per square meter (Scope 1 and 2) Tonnes of CO2-equivalent/ 0.07
S%ET EBENFM2) square meter
RB_RIERES
THAK
Scope 1: All Direct Emissions from the activities of an #HiE: AEEEB REHINR
organisation or under their control. Including BFRIEENBEREEER
fuel combustion on site such as gas boilers, BEHER o
fleet vehicles and airconditioning leaks.
Scope 2: Indirect Emissions from electricity purchased #HE2 . FE \HAMYLIEAL

and used by the organisation. Emissions are
created during the production of the energy and
eventually used by the organisation.

EEmINE B ESFR
BEIIRFEERBE
mo
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5.5

PEAEERRAT

Water Resources Management

The water used by the Group comes from
municipal water supply, and there is no problem
in obtaining suitable water sources. Our property
management company installs equipment with
water-saving labels for toilets, and regularly check
the water meter readings and whether there is
any hidden water leakage. We will also cooperate
with the property company, and if a leaking faucet
is found, we will immediately contact the property
company to arrange maintenance work as soon as
possible so as to reduce unnecessary waste. In
addition, the property company reduces the water
pressure to the lowest feasible level, recycles
the washing water for cleaning, and improves
water efficiency. At the same time, we put up
water saving labels in the restrooms to remind
employees to save water.

The water consumption data of the seven offices
of the Group in Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Shenzhen, Chengdu, Hangzhou, and Hong Kong
are under the unified management of independent
properties and therefore will not be disclosed.

Waste Management

The Group encourages employees to recycle office
supplies and recycle garbage to reduce waste.
During the year, we implemented various resource
optimization measures.

In terms of paper, we promote paperless office,
use electronic communication technology to
transmit information in order to reduce the use of
paper, use an electronic office system (OA System)
to replace the office administration system based
on paper records, and use Internet fax to filter
out junk faxes. For files that must be printed, we
put up notices in a conspicuous place next to the
photocopier/printing machine to remind employees
to use double-sided photocopying or use recycled

paper.

it g 32323
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5.6

For stationery items, we require employees to
reuse envelopes, file folders, file cards and other
stationery items, reduce the use of disposable and
non-recyclable products, and regularly evaluate
material consumption to avoid excessive inventory.

In corporate activities, we try to avoid using
disposable utensils and minimize product
packaging.

In the future, we will continue to monitor the
amount of non-hazardous waste and hazardous
waste generated by the Group in order to further
improve waste management measures and ensure
effective waste reduction.

The Environment and Natural
Resources

The Group is not involved in business activities
that have a significant impact on the environment
and natural resources. We have identified and
responded to major climate-related issues that
have and may have an impact on the company,
and have adopted relevant mitigation policies and
measures.

CONTRIBUTION TO THE SOCIETY

While the Group is actively developing its business,

it does not forget to participate in social affairs in
order to give back to the society. We will leverage our
expertise and advantages in the industry to actively
cooperate with charities in the future and participate in
different community investment and charity activities.
Employees can deepen their understanding of the
needs and opinions of the community by participating
in charity activities, so as to cultivate the good habits of
contributing to society.
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Youzan Charity

We have established the “Youzan Charity”
platform to assist charity organizations to expand
fundraising channels. We welcome non-profit
organizations to open stores on the Youzan
platform for free, and provide free products and
services to support the sustainable development of
non-profit organizations. China’s first charity store
“Shanpin Commune”, first social enterprises for
people with mental disabilities “Amity Bakery”,
and for implementing poverty alleviation in rural
area during the Internet era, with a focus on
deep-poverty innovative projects with sustainable
development model “Shan Pin Commune”, all
have opened in Youzan Charity.

We have also launched the “Terrace Protection
Action” with units such as Yuanyang County
People's Government, Yuanyang County Poverty
Alleviation Office, World Cultural Heritage
Millennium Hani Rice Terraces Management
Committee, and Longrun Group. The terraced red
rice grown in the thousand-year-old Hani terraces
is one of the six famous rice in Yunnan and only
grows for one season a year. In Yuanyang County,
where the Hani people make a living by growing
red rice, more than 90% of the population belong
to the agricultural industry, and it is a national-
level poverty-stricken county. According to strict
calculations, every 1,000 kilograms of red rice sold
can help a family get out of poverty. We provide
a free distribution platform. Through searching for
“Terrace Guard” in the Youzan Micro Store APP
in the distribution market on Youzan WeChat Mall,
one can put it on the shelf for distribution.
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Guangdong Environmental
Protection Foundation

BERERRERERES S

Environmental Volunteer
Association of Caring

for the Earth
M IKIR R ERAE R E

“Ren Xiaomi”

fEK

Taking environmental protection
as its own responsibility,
attracting people of insight
from all walks of life to
participate in and supporting
environmental protection,
raising environmental protection
funds through various channels
and methods, and making a
positive contribution to the
environmental protection in
Guangdong.
MIRREBER I RIIMTEE
AEHZz T2ENZFIRRSE
FORBERERBNAANRE
& AERNIRERELERME
TREBBER

A non-profit civil organization
that calls on everyone to
protect the environment, care
for the earth, and build a green
home through a number of
activities such as "Building
Hundreds of miles Banyan
Forest”, “Remembering Water
Sources”, “Protect Mother
River and Use Less Plastic
Bags”.
FEFMHEREAES BB
FTiE R BB ~ TRUKEBIR]
MREGHR A DBAEEE F
ZE A EE T AR RER
1% ~ Ik - HE AR B R E -

The grain used by Ren
Xiaomi is the leading water
saving type in China, which
can effectively alleviate the
shortage of groundwater and
the increasingly serious problem
of desertification in the oasis
of the Alashan desert area,
and improve the ecological
environment of the Alashan
area.
FAKFIERAN B EEA®E
SeAVENK mAE > BB WAR AR 4l
DR & oMt T KB TR D
REIEHBERENRE SR
EE ERRIRIR o
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APPENDIX 1: SUMMARY OF SUSTAINABILITY

INFORMATION

The following is a summary of sustainability information of the
environmental scope for this Year:

fiigr— : AR RERHEE

UTRAFENRELEIFEEREHN

T

Environmental 2020
IR R 20204
Air emissions’
Z=EmBER
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kilogram 2.99
K& (NOx) T
Sulfur oxides (SOx) kilogram 0.04
mE1E%) (SOx) T
Particulates (PM) kilogram 0.22
R (PM) T
Greenhouse gas emissions
mERBEHRE
Direct GHG emissions (scope 1) Tonne of COz-equivalent 1,262.30
HiER=RAEHEM EEN) NBZFEIRESE
Indirect GHG emissions (scope 2) Tonne of CO2-equivalent 1,589.29
B BEREHR (EE2) REFZAEREE
GHG emissions in total (scope 1 and 2) Tonne of COz-equivalent 2,851.59
RERBHIREE EE1&2) AP_FLHREE
Per employee (scope 1 and 2) Tonne of CO»- 0.79
RERBAHYIENRE EE1&2) equivalent/employee
RFZAEREE
/BT
Per square meter (scope 1 and 2) Tonne of CO»- 0.07
RERBESFHAERE EE1X2) equivalent/Square
meter
RBE—EEREE
S EH K
! Emission from vehicles ' BB
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Environmental 2020
IRIREER 20205 E
Hazardous waste generated

EEEEYELESE

Computer Quantity 131
BEE B =

Ink and Toner Cartridges Quantity 167
EEEEEERME (G5

Battery Quantity 1,707
Bty ftF

Hazardous waste recycled

BEEEEYEILE

Battery Quantity 70
Bt ff

Paper consumption

AR ROHFE

Paper consumption Kilogram 6,181.93
MRAE T

Intensity of paper consumption (per employee) Kilogram/employee 1.72
MRHERE (B%EI) Fr/ /8T

Energy consumption

REIRIHFE

Total electricity consumption kWh 2,604,501.20
AEES TR

Total electricity consumption intensity (per employee) kWh/employee 722.87
MEEBRE (B%REI) FRE/ET

Total electricity consumption intensity (per square meter) kWh/square meter 64.02
MEBEE (BTAHK FERE/FH5K

Consumption of vehicle fuels

BHEIARLHFE

Private car — gasoline Liter 2,400
TARKE—H DF
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The following is a summary of the Group’s social sustainability
information for this year:

UTRAFEREENT RIS FER

REMEE

Social 2020
HE R 20204
Number of employees
BTAH
Total number of employees? Number of people 3,603
ST@H A
Total number of employees (by gender)
BT 1H527)
Female Number of people 1,514
gl AE
Male Number of people 2,089
B A
Total number of employees (by employment type)
BET#HE ZESELE )
Full-time junior employees Number of people 3,581
2RISR ET A
Full-time senior management Number of people 22
EHSREIERE A
Total number of employees (by age group)
BT (IZFEAEF2]7)
Total number of employees under 30 Number of people 2,630
30 AT A
Total number of employees aged 30-50 Number of people 968
30-505% A
Total number of employees over 50 Number of people 5
50 A N

2 Number of employees at the end of the year 2 FHRETAH
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Social 2020

= 20204

Total number of employees (by geographical region)
BT e )

Beijing Number of people 372
b= N
Chengdu Number of people 44
A% EB A
Guangzhou Number of people 215
BN A
Hangzhou Number of people 2,403
AN A&
Shanghai Number of people 224
b=} A
Shenzhen Number of people 340
I N
Hong Kong Number of people 5
A A¥
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Social 2020

= 2020

Employee turnover rate®

it A

Total employee turnover rate % 70.60
BT MK

Occupational health and safety

BxERREAZS

Number of work-related fatalities Number of people 0
ETIET A N

Lost days due to work injury Number of days 36
HAIGEAXIFEH B

Development and training

2 R EIE

The percentage of employees trained by gender

RILFIE| 7B ZEES B 7

Female % 52.58
Z
male % 50.07
Bt

The average training hours completed per employee by gender

BILH > &5 18 S 5T = 8- F 1955 2

Female Hour 7
gl NS
Male Hour 8
S5 =
3 The turnover rate is the percentage of the turnover to the total 3 MRLEERRIANBSBETAENE D
number of employees tE
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ftix— : EEBMESRBAARE 1L
ERERHRSIES)FES

APPENDIX II: INDEXTO THE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

Related chapters
A E &

A. Environmental
A IRIR
AT1: Emissions | General relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges | 5. Green operation;
Al BERYD Disclosure into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non- | 5.4 @A ;
— MR E hazardous waste: 5.1 Energy
BRBERMCREREBER MK KT MBS - BEREZE | management;
BRYNEESEN . 5.1EREE ;
5.2 Emission
(a) the policies;and management
(@  HE; R 52BN EIE ;
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that | 5.5 Waste
have a significant impact on the issuer management
b BTITHETABTBEAXENHEEZERRANSE LEEVMER
Kto
A11 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Appendix 1: Summary
PR R AR R I R © of sustainability
information
Mig—: IREREE
KHEE
A12 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse 5.3 Greenhouse gas
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | management
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). F.3IREREBEE;
BERBATKRE UMEE k (WEH) BE Appendix 1: Summary
WMNUBEEBM BERNE) of sustainability
information
Mitx— : AINEERE
REE
A13 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. Appendix 1: Summary
FMELEESBEENMRERTE of sustainability
information
Migk—: PIREERE
KHEZ
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Related chapters
L

RENEDNERR, NEEEREEEREE

Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. The amount of non-
PMEEBEEEMRERTE hazardous waste
generated is handled
collectively by the
property management.
The Group has no
relevant data and
therefore does not
disclose it.
REREVELEH
MEEBER IR K
SEEEAREE FIt
iR 3 o
A15 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to | 5.2 Emissions
achieve them. management
IR R BN E NI KRPRIFAR © 528 R EIE
A16 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes | 5.5 Waste
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and | management
steps taken to achieve them. b OEEEYEE
WIREEEREEEEMNG E  EEL 2RI R
FRR
A2: Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, | 5.1 Energy
resources Disclosure water and other raw materials. management,
A2 ERfEA | —MRIKE BEUERER (BIEER  KREMEME) BIBER 5.1EREE ;
5.4 Water resources
management
5.4KEREE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total | 5.1 Energy
and intensity management;

5IREREIE;
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information

Mitk—: AIREERE
EEE

FEEEARAT —T_TEER
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Related chapters
L

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity The amount of water
BREKEREE- is handled collectively
by the property
management. The
Group has no relevant
data and therefore
does not disclose it.
REFKEHNEE
Ba—g18 cEEE
ERAEUE R A IR
o
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps | 5.1 Energy
taken to achieve them. management
I AE TR A 5t B R PRI AL R 5.15EREE
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water | 5.4 Water resources
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and | management
steps taken to achieve them. 5.4KEBEREIR
K EGE B ACR LR BE IR U RA Bk st 2
KSR
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and per | Not applicable, the
unit produced. Group's business does
MR EEMENEEREEEE LS not involve packaging
materials
B AEBEBT
W R B
A3: The General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the | 5.6 The environment
Environment disclosure environment and natural resources. and natural resources
and Natural —fgi B HEETAHRERRAERERERT EMNHER- 5.6IRIE R RAE IR
ReS_OU;CiS A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | 5.6 The environment
gﬁs)‘:iﬁ&% environment and natural resources and the actions taken to | and nafural res\?urces
M= manage them. bOIRIERAARER
IR EBEHHRERRAAERNEAT ERERWMERE
BT ENTH-
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Related chapters
L

B. Social
B. 1 EEIE
B1: General Relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and | 4.1 Employment
Employment Disclosure promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, | Convention
B1: B —RIEE diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and welfare: | 4. 1B =38 ;
ERFMERE BREREA TIERE R TEHE | 43 Employees
%t RIEAE MU R E M EREFR Benefits
438 T1&F|
(a) The policies; and
@ BE R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
b BIHETABEAXENEEZERRMANE
Ko
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and | 4.1 Employment
geographical region. convention
BrR RS FERAN R E B D NESAR - 4VERBER
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Migx— : AIEERE
KEE
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and | Appendix 1: Summary
geographical region. of sustainability
B FlER & DN EE KRR information
Migi—: PIREERE
(REE=
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Related chapters
L

B2: Health and
Safety

B2 : fEREZ
ES

General Relating to providing a safe working environment and | 4.2 Health and safety
disclosure protecting employees from occupational hazards: A2(BFRHT 2
—fgi B BERREZETHRRERFREREERSHELREN
(a) the policies; and
(@)  BR; K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
b)) BEBTFHETABEARZENMEBEIRRRANE
Ko
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred. 4.2 Health and safety;
I ERAMETHABR LR 42BERELS
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
figk—: AIREEREE
KHEE
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 4.2 Health and safety;
ATEERTIERRC 42REHELZE
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Migk—: AIREERE
KHEE
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | 4.2 Health and safety

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BT RAN B E REEZ 2R UREARITRERS
V&

42BERZE

144

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS g RERRS

Related chapters
L

B3: General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | 4.4 Talent training

Development Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. | 44\ BE

and Training —fgi B BRI AEE BT LIFI SRR K 3% S OISR o a5 5l

B3 : EERKIE EE e

ol B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and | 4.4 Talent training;
employee category AANTIRE ;

‘U hREEERNSPNTNIEEB DL Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Migx— : AIREERA
EEE

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by | 4.4Talent training;
gender and employee category. AANTIRE ;

BRIk ESERNE D SRESTHXIN TR Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Migx— : AINEERE
EEE

B4: Labour General Relating to preventing child and forced labor: 4.1 Employment
Standards disclosure BREBILEET a6 T . convention
B4 HTHA] | —fRiKE 41RESR

(a) the policies; and

(@)  BER; R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer
b)) BFHETABEATZENMEREIERRINE
Klo
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | 4.1 Employment
avoid child and forced labour. convention

s R R B AV B L R R B T Ksaflss T e 41 REER

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | 4.1 Employment
discovered. convention

WInTEERERBERFERE BB R RIS 5 o 41ERBER

FEEEARAT —T_TEER
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Related chapters
L

B5: Supply General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the | 3.6 Supply chain
Chain disclosure supply chain. management
Management —fRIE SEMEENRE R T RBREER - 36 EEEE
BS : (AR B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 3.6 Supply chain
5 HHEE SRR HE - management
36fEREE
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, | 3.6 Supply chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being | management
implemented, and how they are implemented and | 3.6{{fEEEIE
monitored.
HilA R A EREENIE mERNTARIBAMNERER
BE-UREREANNRITRERAE-
B6: Product General Relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and | 3.2 Information
Responsibility disclosure privacy matters relating to products and services provided | security
B6: EmEML | —MIKE and methods of redress. 32ER%Z&
ERPMRHERNRBNERELZS BE - RERLES
BUREH A EN
(a) the policies; and
(@)  BE; K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
b)) EFHETABEAZENMEBEIERRINE
Klo
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Related chapters
L

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to | Not applicable, the
recalls for safety and health reasons. Group's business does
EEREBZXERBYETALZ2RBEEARMABLIKKE | not involve selling or
Dte shipping products

BB AEEEBR
W R E SN EEEMm

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | 3.5 Customer service
and how they are dealt with. 35EFRH
BERNERRRBORFREE UREH %

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | 3.3 Protecting
intellectual property rights. intellectual property
B B R R IE A B E B RARVIE A rights

3.3 R A EHE

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | 3.4 Product quality
procedures. SAEMEE
HIEERTEEREKREREBIRER

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy | 3.2 Information
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored. security
HIUHEE YR RERMBER UREARITRERS | 3268%2
V&

B7: Anti- General Relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. 3.1 Anti-corruption
corruption disclosure BRAM LIRS - B R  ENFE RO B ¢ 3IBRPEA
B7 : R&S — R E (a)  the policies; and
(@)  BER; K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
b)) EFHETABEAZENMEBEIRRRAINE
Ko
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Related chapters
L

B71 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | 3.1 Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the | 3.1BEZMA
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERAAHETARHESRE T EEENESHAE
BB RaFhER o

B72 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing | 3.1 Anti-corruption

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. | 3.1B&ZMA
B E e R B RER ) URAEMIITRER Ao

Community

e

B8: Community | General Policies on community engagement to understand the | 6 Contribution to the
investment disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to | society

BS: (tEBRE | —MIKE ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ | 6. 5E{{t &

interests.
ERLUME2 AR TREEMAMEEENBRREERE
eEELENEMNEBEE

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. 6.1 Youzan charity
BT EREHE- 61BEE R T

B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 6.1 Youzan charity
AEIBEMEBAER 61BE R T
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Youzan Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 158 to 370 which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

RSM

® HEBEEARAE
(I EREA I Z B IRAE])
EX

R

EEEERTRAEARRAR (ERF))
REMBAD (TE£E)) HNFE18ER
V0B ZIREMBREZ  EREEN T
“EF+_R=1+—HZGEEMHIKRE
RBEZHIEFEZFREEaR HE5E
mREMEEWRAR GEE@EH TR
FERTMBEHRE URGREMBRRNE
(BREERNGSBERER) °

EERA RESBEHAMAG (5EE
STENA®)) Bmz EBMBREER (IF
BUBREER)) KEMBERREER
THMir BEEER_Z_ZTF+_H
=+—BZREMEBERT URHEEBEZ
HEFEZRAaMBRAEKGEREM
2 BERESBEABKAZEEREE
ERA-
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. The key audit matter we identified is:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Contd)

Key Audit Matter
RREBIZEIE

Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Units
("CGUs")
REESEM (ReEF BN ZREE

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements

B2 RER TV BRERWE2

As at 31 December 2020, before impairment testing,
goodwill with total carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,963 million was allocated to the third party
payment services CGU ("CGU A") and the merchant
services CGU (“CGU B"). These CGUs are tested for
impairment at least annually or whenever there is an
impairment indicator by comparing the carrying amount
including goodwill with the recoverable amount of the
CGU.

N _ECEFE+ZA=+—H  REERER  EEREE
MARE,963EBTZEEENREE = ZTRFBEIR
TELEMN(REELEMNA) KBARRBREEL B
(MRBEELEBMUB)) - ZEREELENEVSFNE
EIRBENRREETRENS A EARREESE
EREE (BiEEE) Mo lEl s EE TR

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

FREZEE @

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
EE B NAEIEREEZEE

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
impairment assessments included:

EENEEEZRENEREFEE

Evaluation of independent external
valuers’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;
LI EM . BEREE &
HEM

Assessing the integrity of the
valuation modeIS'

sHEEEREZ ERIE

Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge
of the business and industry; and
*EF% BE %%f’quﬁi—%a’]wu uﬁjz’ \%TZ
Igﬁxmzmﬁ ;&

Assessing the appropriateness of
the discount rates used with the
assistance of our internal valuation
specialists.

RS HEBZEXNHE T > 5 1HPTER
Bz AR ENEE M -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Contd)

Key Audit Matter
RREBIZEIE

The result of the Group's CGU A and CGU B impairment
assessment concluded that there was no impairment
loss for these CGUs as at 31 December 2020.
RN_EBE_FF+_RA=+—H> EEEHRSELZEBNA
ERsEFBABRENMLERBENZERETELEN
NIEESCAET SRR

The impairment assessments were based on value

in use models which were dependent upon certain

key assumptions that require significant management

judgement and estimation.

BEFEENERABERE ZRE 2 & TRARBREIUAR
TESABIEEHE RSt
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The
Other Information comprises all of the information included
in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

HithEwl

ERANEMANRE AN EEE
BABZFAAEN GEMBEREREEN
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont'a)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN E S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont'a)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont'a)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Yam Tak Fai, Ronald.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two
28Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

26 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

n\7r A *E %%

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
“E2ETEF “T—hHF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B sE ARBFT AR®BTT
(Re-presented)
Gl
Revenue W 8 1,820,723 1,168,857
Cost of sales tHE A (738,639) (575,455)
Gross profit EH 1,082,084 593,402
Investment and other income KEREMEA 9 76,937 29,727
Other gains and losses, net Hit s e Es18 28R 10 1,569 (198,992)
Selling expenses THERMX (781,882) (543,215)
Administrative expenses THRX (241,438) (196,797)
Equity-settled share-based payments A ERDZIRIB (62,197) (136,428)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 22 (193,143) (193,366)
Other operating expenses HM&K S (445,165) (349,927)
Loss from operations KERSE (563,235) (995,596)
Finance costs G0N 11 (27,886) (22,044)
Share of (losses)/profits FELEE AE] 2 (8518)
of associates, net A 0 JPER 24 (1,161) 5,289
Loss before tax PRI ARS8 (592,282)  (1,012,351)
Income tax credit FTiEMER 13 46,629 96,782
Loss for the year TEFEERE 14 (545,653) (915,569)
Attributable to: MTFALRE:
Owners of the Company KRBIHEB A (294,671) (591,874)
Non-controlling interests JEIER (250,982) (323,695)
(545,653) (915,569)
Loss per share SR
(expressed in RMB per share) UERARBZ7) 18
Basic HAK (0.0180) (0.0397)
Diluted W N/A REH NATER

158

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

reEmREMEERAR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EBITF “Z—NEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®TT
Loss for the year TEFEERE (545,653) (915,569)
Other comprehensive income: HthZ2mEmUWKA :
Item that will not be reclassified to FEEM T EEERm s EE .
profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity instruments BAFESATHEMEE
at fair value through other Wbk G QFEETA
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) FEMEEWRER)
ZRATRZ R TEES 11,161 (30,983)
Item that may be reclassified to BIgEE# 7 E B m o B
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEBINEB 2 ERELE
foreign operations (93,876) 30,689
Other comprehensive income FREMEZEWA
for the year, net of tax NpRIRE (82,715) (294)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEBRALLE (628,368) (915,863)
Attributable to: MTFALRE:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETEZ TN (378,705) (583,503)
Non-controlling interests JEFER R (249,663) (332,360)
(628,368) (915,863)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEMBEIRRR
AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 A _ETEFE+_FB=+—H
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
RIZFZEFE RT-NF
+=A =
=+—H8 =+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iz AR®BFxT ARETT
(Re-presented)
Ce==pl)
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB KRB 19 64,705 60,812
Right-of-use assets ERAESE 20 240,853 205,146
Long term deposits R E 29 3,209 17490
Goodwill [EES 21 1,963,409 1,963,409
Intangible assets mEEE 22 1,439,645 1,632,166
Investments in associates REE AR ZKRE 24 3,170 4,956
Capitalised contract costs BERMEEAIME 30 24,464 9,790
Loan to an employee m—%EEFHZENR 32 2,650 2,650
Deferred tax assets IR IR E B 44 195,705 167,491
Financial assets at FVTOCI AT EFTATEEM
TENGERZMBEE 25 117,024 97457
Earnest money paid for MBEREEIHES
a potential investment 26 50,000 -
4,104,834 4,161,367
Current assets MBEE
Inventories 78 27 1,384 1,517
Trade receivables FEURBR R 28 1,821 345
Prepayments, deposits and other FANRIE BT R
receivables Hh U EIE 29 806,109 926,581
Capitalised contract costs BXRMEEMAE 30 170,796 118,793
Indemnification assets MEBE 31 - 5,814
Loans to a related company B —ERA A B
EHZ B 32 - 800
Amounts due from a non-controlling B —2HB AR
shareholder of subsidiaries JEVERR AR ERFRIE 33(a) 260 260
Amount due from a related company el a) NI E ] 33(b) 452 634
Current tax assets BNEAIRIEE E 772 -
Restricted bank balances 2 PREIRITAEER 34 58,414 4,573
Balances with central bank FBRAHRIBITRIE 35 5,340,582 4,531,982
Bank and cash balances R1T RIRT AR 36 1,727,056 746,194
8,107,646 6,337493
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BARR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

MoB-TE+-A=+—8

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
MRIEZE2F RITZE—NF
+=A +—A
=+—H =+—B
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
sx AR®FT AR®ETT
(Re-presented)
(B E7)
Current liabilities Mt B=N =]
Trade payables FETERFR 37 4,396 4,013
Accruals and other payables TEIRE B R EMERIE 38 620,918 383,591
Amount due to a non-controlling R —REIR B AT
shareholder of a subsidiary JEVERR R ERFRIE 39 256 —
Contract liabilities BHEE 40 611,236 406,706
Lease liabilities HEaE 41 19,170 31,477
Other loan HER 42 - 201,337
Settlement obligations EEEMT 43 5,802,001 5,069,559
Current tax liabilities BNEAMRIE & 1E 869 4,456
Withholding tax payables FEATFEINIR 31 - 5,814
7,058,846 6,106,953
Net current assets REBEEZFE 1,048,800 230,540
Total assets less current liabilities MEERTEER 5,153,634 4,391,907
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Contract liabilities sHaE 40 56,371 47567
Lease liabilities HEaE 41 223,091 184,148
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE 44 244,073 261,145
523,535 492,860
NET ASSETS BEEFE 4,630,099 3,899,047
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR
AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 A _ETEFE+_FB=+—H
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
RIEZEF RZ2—NEF
+=A +=B
=+—H =+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
e ARBFT ARETT
(Re-presented)
Ces==7l)
Capital and reserves BARK#E
Equity attributable to owners of KNCHEB ANELER
the Company
Share capital [N 45 144,981 128,665
Reserves #E 48 3,713,814 3,529,803
3,858,795 3,658,468
Non-controlling interests R TR 771,304 240,579
TOTAL EQUITY R ABRE 4,630,099 3,899,047

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2021 andare R ZZE - —F=B -+ HKEE=git

signed on its behalf by: R TIEERREE .
Mr. Cao Chunmeng Mr. Yu Tao
BEEHLE mETE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
l|‘7r D &'—;‘_&l%*l%@]%

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BHEZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

“EFF_A=t+—HILEE

7—7

HARER AR
Shares held Share
Share Share  for Share Award Other Non-
Share premium option Award Scheme Warrant reserves Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve Scheme reserve reserve (note 46) losses Total interests equity
R {p
REE  RORE  DREE HtE
Kx ROEER BRERE RBEzZRG  HlRE fE (i)  BaEHE Rit REREE  EZAR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETFT ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFr AREFr ARETr ARETT AERETT ARETT ARETR
t 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-A-H 1360 4,128,847 87577 (181,450) 131,386 T4 (39,987)  (910,088) 3328439 556,027 3,884,466
Total comprehensive income FR2ERALE
for the year - - - - - - 8371 (591,87) (683503  (332,360) (915,863
Other loan (note 42) Ht & (zH42) - - - - - - 14,787 - 14,787 - 14,787
Issuance of subscription shares é‘ﬁ TERG 14,717 764,512 - - - - - - 779,229 - 779,229
Allotment of Awarded Shares to Trustee  E)5 5 AL ISR (7 2,598 132,479 - (135,077) - - - - - - -
Issuing shares of a subsidiary to stock  [E1R{A BN 3t 81817
incentive plan (note 50(d)) —BNBAR 2R
(Fi3t50(d)) - - - - - - (16,912) - (16,912) 16912 -
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ BIEEERA X B - - 9,541 - 126,887 - - - 136,428 - 136,428
Release upon lapse of share options B IR IE MBS RIS - - (32,784) - - - - 32,784 - - -
Fully-vested Awarded Shares BERANEEEYER
transfer to awardees S2ERD - - - 179,938 (179,938) - - _ . _ _
Changes in eqity for the year ERERED 7315 896991 (23243 44861 (53,051) - 6246 (5590000 330029  (315448) 14,581
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA
=+-A 128665 5,025,838 64,334 (136,589) 78,335 T4 (33,741)  (1,469,148) 3,658,468 240579 3,899,047
At 1 January 2020 RZIEZTE-A-H 128665 5,025,838 64,334 (136,589) 78,335 774 (33,741)  (1,469,148) 3,658,468 240579 3,899,047
Total comprehensive income FR2ANALE
for the year - - - - - - (84,034) (294,671) (378,705) (249,663) (628,368)
Release of FVTOCI upon disposals PEERRIREATE
HATEMEERER - - - - - - (7211) 721 - - -
Issuance of placing shares (note 45(a))  E{TECE R1D (H545(a)) 11,324 704,728 - - - - - - 716,052 - 716,052
Exercise of warrants GRS 4,749 338,052 - - - (774) - - 342,027 - 342,027
Exercise of share options TiEBRE 23 24,497 (5,267) - - - - - 19473 - 19,473
Acquisitions of interest in a subsidiary  WE—RHBADER
without change of control (WmEHIELE)
(note 50(0) and (c)) (M5E50(bIKelc)) - - - - - - (B60,717) - (60717 775,003 214,376
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 50al)  WE—RHBAT
(Fi3£50(a)) - - - - - - - - - 5,295 5,295
Equity-settled share-based payments  IRIEEEERH X I - - 29,400 - 32,797 - - - 62,197 - 62,197
Release upon lapse of share options ~ FAEB IR IESK MBS RIS - - (54,975) - - - - 54,976 - - -
Fully-vested Awarded Shares BERANEEEYER
transfer to awardees REBRG - - - 61,065 (61,065) - - - - - -
Changes in eqity for the year ERERED 16316 1067277 (30842 61065  (28268) (77)  (651,962) (232485 200327 530725 731,082
At 31 December 2020 RZEZ%E
+-B=1+-H 144,981 6,093,115 33,492 (75,524) 50,067 - (685,703 (1,701,633) 3,858,795 771,304 4,630,099
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
maREREREk

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BHECZTEF+_A=+—HLEFE

164

2020 2019
ZEI%F “ZET—NEF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
sx ARBFT ARETT
(Re-presented)
=gl
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETEHAETRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PRI ARS8 (592,282)  (1,012,351)
Adjustments for: AU T RIEHE .
Allowance for trade receivables FEUR BR AR 28 1,262 821
Allowance for inventories FEEE 14 82 -
Reversal of allowance for FANMIBE-ZE R
prepayments, deposits H AR IR
and other receivables, BEELD INRE S
net of allowance 29 (19,037) (4,048)
Amortisation of intangible assets mT B E#E 22 193,143 193,366
Amortisation of capitalised EEN =N 5
contract costs 30 212,842 161,438
Depreciation of property, plant ME- -BENRREITE
and equipment 19 19,192 16,720
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 20 47,445 47072
Equity-settled share-based payments  RRIEAEEIRD Z(SRIE 62,197 136,428
Finance cost E=YD%N 11 27,886 22,044
Impairment of goodwill EERE 21 1,047 193,304
Interest income from bank deposits IRITFERF B UA 9 (11,479) (7372)
Interest income from central bank FOERTTH B U 9 (17,733) -
Interest income from loan to other mEMATERZ
A E WA 9 (109) (36)
Net (gain)/loss on disposals of HEME -BER
property, plant and equipment ®Ez Wm)
= PE 10 (59) 107
(Gain)/loss on early termination of IERRIEHEE
leases Z (W) B8 10 (222) 1,194
Property, plant and D2~ BB B 5% A T B
equipment written-off 10 356 2,321
Rent concession HEER 9 (1,905) -
Share of losses/(profits) of RIS ANE 2
associates, net B8, (GEF) 358 24 1,161 (5,289)
Written off of trade receivable 31 55 P L AR X 10 345 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREREK

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

2020 2019
—TTEF ZT-NHF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
sx ARBFT ARETT
(Re-presented)
C==pl)
Operating loss before working EEESEEE
capital changes KEE1E (75,868) (254,281)
Decrease in inventories EFERD 51 420
Decrease/(increase) in trade FEWERZRZD (1 0)
receivables 1,878 (1,153)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, FBNRIE TR
deposits and other receivables HAuhEW I
exclude other receivables restricted (FBEEEAR
for settling settlement obligations mERERTZ
H fth fE IR I8)
L (g an) 150,028 (333,407)
Increase in other receivables restricted ERREBEESE
for settling settlement obligations H A FE W IE S 0 (1,468) (178,470)
Increase in capitalised contract costs BEARMEEA R AIE N (279,519) (199,027)
(Increase)/decrease in ZIRHIRTTASER
restricted bank balances g b (29,367) 426,036
Increase in balances with central bank  fZ A RIB1T R IEIE N (808,600)  (3,670,253)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due fE U — B BE Bt A B Rk IR
from a related company L, (8 182 (634)
Increase in settlement obligations EEEEEM 732,442 3,312,246
Decrease in trade payables FEAT BR R (1,451) (2,137)
Increase in accruals and other payables Y812 & F & EfhfE (<
FUIEIE 236,393 154,060
Decrease in amount due to a director ~ FE{f—& ZEEFIER D - (45)
Increase in amount due to a FEN—EM B AR
non-controlling shareholder of FEFERR AR R
a subsidiary FRIEIE N 256 -
Increase in contract liabilities BHa/EEMN 213,334 139,383
Cash generated from/(used in) RERS ./ (FTR) RWe
operations 138,291 (607,262)
Interest income received BUWERITERF] B WA
from bank deposit 9 11,479 7372
Interest income received B U REBITH] B WA
from central bank 9 17,733 -
Interest income received BmEEMATERZ
from loan to other FEUWA 145 -
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HMEaGNEMX 11 (19,525) (15,701)
Income tax paid BIPER (3,697) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) 1ESEENFTS (FTA)
operating activities IREIHRE 144,426 (615,591)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mAREMERRE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—BT2F “T-NE
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iz ARBFT ARETT
(Re-presented)
=gl
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REIHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of a non-wholly WhE—REE2ENB AR
owned subsidiary 50(a) 10,328 -
Addition of financial assets at FVTOCI  AEBIZAFET A
FEMEER=EZ
MHEE (35,459) (696)
Addition of intangible assets REBTLEE 22 (622) (203)
Addition of an associate AE—EBZE AT (3,000) -
Dividend received from an associate a1 — R B A B WA
2R 3,625 4,350
Earnest money paid for potential BEMEBETEREMNES
investment 26 (50,000) -
Decrease/(increase) in long term deposits £HAIZ %R/, (L 0) 8,066 (1,444)
Loans to a related company [ —E R A B EH
2B 32 (500) (800)
Repayment from loans to a B —ERAE A B EH
related company ZERZIER 1,300 -
Loans to others MEMATIEHZER (10,610) (3,000)
Repayment from loan to other EEMALEHZ
BREM 3,000 -
Loan to an employee F] ZEEFHZER 32 - (2,650)
Deposits for potential investment BERERT - (6,215)
Purchase of property, plant ﬁ%]\%% T B K 5% 1
and equipment 19 (23,615) (42,801)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFEFA
assets at FVTOCI FHMEZEWRERZ
M5B EFRERIE 23,108 -
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEYE -HBEKRKE
plant and equipment FTiSaIE 228 409
Net cash used in investing activities REFRHTARE P (74,151) (53,050)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREREK

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

2020 2019
—BIEF IZ—hHF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
s ARBFT ARETT
(Re-presented)
CE=cal)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Contribution from a non-controlling — BB AT 2 FEER
shareholder of a subsidiary REFE 214,376 -
Principal elements of lease payments ~ FAE{[IREAEZ D (54,385) (35,609)
Increase in other loan HMERIE N 42 - 209,987
Repayment of other loan BEEMER (204,485) -
Net proceeds from issuance of BITECE RN PTE
placing shares FRIEFEE 45(a) 716,052 779,229
Net proceeds from exercise of warrants 1T{EsRIIEEFT1S
FRIEFEE 342,027 -
Net proceeds from exercise of TR RIEFRE
share options 19,473 -
Repayment of borrowing BEREN (2,136) -
Net cash generated from MEEEPIEIRE R
financing activities 1,030,922 953,607
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HERREEED
CASH EQUIVALENTS ENEER 1,101,197 284,966
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EX&E) 8 2 (95,861) 30,502
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—BA—HZRER
AT 1 JANUARY REXEY 746,194 430,726
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W+=ZB=+—Hz2
AT 31 DECEMBER RERFEEEY 1,751,530 746,194
ANALYSIS OF THE CASH AND HERFEEEM AR
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Restricted bank balances = IR H 45 ER
— for settlement of amounts payable —BAREBEN
to employees BB 2B 34 24,474 -
Bank and cash balances IRTTMRIRE4ERR
Designated bank balances for BREBEEEEE
settlement of settlement obligations e EIRTTAGER 99,864 108,741
Other HAth 1,627,192 637,453
1,751,530 746,194
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is Victoria
Place, bth Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermuda. The address of its principal place of business
is Unit 2708, 27/F, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong. The Company's shares are listed on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKAS"); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE
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KpBlBARERESMRILIZE
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Hamilton HM10, Bermudac HF &
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23°

ZEGEEVMBREDRBEEAES
fiAg (EBGSMAS)) Bz
PREEREBMBREER (IEE
PHRELER]) R -BBYHFRE
HUBREEBYHREEN ((HE
B REER)) ~BBEEER (F
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RAZ BREBER BB RBRG
(36622%) ZIRBEMTE - ZEB R
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3.

PEAEARAH

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the Amendments to
Reference to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:
Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Reform

In addition, the Group has early applied the
Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19 Related

Rent Concessions.

Except as described below, the application
of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

—EosEER

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Cont'a)

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Cont'd)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of
Material

The amendments provide a new definition of
material that states “information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information
about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments
also clarify that materiality depends on the nature
or magnitude of information, either individually or in
combination with other information, in the context
of the financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments had no impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

%4
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Cont'a)

(a)

PEAEARAH

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Cont'd)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions

The amendment provides a practical expedient that
allows a lessee to by-pass the need to evaluate
whether certain qualifying rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic (“COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions”)
are lease modifications and, instead, account for
those rent concessions as if they were not lease
modifications.

The Group has elected to early adopt the
amendments and applies the practical expedient
to all qualifying COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions granted to the Group during the year.
Consequently, rent concessions received have
been accounted for as negative variable lease
payments recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurred. There is no impact on the
opening balance of equity at 1 January 2020.
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AR AR EE

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. ERMNIRST RIS T B BT

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Cont'd)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b)
not yet effective

Other than the amendments to HKFRS 16,
COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions, the Group
has not applied any new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective for the
financial year beginning 1 January 2020. These
new and revised HKFRSs include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

HEEA @

EiEMEREREMZHET
R TR FBREE
|
BREBMBREEAFE 165
ZETACOVID-19t8RATH &
BRI NR B _TFE—H—
B MBEE  AEET
EEBTAEBRMGERERE
M2 eI R BIEETE BB
RELER] o ZEMT R NEBET
ERUMBREENEETT
AIgEBAREEBRAE

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RIXTREAS L ERE
ZEEAAREN

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
BBUHREERFN BB ERFI95 - BT HRSEL
B BBV BERSENFIRN BBV BREELF 16K

B AR EELENE —F

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
BBV BRE ER BN BT R SERMR M

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
Before Intended Use
BB EFERBI6R BT AN E BB KRR E | 5 ERRRIFTSHIE

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts

— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
BAGHHEREITR BT AEIBEN - BITEAONMA

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 Cycle
BAMBREEN - \EFE_Z_TFHEANFENE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current
BEEGHENBIF 2B AR BEANHAGKIERBAR

1 January 2021

—®-—%—A—H

1 January 2022
B "F—RF—H

1 January 2022
B "F—HF—H
1 January 2022
B "F—HF—H

1 January 2022
ZEIF—HF—H

1 January 2023

—_E_=F—F—H
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3.

PEAEARAH

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Cont'a)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Cont'a)

(b)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
amendments and new standards is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below
(e.g. financial instruments that are measured at fair
value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note b.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly
affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right
is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(a) Consolidation (Contd)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
that results in a loss of control represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any
accumulated exchange reserve relating to that

subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or
indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and

owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Changes in the Company’'s ownership interest
in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amounts
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment loss, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for
the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business
combination. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and
any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(b) Business combination and goodwiill
(Cont'd)

The excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess
of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum
of the consideration transferred is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary
is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added
to the sum of the consideration transferred in a
business combination to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary
are initially measured at the non-controlling
shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair
value of the subsidiary's identifiable assets and

liabilities at the acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Business combination and goodwill
(Cont’d)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs") or groups
of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are
undertaken annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or
joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered
when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the
holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right is not considered.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

4.

EXGEER @

(b)

(c)

EBEHEREE @

T HEBE > BB AR R
SHRERSEET 2 - sLAE R &l
me’ ¥BaHmEREED
EERAERaR e HiHR
WEZSREELEENMN (TR
TELEEM) NREEEE
{485 - B EBFr D BC 2 BB
HEMUERNSEEEARATLA
NEEEBNMEEHEZR
BEX -BESFETRHER
S WEAFEFHRNERN
SRR AIAEHIRAER  fFE
PRERS -EEREZRE
ELEBAREERAOEEE
(EREEREATEREE
A ZBEE) LR ERB
BEERFEISR BHES
EfIEE

BEQE]
BEARRLEENHEAE
FENZER -BAXE

ERERZ2RBERMHREE
BRZRER  BAEGIHEF
ERIZSFER - N EE
REBEREARENR 8%
BRBEOFERNTERA
B BERER (BREHEM
BERFAEZEEIRER KH
FE-NHLEBEEREERS
BEARTENF LR R
BEATHRABRZREEZ
BRI KR BRES]

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(¢) Associates (Cont’d)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements by the
equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
in an acquisition are measured at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group's share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or

loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(c)

Associates (Cont'd)

The Group’'s share of an associate’s post-
acquisition profits or losses and other
comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group's share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its
share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate
that results in a loss of significant influence
represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that associate
and (ii) the Group's entire carrying amount of that
associate (including goodwill) and any related
accumulated exchange reserve. If an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity
method and does not remeasure the retained
interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

PEAEARAH

Associates (Cont'd)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(1)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in
RMB which is the Company's presentation
currency. The functional currency of the
Company is HK$. The directors consider that
choosing RMB as the presentation currency
best suit the needs of the shareholders and
investors.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(d)

Foreign currency translation (Cont'a)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each entity's
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency
on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at
fair value in foreign currencies are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(d)

PEAEARAH

Foreign currency translation (Cont'a)

(i) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all
the Group entities that have a functional
currency different from the Company's
presentation currency are translated into
the Company’s presentation currency as
follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated
at average exchange rates for the
period (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(d)

(e)

Foreign currency translation (Cont'a)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or
loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(e)

PEAEARAH

Property, plant and equipment (Cont'a)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost
less their residual values over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

Over the shorter of
unexpired term of lease
and estimated useful
lives, being no more than
20 years after the date of
completion

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture and office  20% - 33%

equipment
Motor vehicles 20% - 25%
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect

of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(f)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components
and non-lease components, the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily laptops
and office furniture. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(f)

PEAEARAH

Leases (Cont'd)
The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined,
using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After
initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(f) Leases (Contd)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the

lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and

included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(f) Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such
cases, the group took advantage of the practical
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16
and recognised the change in consideration as if it

were not a lease modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

(g) Other intangible assets

(1)

Internally-generated intangible assets —
research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred. An internally generated
intangible asset arising from the Group's
SaaS (Software as a Service) or third-party
payment services platform development
is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

- the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

- management intends to complete the

intangible asset and use or sell it;

- there is ability to use or sell the

intangible asset;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(g)

PEAEARAH

Other intangible assets (Conta)

(1) Internally-generated intangible assets —
research and development expenditure
(Cont'd)

it can be demonstrated how the
intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its
development can be reliably
measured.

Internally-generated intangible assets are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.
Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(g)

Other intangible assets (Conta)

(i)

Intangible assets acquired through business
combination — trademarks, E-commerce
applications and distribution networks
Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are identified and recognised
separately from goodwill where they satisfy
the definition of an intangible asset.

Trademarks assessed to have indefinite
useful lives are not amortised. Any
conclusion that the useful life of an
intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the
indefinite useful life assessment for that
asset. If they do not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for prospectively from the
date of change and amortisation is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the asset’s estimated remaining useful life.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(g)

(h)

PEAEARAH

Other intangible assets (Conta)

(i) Intangible assets acquired through business

combination — trademarks, E-commerce
applications and distribution networks
(Cont'd)
Impairment reviews of intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are undertaken
annually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment.

E-commerce applications and distribution
network are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of
6.7 years and 2.7 years since the date of
acquisition.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-out basis. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where
appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(i)

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer or
the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer which
are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract
with a customer that it would not have incurred if
the contract had not been obtained. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when
incurred if the costs are expected to be recovered,
unless the expected amortisation period is one
year or less from the date of initial recognition of
the asset, in which case the costs are expensed
when incurred. Other costs of obtaining a contract
are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract;
generate or enhance resources that will be used
to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs
that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because
the Group entered into the contract. Other costs
of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

PEAEARAH

Other contract costs (Contd)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent
that the carrying amount of the contract cost
asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in
exchange for the goods or services to which the
asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not
yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL") in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4(z) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(j)

(k)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(Cont’d)

For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when the Group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL)
are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(k) Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments (Conta)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised

borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is

recognised in profit or loss.

(I) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are
measured subsequently in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the

classification of the financial assets.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(I) Financial assets (Cont’d)

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

- Amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective
interest method.

- FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(I) Financial assets (Cont’d)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other

income.

(m) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration, the amount is

presented as a contract asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(m) Trade and other receivables (Conta)

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit

losses.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for

ECL.

(o) Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as
a financial liability at the time the guarantee is
issued. The liability is initially measured at fair value

and subsequently at the higher of:

- the amount determined in accordance with

the ECL model under HKFRS 9 and

- the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised in accordance with the

principles of HKFRS 15.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(o)

(p)

PEAEARAH

Financial guarantee contracts (Cont'd)
The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in
cash flows between the contractual payments
required under the debt instrument and the
payments that would be required without the
guarantee, or the estimated amount that would
be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other
payables of associates are provided for no
compensation, the fair values are accounted for as
contributions and recognised as part of the cost of
the investment.

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out in notes (q) to (r) below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(q)

(r)

(s)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Any equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an equity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue cost.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Subscription solutions

The Group offers SaaS which is a cloud-based
software and related services to paying merchants.
The Group is responsible for delivering the cloud-
based software, paying server hosting fees to
external cloud computing infrastructure providers
to ensure the SaaS running stably and accessible
to all paying merchants. Revenue of subscription
solutions includes fixed subscription fees and
additional cloud service fees. Fixed subscription
fees are generally recognised over time on a
rateable basis over the contract term beginning
on the date that the service is made available
to merchant. The Group charges the merchants
variable cloud service fees that is generally
calculated based on number of transactions
processed through the SaaS products.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(s) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Subscription solutions (Cont'd)

The Group's channel partners introduce merchants
to the Group and are remunerated by commission
based on certain percentage of the subscription
fee. The Group's channel partners are required
to follow the Group's pricing policy and the
Group is primarily responsible for the provision of
service. Commissions paid to channel partners
are incremental costs of obtaining contracts and
are recognised as “capitalised contract costs”
followed by charging into selling expenses on a
rateable basis which is in line with the revenue

recognition.

Most paying merchants have signed contracts with
the Group with terms of one to three years and pay
full subscription fees in advance. Paying merchants
can choose to pay their cloud service fees in
advance or on demand. The portion that underlying
service not yet provided to paying merchants at
end of reporting period are recognised as “contract

liabilities”.

Merchant solutions

The Group provides various value-added services
to address paying merchants’ online and/or offline
operation needs, including transaction services,
advertisement, online traffic monetisation,
merchandise sourcing and distribution, consumer

protection and sales of POS equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Merchant solutions (Cont’d)

(1)

Transaction services

The Group provides transaction services
to help payees accepting, processing and
settling payment transactions of payers
in various payment scenarios. Revenue
of transaction fees are recognised over
the time of delivering of transaction
service. The Group charges the payee a
transaction fee that is generally calculated
as a percentage of the total transaction
amount processed and the Group has right
to decide the charging fee rate. Transaction
services are recognised as revenue on a
gross basis as the Group is the principal in
delivery of the transaction solutions to the
payees. The Group has concluded it is the
principal because it controls the services
before delivery to the payees, it is primarily
responsible for the delivery of the services
and has discretion in setting prices charged
to payees. The Group also has the unilateral
ability to accept or reject a transaction
based on criteria established by the Group.
The Group is also liable for the costs of
processing the transactions for the payees,
and records such costs within cost of sales.

Transaction costs paid to upstream payment
service providers to fulfil the performance
obligation of transaction services are costs
to fulfil contracts and are recognised as
“capitalised contract costs” followed by
charging into costs of sales which is in line
with the revenue recognition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(s)

PEAEARAH

Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Merchant solutions (Cont’d)

(ii)

Advertisement

The Group arranges online marketing
service to advertisers. Advertisement charge
rate is prescribed by the social media.
Social media grant to the Group rebates
in the form of prepayments for the social
media’s services mainly based on the gross
spending of the advertisers. Advertisers are
usually required to pay in advance for the
online marketing services. Management
assessed that the arrangement suggesting
the social media, rather than the Group, is
primarily responsible for providing the online
marketing services and control the specified
service before that service is transferred to
the advertisers. The Group is regarded as an
intermediary in executing these transactions
and therefore recognise agreed rebates from
social media as revenue.

In some circumstances, the Group offers
discounts or rebates to the advertisers
as part of its promotion activities. The net
amount of advertisement charge paid by the
Group to social media and the gross receipts
from advertisers would be accounted for as
selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

(s) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Merchant solutions (Cont’d)

(i11)

Other value-added services

The Group collects service fees from other
value-added services, including online
traffic monetisation, merchandise sourcing
and distribution, consumer protection, etc.
Revenue from these services are recognised
at the point in time when the relevant
services are rendered.

Revenue from the sale of POS equipment is
recognised when control of the equipment
has transferred, being when the equipment
has been shipped to the merchants’ specific
location. A receivable is recognised by the
Group when the equipment is delivered to
the merchants as this represents the point
in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage
of time is required before payment is due.

Others

Revenue from catering services is recognised
at the point of sale of food and beverages to
customers.

Revenue from management services provided to
a related party is recognised over the time when
services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(s) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.

(t) Employee benefits

(1) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and

maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(t)

(u)

Employee benefits (Cont'd)

(i) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined
contribution retirement schemes which are
available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at
the earlier of the dates when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment
of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain directors and employees.
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at
the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate
of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from

the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally
and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the
borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset. Any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for
its intend use or sales included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalization rate

on general borrowing.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(w) Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to it and that the

grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period to
match them with the costs they are intended to

compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they become receivable.

(x) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
recognised in profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(x)

PEAEARAH

Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(x) Taxation (Contd)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets

and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use

assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities,
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to

application of the initial recognition exemption.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(y) Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or that are not yet available for use are reviewed
for impairment annually and whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying

amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets
are reviewed at each reporting date for indications
of impairment and where an asset is impaired,
it is written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to
which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is
the higher of value in use and the fair value less
costs of disposal of the individual asset or the

CGU.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/CGU. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates
that reflect the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset/CGU whose impairment is

being measured.

Impairment losses for CGUs are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro
rata amongst the other assets of the CGU.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount
caused by changes in estimates are credited to
profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

increase.
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214

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost
or at FVTOCI, trade receivables and contract
assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial

instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The expected
credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time

value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an

amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z)

PEAEARAH

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses
that will result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group’'s debtors operate, obtained
from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group's
core operations.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument'’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular
financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’'s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z)

PEAEARAH

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with
the globally understood definition or if an external
rating is not available, the asset has an internal
rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and

there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing the
financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in
the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial
guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will

default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit

risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z)

PEAEARAH

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for
economic or contractual reasons relating to
the counterparty’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in

profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date,
together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group's
understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-

looking information.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the
expected credit losses is consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in

accordance with HKAS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the
expected loss allowance is the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified

approach was used.
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PEAEARAH

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Cont'd)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance
is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount
of the financial asset in the statement of financial

position.

(aa) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow is remote.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

(ab) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group's position
at the end of the reporting period or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements (apart from those
involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a)

Intangible assets — Trademarks assessed to have
indefinite useful lives

The Group regarded and assessed its trademarks
to have indefinite useful lives as at end of reporting
period. Accounting policy of intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives is set out in note
4(g) to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the trademarks and the reasons for the
Group's assessment are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Cont'd)

(b)

Equity pick up of entity of less than 20% equity
interest

Although the Group holds less than 20% of the
voting power of Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing
Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Kuaizi Information
Technology Co., Ltd., the directors considered that
the Group has significant influence over Nanjing
Houjian Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou
Kuaizi Information Technology Co., Ltd. because the
Group is entitled to appoint a director out of the
five directors of Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing
Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Kuaizi Information
Technology Co., Ltd.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Cont’d)

(c)

Business model assessment
Classification and measurement of financial assets
depends on the results of the SPPI (i.e. Solely
Payments of Principal and Interest) test and the
business model test. The Group determines the
business model at a level that reflects how groups
of financial assets are managed together to achieve
a particular business objective. This assessment
includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence
including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the
risks that affect the performance of the assets and
how these are managed and how the managers
of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to
their maturity to understand the reason for their
disposal and whether the reasons are consistent
with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group's
continuous assessment of whether the business
model for which the remaining financial assets are
held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to
the classification of those assets. No such changes
were required during the periods presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Cont'd)

(@)

(e)

PEAEARAH

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(z), ECL are measured as
an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage
1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage
3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk.
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the
commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the
Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising
the renewal options taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for the Group to exercise
the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of
that underlying asset to the Group's operation.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Cont’d)

(e)

Determining the lease term (Cont'd)

Generally, periods covered by an extension
option in other properties leases have not been
included in the lease liability because the Group
could replace the assets without significant cost
or business disruption. See note 20 for further
information.

The lease term is reassessed when there is
a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
During the current financial year, no lease term has
been reassessed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Cont'a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@)

PEAEARAH

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.
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AR E TR MR
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'a)

(@ Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Cont’d)
The carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets as
at 31 December 2020 was approximately
RMB64,705,000 (2019: RMB60,812,000) and
RMB240,853,000 (2019: RMB205,146,000)
respectively.

(b)  Intangible assets and amortisation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives
and related amortisation for the Group's intangible
assets. The useful lives of intangible assets (except
RMB941,953,000 (2019: RMB941,331,000)
trademarks) are assessed to be finite, based on the
expected usage and technical obsolescence from
the changes in the market demands or services
output from the assets. Intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised over the expected
useful economic lives and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
assets may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for the intangible
assets with a finite useful life are reviewed by the
management at least at the end of each reporting
period.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as
at 31 December 2020 was approximately
RMB1,439,645,000 (2019: RMB1,632,166,000).
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Cont'a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

(c)

PEAEARAH

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made. During the year,
RMB46,629,000 (2019: RMB96,782,000) of
income tax credit was recognised in profit or loss;
and RMB28,214,000 (2019: RMB72,975,000) of
deferred tax assets and RMB28,810,000 (2019:
RMB28,930,000) of deferred tax liabilities were
recorded as at 31 December 2020, which were
based mainly on management’'s estimated
future assessable profits of the Group’'s major
subsidiaries that could utilise the tax loss and the
expected tax rates applicable when the relevant
deferred tax assets of liabilities reversal occurs.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(d)

(e)

232

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The carrying amount
of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was
RMB1,963,409,000 (2019: RMB1,963,409,000)
after an impairment loss of RMB1,047000 (2019:
RMB193,304,000) was recognised during the
year. Details of the impairment loss calculation are
provided in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade
receivables based on the credit risk of trade
receivables. The amount of the impairment loss
based on ECL model is measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. Where the
future cash flows are less than expected, or being
revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may
arise.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount
of trade receivables is RMB1,821,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of RMB17992,000)
(2019: RMB345,000 (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of RMB16,730,000)).
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’a)

(7)

PEAEARAH

Impairment loss for other receivables

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the other receivables, including
the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments
arise where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible.
The identification of bad and doubtful debts,
in particular of a loss event, requires the use
of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and
doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2020, accumulated

impairment loss for other receivables amounted to
RMB8,539,000 (2019: RMB27,576,000).

SRCBEER
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'a)

(g)  Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made
based on the aging and estimated net realisable
value of inventories. The assessment of the
allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and
allowance charge/write-back in the period in which
such estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2020, accumulated allowance
for slow-moving inventories amounted to
RMB6,025,000(2019: RMB5,943,000).

(h)  Impairment of investments in associates
Management determines whether investments
in associates have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable, according to their recoverable
amounts determined based on value in use
calculations. The determination of impairment
indication requires significant judgement, and the
calculations of recoverable amount require the
use of estimates which are subject to change of
economic environment in future.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of

investments in associates were RMB3,170,000
(2019: RMB4,956,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Cont'a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

(1)

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOC/

In the absence of quoted market prices in an
active market, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist the Directors
for assessing the fair value of the Group's
investments: Haier Consumer Finance Co.,
Ltd. and Guang Holdings Limited as at end of
reporting period. (2019: Haier Consumer Finance
Co., Ltd.,, I BIREBBEBENKRKRHERL
&l (Formerly known as L/BREEFHARTEAE
[RAE)), tREBBRMEERAR, IRHE
AR ZEHAERNEAERAR and %L E 1t Youzan
Japan). The valuer estimated the fair value of the
Group's investments using valuation technique by
considering information from a variety of sources,
including the latest financial information, applicable
market comparable financial ratios and discount of
lack of marketability. The Directors have exercised
their judgement to evaluate the appropriateness of
the valuation technique and were satisfied that the
method of valuation and assumptions used were
reflective of the market conditions.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

() Fair value of financial assets at FVVTOC! (Cont'd)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, _£/&Ux
RIDE AR RN ARASE and IEREBE?R
Bl ABR/A T were disposed. For 10 B AT B 2
BRHEBRAE], Directors of the Group based on
the financial performance of it, consider they have
no future business prospect, therefore estimate
the fair value to be nil as at 31 December 2020.

The carrying amount of the investments as at
31 December 2020 was RMB117024,000 (2019:
RMB97457000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

(a)

(b)

PEAEARAH

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group entities
had no significant assets or liabilities denominated
in currency other than respective functional
currencies.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade receivables) and from
its financing activities, including deposits with
banks and financial institutions, and other financial
instruments. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank balances and balances with central bank
is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit-rating
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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238

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd)

(b)

Credit risk (Cont'a)

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business
unit subject to the Group's established policy,
procedures and control relating to customer credit
risk management. Individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The Group usually does
not grant any credit term to customer unless some
special cases. Debtors with balances that are more
than 3 months past due are requested to settle
all outstanding balances before any further credit
is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group's historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZTEF+_HA=+—HILEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a) 6. HMBRAKREE®

(b) Credit risk (Cont'd) (b) EEREMRE @
Trade receivables (Cont'd) JEW IR (48
The following table provides information about the RIEZEF+ZRA=+—
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade B> AEBERKERZEER
receivables at 31 December 2020: Bl O & TERRE B R 18 2 48
RAERNT
2020
ZEEF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
L] oE B fERE(E ESiaRE
RMB’000 RMB’'000

% ARBTT ARBTT

Current (not past due) BPER (RiEHA) 41% 3,083 (1,262)
Up to 3 months past due BHA=EA 2R N/A RE R - -
Over 6 months ~NEA U E 100% 16,730 (16,730)

19,813 (17,992)
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BHECZTEF+_A=+—HLEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a) 6. HMBRAKREE®

(b) Credit risk (Cont'a) (b) FERE®
Trade receivables (Cont'd) JEW IR (48
2019
“T-NEF

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
L SEES MEERmEE EiEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARBTT ARBFT
Current (not past due) BRER (Ri#1HR) N/A R EA - -
Up to 3 months past due AAA=ER 2R 0% 345 -
Over 6 months NMEB MU E 100% 16,730 (16,730)
17075 (16,730)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss FEHREEXENRBE1FZE
experience over the past 1 year. These rates are MREELRTE TREES
adjusted to reflect differences between economic HIBWERB 2 &BER I8
conditions during the period over which the historic Al 2 A% 7 AR Ot B 7K £ [ P 53
data has been collected, current conditions and RZERWHRIBEEFEERA
the Group's view of economic conditions over the HEBER R =EZ2ENER

expected lives of the receivables. EITHHE o
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HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a) 6. HMBRAKREE®

(b)

PEAEARAH

Credit risk (Cont'a)

b) EEEE®

Trade receivables (Cont'd) JEW IR (48
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect REERWERM 2 BIEEE
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: AREENUT ¢
2020 2019
“—EIEF ZT—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

At 1 January

Impairment losses recognised
for the year

At 31 December

Financial assets at amortised cost

w—A—H 16,730 15,909
FRERZ BERE

1,262 821
R+-B=+—H 17,992 16,730

BB BB EE

All of the Group’'s financial assets at amortised RNEBPABZEHENATE
cost are considered to have low credit risk, and the ZHBEEHARGEAREER
loss allowance recognised during the period was RRE > RAIER R 2
therefore limited to 12-month expected losses. EEEERPI2E B BE
o

Financial assets at amortised cost include loan REBHENAGTENEHMEE
to an employee, deposits and other receivables, BiEEEEM RERHEMAE
amount due from non-controlling shareholder Wk IE ~ FEUS IS B A Bl FE 1R AR
of subsidiaries and amount due from a related REMIEREKR—BERBEEA
company. Bl IE

CRISEER 241



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a)

(b)

242

Credit risk (Cont'a)

Financial assets at amortised cost (Cont’d)

Movement in the loss allowance for financial
assets at amortised cost during the year is as

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

6. HBHERMREIER®

b) EEEE®

R AT BZ B EE
G-

AERZUBHEHNAGFEZY

BEEZBEEHEHIT

follows:
Loans
and other
receivables
B EHM
RMB'000
ANE®BFT
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NF—HF—H 47533
Impairment losses recognised for the year FERER 2 BEEIE 1,203
Reversal of allowance for the year F (O] (4,430)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 A —_E-NEFE+B=+—H
RZE-ZEF—F—H 44,306
Impairment losses recognised for the year FARER 2 BEEIE 1,313
Reversal of allowance for the year F (O] (19,088)
At 31 December 2020 RZE_ZEHF+”"A=+—H 26,531
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZTEF+_HA=+—HILEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a) 6.

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of the Group's financial
liabilities is as follows:

MBRRER @

() RBEZERE
EEZHRAEREERA
REARBESH K HERE
R R IRE A LU ERE
PR RIARSHEZFR

FEBZMBERRESY
REFFERERZFHE D
FanE

Less than Between More than
1year 2tob years 5 years Total
MR-F REERF AENE =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETR
At 31 December 2020 RZZ2ZZE£+ZH
=+-H
Trade payables FE{TERAR 4,396 - - 4,396
Accruals and other payables ~ FBIRERKREM
EARIE 561,399 - - 561,399
Amount due to a non-controlling FE{f— R B /A =)
shareholder of a subsidiary R R 2B 256 - - 256
Lease liabilities HEEBR 33,235 177,631 122,716 333,582
At 31 December 2019 RIE-NE
+ZB=+—H
Trade payables FEIER 4,013 - - 4,013
Accruals and other payables  TEIR & R EAth
INERE 347615 - - 347615
Lease liabilities HE&R 46,028 126,024 112,623 284,675
Other loan HtER 201,337 - - 201,337
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6.

244

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group’'s exposure to interest-rate risk arises
from its bank deposits. These deposits bear
interests at variable rate varied with the then
prevailing market condition.

At 31 December 2020, if interest rates at that date
had been 100 basis points higher with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss after
tax for the year would have been RMB15,921,000
lower (2019: RMB3,747000 lower), arising mainly
as a result of higher interest income on bank
deposits. If interest rates had been 100 basis
points lower, with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after tax for the year would have
been RMB15,921,000 higher (2019: RMB3,747,000
higher), arising mainly as a result of lower interest
income on bank deposits.

The Group’s loans to an employee bear interest at
fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risks (note 32).

The Group's balances with central bank bear
interest at fixed interest rates in accordance with
the regulations and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risk.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'a) 6.

(e) Categories of financial instruments at

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

MBRRER @

(e) M+-HA=+—HzZzER

31 December TEEER
2020 2019
ZEIF —“ZET—NEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR®TT
Financial assets: MBEE
Financial assets measured at BEHN AT E Y
amortised cost MHEE 7,554,064 5,704,662
Financial assets measured at BAFESFAZEMEZE
FVTOCI - unlisted equity securities Wk Z B & E
—JE TR AEE 117,024 97457
Financial liabilities: MBaR:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RIS At E 2
MmaRE 6,368,052 5,622,524

(f) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in
the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate their respective fair values.

mEARERAT —T_TEEH

H AFE
AEBREEYHRTER
MM BEERMBERRK
HEEHZEZATERE
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The following disclosures of fair value measurements use
a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: qguoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Group can access at
the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.
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7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd) 2

(a)

Disclosures of level in fair value

(a)

DHEAE

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

Gz

R+ZA=+—H2a¥E

hierarchy at 31 December: E 4k 2 AR A EE :
Fair value measurements using: Total
URATERER : =1
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
AN RR2 RA3 —EBEEHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETr ARETR AR®TR ARETR
Recurring fair value BERATEINZE .
measurements:
Financial assets MHREE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATES AT
Hit2 MR
ZHBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JELEFRAE
B - - 117,024 117,024
Fair value measurements using: Total
AT EREE ! =L
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2019
il 52 RA3 —E—hE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT AEBTR ARBTR ARET:R
Recurring fair value BRATENSE
measurements:
Financial assets HBEEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATESAE
Hi 2 EW @R
ZHBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JEEmRE
53 - - 97457 97457

TEEEHRAT —TTEFH
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248

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(b)

Reconciliation of assets measured at

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

7 AHEAEZE®

(b) RERIBAFEAEZEE

fair value based on Level 3: ZHER -
Financial
assets at
FVTOCI -
unlisted
equity
securities
BATE
STATEEAM
2@k
ZHBEE
—JELETH
A58 55
RMB'000
AR¥FTT
At 1 January 2019 R ZE-NEFE—B—H 127744
Total gain or losses recognised in other REMEZEWE EﬁubZZ
comprehensive income W 7 S S 1R AR (30,983)
Acquisition during the year F RS 696
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 N TE-NEF+ZB=+—H
—E2TEF—HF—H 97457
Step acquisition during the year (note 50(a)) FRZFLWEE (FT5E50(a)) (696)
Acquisition during the year FRUEE 35,459
Total gain or losses recognised in other REMEEEEER
comprehensive income W 7 S ES 1E 4R RE 11,161
Disposals during the year FAHE (23,108)
Exchange differences PE 2 =28 (3,249)
At 31 December 2020 WIEZZEF+"H=+—H 117,024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(c)

PEAEARAH

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2020:

The Group's financial controller is responsible
for the fair value measurements of assets and
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes
including level 3 fair value measurements. The
financial controller reports directly to the Board
of Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the financial controller and the Board
of Directors once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group
will normally engage independent external
valuation experts with the recognised professiona
qualifications and recent experience to perform the
valuations.

—EosEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

7

[NHEANEE @

(c)

TERN_SE_FF+-
B=+—HfERZ&ER
FRATENERERZ
fHERM KA IR
=

AEBMYBEEaEETH
BREECSEREGEY
AT ES > BEFERFIBA
TR o M AR E B
EEORSLSATES
FoMBREREEE I HE
ERp— R EEZREERE
%o

FLARBIBAFEREZEZMES
AEBEBEEIHEEEFNR

EXERBATRAEGELR
ZEUNBSEEERETH
BfafE
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AATS AR MIEE

g A
777 N

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

7

250

(c)

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta) 7 QKT EINEE®
Disclosure of valuation process () FEBENRZZEZZHFA+Z
used by the Group and valuation B=+—HERZKER
techniques and inputs used in fair value FRAFEINERFERZ
measurements at 31 December 2020: fh{ERMT R A BIR 21
(Cont’d) EZ.®
Level 3 fair value measurements RS F G RE %
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for
Description technique inputs Range increase of inputs Fair value
AR
iz fhERA FARZHAYE #E ATEZVE ATE
2020 2019
ZRI%FE ZZ-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARBTR
Unlisted equity Applicable market Lack of marketability 25%  Decrease 74,670 97457
securities multiples discount (2019: 21%)
classified as
financial assets
at FVTOCI -
Haier Consumer
Finance Co., Ltd
and others
NEARATE BRETEEE  BZmBREN 25% R
HATHMEE 2 (CZ—hE:
W R 2 B 7 21%)
BEZFELD
MBS — 8
HEEZRAR
AR R HEAM
Unlisted equity Guideline Volatility 60% Increase 42,354 N/A
securities transaction (2019: N/A)
classified as method
financial assets at
FVTOCI - Guang
Holdings Limited
NEABRATE RAREE N EIES 60% M AER
FATHMEE (= ==
Weam bR 2 B AER)
BEZFLS

feZzE% - Guang
Holdings Limited

During the two years, there were no changes in
the valuation techniques used in Haier Consumer
Finance Co., Ltd.'s valuation and Guang Holdings
Limited is acquired during the year.

FPREFERN SEHEERM
ERRABHEMERZMHE
FoE e R FRUEE
Guang Holdings Limitede
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BECTTFT A=+ —HIEFE

8. REVENUE 8. U=
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) il

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with FARFIEEMTRFBED
customers by major products or service line for the FzRBERFENZWEN

year is as follows: ™
2020 2019
—EEF C"Z—hEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000

PEAEARAH

ARBFRT ARBTT

(Re-presented)

(E3:5)

Revenue from contracts with EARAMBHRESERE1558

customers within the scope HEAKRKBEREY
of HKFRS 15 Z W

Subscription Solutions SRR R 1,047,951 593,565

Merchant Solutions (note (i) R ER 72 (HEEG) 757511 566,721

Others Hith 15,261 8,571

1,820,723 1,168,857

Note: BgsE -

(i) Merchant Solutions include transaction fee (i) BREBADROIELAEER
of approximately RMB188,778,000 (2019: WBABImMMEBEERER
RMB164,808,000) generated from #iA &Rl RAE (MRMNEE) REE
AR /AT (“Hangzhou Youzan”), a subsidiary —EEE+A=+—
of the Group, for the year ended 31 December HEEZRZENARE
2020. Hangzhou Youzan ceased its transaction 188,778,0007T (Z&—H
service in February 2021 and no transaction fee F: ANE®164,808,000
income would be generated afterwards. Details JT) cMMNBEER ZZ
of the cessation are set out in note 55(d) to these T FZARILEEXRZR
financial statements. B BEHBAGEARZE

S ONCE =T L3 F 3TN B
HRFTMIEEE5(d) °

(ii) For the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue (ii) HE_Z—-—AF+ZA
were disaggregated into three types: (i) SaaS and =+— EI&EEJ* N =
Extended Services, (i) transaction fees and (iii) =48 () SaaSK LEHAR TS »
others. The directors of the Company consider ((IZZE ; )S’z(mHﬂﬂ ZL(’A
the new presentation for the year ended 31 BEERNA BE ==
December 2020 is more relevant and appropriate F+ZA=+—H thEF
for the Group's current development of business. ZHE2FEAEEER Z
As a result, the corresponding figures are re- EBEREREMESE-
presented. Ft > ERERESFETE

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZZF+"FA=+—HIEFE
8. REVENUE (conta) 8 WEmmw
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (Contd) (a) Az @
The Group derives revenue from the transfer AEBZW@ABERMUTE
of goods and services over time and at a point EEmMGRMMEE —EBAME
in time in the following major product lines and ARE—FEEMZEmER
geographical regions: TREE
Third party payment
General trading services Onecomm Merchant services Others Total
—kE5 BHE IR B BRIRH Hftr gt
For the year ended BE+ZA=+-HLEE 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
31 December “%-8¢ “FjF “$o8E “TE “$BE CSF CECFE CTE CEBE CTF CECEE TN

RMB000 RMB0OO RMBO00 RMBO0O RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB0OD RMB000 RMB000 RMB00  RMB'000
AERTR ARKTT ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARKTZ ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR

Re-presented) (Re-presented)
(7)) (i E7)
Primary geographical TEHETHH
markets
- PRC except Hong Kong —hE (EERI 595 1064 279,937 270,669 286 430 1575984 997771 604 - 1857406 1,269,934
Segment revenue PR 595 1084 279937 270,669 286 430 1575984 997771 604 - 1857406 1,269,934
Intersegment revenue AHERE
-PRC except Hong Kong ~ —FRER (ZBIAN) - - (364%)  (101.077) - - (187) - - - (36683)  (101,077)
Revenue from external REMIZE 2K
customers 595 1064 243441 169,592 286 430 1575797 997771 604 - 1,820,723 1,168,857
Timing of revenue RS
recognition
Products transferred RE-BERBEZER
at a point in time 595 1,064 337 90 - 430 305808 20349 - - 306,740 205,080
Products and services T-BRERNBEZERRER
transferred over time - - 43104 169,502 286 - 1269989 794275 604 - 1513983 963777
Total fa3t 595 1064 243441 169,592 286 430 1575797 997771 604 - 1820723 1,168,857
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

8. REVENUE (conta)

(b) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at the year ended and the expected
timing of recognising revenue as follows:

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

8. W=E®

(b) PEEHREBREGHZEFT
BHNBEZRZE

REREDEEGHR TBHOEME

(REBTHEMHRERET)
ZRZBREmES 2R
RPE T -

Subscription Solutions
HI): Y-S
2020 2019
—E2ITF Z—NHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTm AR®ETT

Within 1 year —FRN 611,236 406,706
More than 1 year but not —F U EMEURN
more than 2 years 53,740 38,370
More than 2 years MmaEL 2,631 9,197
667,607 454,273
FEAEARAT T SHER 253



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

9.

254

INVESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

9. KRERHMKA

2020 2019
“EIEF Z—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETFIT
(Re-presented)
(KR &E35)
Interest income on: FEUWA :
Bank deposits RITFEX 11,479 7372
Central bank FRIRIRTT 17,733 -
Loan to other mEMALFEEZER 109 36
Financial assets at FVTPL BN ES ATEERER
ZHBEE 6,204 2,808
Total interest income ) B UL A AL RE 35,525 10,216
Government grants* I T e A 12,753 6,551
VAT super-credit IRER MR 15,787 8,364
Compensation income mEWA 5,327 -
Rent concession HEER 1,905 -
Others HAh 5,640 4,596
76,937 29,727
* The Group recognised government grants as follow: * RNEEESR LN BT
2020 2019
—TTF “E—hEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETF T ARBT T
Blockchain industry park subsidies (62 158 8 = 2 [ L 500 500
Capital investment subsidies BEARKE /A 2,400 2,640
COVID-19 related subsidies COVID-194ERE # Bh 1,929 -
Entity-specific financial support REBRBMBZER 3,674 2,811
High and New Technology Enterprise subsidies S #2484 500 600
Research and development project subsidies P22 T8 B fhL 3,750 -
12,753 6,551

There were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingent
attached of the receipts of all above government grants.

A3 42 it WAL B _E &t P 75 T 68 B 1T 1
RIEMZ R R ELAth ZOPAR 1 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_S-SE+-A=+—HILEE
10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. EHthxzm K518 /558
2020 2019
“EIEF “ZT—AHF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT ARBTT

(Re-presented)

Ge==pl)
Allowance for trade receivables FEUWRR TR B (1,262) (821)
Allowance for other receivables Hih eI 815 (51) (382)
Impairment of goodwill (note 21) EERE F1EE21) (1,047) (193,304)
Net gain/(loss) on early termination of leases I R4% IFFH & W a
(B518) F &8 222 (1,194)
Net foreign exchange losses PE 5183 %R (14,032) (3,506)
Reversal of allowance for other receivables — EL1th & L 70 I8 5 & # [0] 19,088 4,430
Property, plant and equipment written off  #)2 « i = K sR S i £ (356) (2,321)
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant HEY¥ - BELHZEZ
and equipment W, (B518) $%8 59 (107)
Written off of trade receivables FEW AR R 35 (345) -
Others Hith (707) (1,787)
1,569 (198,992)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

11. FINANCE COSTS 1. BB
2020 2019
“EIEF Z—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETn ARET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESRZHEHRXE 19,5625 15,701
Interest on other loan HMBERZFE 8,361 6,343
27,886 22,044
12. SEGMENT INFORMATION 12. SEER
The Group has five (2019: four) operating segments as FAEEEUTHEE CE—NAF M
follows: &) A& & D8
General trading - trading of watches and other —wEB5S — BEEFHRAHMER
goods
Third party — provision of third party payment F=H —MRHREARHA
payment services and related consultancy =T (T IREE=F4
services services in the People’'s Republic AR5 = {1 AR %5 K2 #8 B B8 5
of China (the “PRC") AR7
Onecomm - provision of third party payment —BN — EHE=ZAFZNEIE
management services and sales RBRBELRSESE
of integrated smart Point of Sale HER (TPOS)) &8
("POS") devices
Merchant services — provision of e-commerce platform ERRY — BBEEREERAR
with a variety of SaaS products (AT#8Qima Holdings
and comprehensive services Ltd.) REMW B A F
in the PRC through Youzan (TEE&£HR)) (H#%
Technology Inc. (Formerly known EEBMEm - BEZS
as Qima Holdings Ltd.) and its E-BEX*%SaaSE
subsidiaries (“Youzan Group”), m) RAPERHERES
which owns Youzan WeiMall, M amSaaSE @M
Youzan Retail, Youzan Beauty and RERE
other SaaS products
Others - Others business HAh — HAth=EH
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fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

12.

PEAEARAH

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont )

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as those described in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements. Segment profits
or losses do not include equity-settled share-based
payments and impairment of goodwill. Segment assets
do not include investments in associates, indemnification
assets, goodwill, financial assets at FVTOCI and other
corporate assets. Segment non-current assets do not
include financial instruments, deferred tax assets and
goodwill. Segment liabilities (current and non-current) do
not include current tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities,
withholding tax payable and corporate liabilities.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers

as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at
current market prices.

SRCBEER

W ECECEF+_A=+—HIEE

12.

SEER 69
AEEZAERDMARESEE
mR Rz RIEMEEFEM - ZEFED
BREEBRRRMRMISHERER
RNl A=

KENBZETHREZSFINES
RAES AR SEAPR L B 4B R © 29 BB i
MBEAEEREEERND N
MIEREERE - DEEENEER
BMERRAZKE - RESE -BE-
BAFEsfFATEMERNR@RZ
MHBEERAMBESE - DHIFR
FEETOESM T AV EEREE
EREE - DEERE (RBKRIFRE)
TEENRRESER EERES
B EMRNRKRATIERE

AEBRUERTSEBREE=ZA
HENERE B BOBHEHE &
B AREIE
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AATS AR MIEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

12.

258

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont )

Information about operating segment profit

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

12. DEEFE @

BRKENENNEE - BE

or loss, assets and liabilities: REaEZERMT :
Third party
General payment Merchant
trading services Onecomm services Others Total
$=h
—-RES % TIRES —I5# M ARIRE Hith EH
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTRT ARETR  ARETR ARETT AREFR
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE_E_EE
TZAZ+—-HIEE
Revenue from REIMNIER ZWE
external customers 595 243,441 286 1,575,797 604 1,820,723
Intersegment revenue AEEYE - 36,496 - 187 - 36,683
Segment (loss)/profit A (518) /&7 (16) 8,871 (437) (491,727) 55 (483,254)
Interest income FIEBA 1 17,870 - 8,841 52 26,764
Finance costs BBHA - (333) - (27597) - (27,930)
Depreciation and amortisation EREH - (11,575) - (246,614) - (258,189)
Share of (losses)/profits EEHEARZ
of associates (&) /&R - 170 - (1,331) - (1,161)
Other material items of HiJFREEABE
non-cash items:
- Allowance for trade receivable  —FEUURFIE - - - (1,262) - (1,262)
—Written off of trade receivable  —FEUUERFNHISH - - - (345) - (345)
— Allowance for inventories -GFEEE - - - (82) - (82)
— Reversal of allowance for -BATE EEk
prepayment, deposits and HthiEw A
other receivables, net of BERmE»
allowance DA - 19,037 - - - 19,037
~ Impairment of goodwill ~BERNE - - - (1,047) - (1,047)
Income tax credit FIRMER - - - 45,279 - 45,279
Additions to segment RENBERBEE
non-current assets - 3,170 - 24,056 - 27,226
As at 31 December 2020 RZE_EE
+-B=+-8
Segment assets HBEE 973 5,667,695 8 381313 29,596 9,511,441
Segment liabilities NiaE 366 5,550,780 4,601 1,768,963 301 7,325,011
Investments in associates REEREZKE - 3,170 - - - 3,170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 B TEF+_A=+—HIFE

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 12. HEER @

Information about operating segment profit BRKESS R REEE EE
or loss, assets and liabilities: (Cont0) RBEZERNT @
Third party
General payment Merchant
trading services Onecomm services Total
£=F
—RE5 AR — IS feH [EETe At

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TT ARETR AREBTR ARET:
(Re-presented)  (Re-presented)

(BE75) (EE7)

Year ended 31 December 2019 HE_Z—hE
+ZB=+—HUIEE
Revenue from RENIEF 2R
external customers 1,064 169,592 430 997771 1,168,857
Intersegment revenue DEERE - - 101,077
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF (BB 9 (625,116) (653,401)
Interest income FIEWA 208 3437 3,985
Finance costs B - (21,189) (21,918)
Depreciation and amortisation EREH - (240,029) (255,472)
Share of (losses)/profits EIBE AR (58) /&5
of associates - 5,619 5,289
Other material items of HitJER&EAER
non-cash items:
— Allowance for trade receivable —EWEIRRUE (821) - (821)
- Reversal of allowance for —TERRIE B R EM
prepayment, deposits and other FEMFIBRERRE)
receivables, net of allowance MeEE - - 4,430
- Impairment of prepayment, —TBNTIE e RHEM
deposits and other receivables FEWFIBRIE - - (382)
— Impairment of goodwil -BERE - - (193,304)
Income tax credit PRSHESE - 96,782 96,782
Additions to segment REDHERBEE
non-current assets - 90,515 94,236
As at 31 December 2019 RZE—-h&E+ZB=+—H
Segment assets NHEE 992 3,152,248 7949541
Segment liabilities NHEE 300 1,549,978 6,317481
Investments in associates RBEREZKRE - 4,956 4,956
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_S-SEI-A-t+—HLEE
12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta) 12. SEER @&
Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit or FEBNE EFHEIEREEZ
loss and assets: HER:
2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT

(Re-presented)

Ge==pl)

Revenue Yz
Total revenue of reportable segments 2D W sEER 1,857,406 1,269,934
Elimination of intersegment revenue wanz il Gk iadii= (36,683) (101,077)
Consolidated revenue e W 1,820,723 1,168,857
Profit or loss T F S E5 8
Total loss of reportable segments 2RI E5I84EER (483,254) (653,401)
Equity-settled share-based payments Hﬂ&“uﬁﬁxﬁ}fiﬁrﬂﬁ (62,197) (136,428)
Unallocated amounts: KNOFCEEE -

Corporate income and expenses, net EEWAKRESE  FEE (45,784) (29,218)

Impairment of goodwill EEREAE] (1,047) (193,304)
Consolidated loss before income tax FRPFEMAIG SRR (592,282) (1,012,351)
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments 2| E 2 EELRER 9,511,441 7949,641
Unallocated amounts: FDBCEEE

Goodwvill FHES 1,963,409 1,963,409

Investment in associates RBERBZKE 3,170 4,956

Deferred tax assets IR IR E EE 195,705 167491

Financial assets at FVTOCI BN ES AT EM

2EHKW@mRZ
MBEE 117,024 97457

Indemnification assets BREEE - 5,814

Other corporate assets Efﬁmﬁﬁﬁ 421,731 310,192
Consolidated total assets REBEREE 12,212,480 10,498,860
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd)

Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit or

loss and assets: (Cont’a)

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

12. DEER @&

DEYE BN REEREEZ
HER . @

2020 2019
—EIEE —ZT—hHF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFRT ARBTT

(Re-presented)

(KR &E3))
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segment A2HNE BEARRE 7,325,011 6,317,481
Current tax liabilities BIHAMRIE & 1& 869 4,456
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIBE(E 244,073 261,145
Withholding tax payables FEITEIOR - 5,814
Other corporate liabilities Hitt QB &aE 12,428 10,917
Consolidated total liabilities e BB 7,582,381 6,599,813

Geographical information:

No separate analysis of segment information by
geographical information is presented as the Group's
revenue and non-current assets are principally attributable
to a single geographical region, which is the PRC.

Revenue from major customers:

No customer accounted for 10 percent or more of the
Group's revenue for both years 2020 and 2019.

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

MEER :

HRAEBR Z WA RIERBEEE
ERBRE— BRI BIFE) R
ItE3TE f 2 7)) ¥ i & Bk 8 5 2 B L
’“il?ﬁﬂ AT

KEXTEERZWE

R _BER_F-NE BE
FAGREBEWRT10%5 L Lo
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AR E TR MR
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT

Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as

follows:

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

13. FRISMRIESR

PRSIMENBEmAERNT !

2020 2019
—EITEFE —TAF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®ETT
Current tax — the PRC BPHATR IE — R
Provision for the year KEFEEEHE 5 2,232
Current tax — Hong Kong BEpRIE—& 8
Over-provision for previous year BIFFEBREREE (1,348) -
Deferred tax (note 44) RIEFRIE (FI5T44) (45,286) (99,014)
(46,629) (96,782)

PRC Enterprises Income Tax has been provided at a rate

of 25% (2019: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since
the Group has no assessable profit for the year (2019:

Nil).

262

HERFTERE RRES% (TF
— U © 25%) BHREE -

B 7 7 5 [ S 4 P9 I R AT R PR ER AR

wmH (CTE—NRE E) > WEBAE
BBMEREE-
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fe= A
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RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

13.

PEAEARAH

INCOME TAX CREDIT (contd)

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

One of the Group's subsidiary operating in Hangzhou,
the PRC, was recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise (&# & M12%) on 30 November 2018 and
were entitled to enjoy an income tax concession at
preferential rate of 15% effective from 1 January 2018
for three years. In order to enjoy the preferential rate of
15%, the subsidiary was required to apply for renewal
every three years from first year of approval. The effective
interest rate was changed from 25% to 15% since the
year beginning 1 January 2018.

One of the Group's subsidiary operating in Beijing, the
PRC, was recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise (S ¥ 7{2£) on 21 October 2020 and were
entitled to enjoy an income tax concession at preferential
rate of 15% effective from 1 January 2020. In order to
enjoy the preferential rate of 15%, the subsidiary was
required to apply for renewal every three years from first
year of approval. The effective interest rate was changed
from 25% to 15% since the year beginning 1 January
2020.

SRCBEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

13.

FRiSiiiE R @

LAt 4 8 FE SR AR ) 2 TR T 32 1 4
FEEAEBAEAR ZRIRE
WIREARRE AR R RIEG
Ho

AEERPEMMNEE 2 — RS
RN ZEBE-—NE+—B=+H®
SRmEMRMEE B-F—/\F
—B—HE=ZFREEZFEER
KB ZFISIRER - REREER
K16% > =M B AR AE#HEEFIE
B=FHFEM BT/ \F—F8
—BEERG BEFNEXR25%E5
15% °

AREBRPRIEALE 2 — BB
RN ZZEZZEF+AZ+—HB#®
RoASMENMEE BZEZE
F-—A—HEBH=ZAEERX
15%ZFIEHEZS AZHEEEREX
15%  ZHEBABZEBHI EE FIE
EFEHRBEEH BT _TF—H
—BFERB BEMNEH2D%E A
15% ©
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13.

264

INCOME TAX CREDIT (contd)

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and
the product of loss before tax multiplied by the PRC

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

13. FRISMIER @

PR AR 4 2 B R AR A 5 2 e ML o
TEEMSRMEAEER ZHIRT

Enterprise Income Tax rate is as follows: I
2020 2019
—EI%F —“ZET—NEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR®TT
(Re-presented)
(B2 EE%))
Loss before tax PRIT ARS8 (592,282)  (1,012,351)
Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate R > 2EFTSMME
of 25% (2019: 25%) 25% (ZBE—NE:
25%) stEZIRIE (148,070) (253,088)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AR 2 REEE
deductible 50,145 114,529
Tax effect of income that are not taxable BEFRWRAZREZE (19,332) (30,116)
Tax effect of temporary differences not ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ%%ﬁz
recognised Mg E 14,018 4,902
Tax effect of super deduction of qualified ~ N5T$0 5? ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ?’*itﬂ
research and development expenditure 2B (26,517) (19,148)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not KRB B RERIRIBEE
recognised 2R E 55,574 29,031
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not AU RERRIEE IR
previously recognised 2B E (1,103) (7.660)
Overprovision for previous year BEFEBERE (1,348) -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MBATFRIMEZ g2 30,004 64,768
Income tax credit FriSIRIE %R (46,629) (96,782)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 HE_ T ZFE+_A=+—HIEE
14. LOSS FORTHEYEAR 14. FFEEE
The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/ NREBZAFERBELINR (6t
(crediting) the following: A) FIIRIEERTIWH -
2020 2019
ZEIEFE EZ—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 22) & E#TH (izF22) 193,143 193,366
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs ~ BARILE XA A S
(note 30) (F$5¥30) 212,842 161,438
Auditor's remuneration 12 S4B i B
— annual audit —FEEZ 2,205 2,185
— other services —HMARF 2,189 12
Allowance for inventories (include in cost  FE&#E Gt ASHE R A)
of sales) 82 -
Allowance for trade receivables (note 28)  FEWBRFR B & (MI5E28) 1,262 821
Reversal of allowance for prepayments, TBRIE B R EHAM
deposit and other receivables, & IS R TE 12 5 #a [o]
net of allowance (note 29) MEREEE (H5E29) (19,037) (4,048)
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEREK 7101 8,056
Depreciation of property, plant and ME--BEMRRBITE
equipment (note 19) (FFz%19) 19,192 16,720
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 20) FAEEEITE (fI5E20) 47,445 47072
Impairment of goodwill (note 21) EERE (H5E21) 1,047 193,304
Net (gain)/loss on disposals of property, HEYE BEKR
plant and equipment (note 10) B{-PAC e
B35 (5E10) (59) 107
Net (gain)/loss on early termination of RE&RIEEEEZ
leases (note 10) (Wzm) /K513 %R
(F$zE10) (222) 1,194
Operating lease charges KERESH 9,931 12,760
Property, plant and equipment written off ~ #)2% ~ i = K 5% 1 8
(note 10) (F35E10) 356 2,321
Research and development expenditure 3E R EE S
(included in other operating expenses and (3 A E{th4&& e
equity-settled share-based payments) R Re R4 B R (H
* (200E) 452,446 404,655
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15.

266

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EERFIMAX
2020 2019
—BT2FE TNE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFrT AR®ET
Employee benefits expense (including EERHFEx
Directors’ emoluments): (BIRESMD) -

Salaries, bonuses and allowances
Equity-settled share-based payments

— Share Option Scheme

— Share Award Scheme
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

TETEAL k2R,

RIS F R AT

— B st &
—RAIn RS E
RIRBA] 5t BIHERR

1,067916 773,799
18
29,400 9,541
32,797 126,887
38,998 47,849
1,169,111 958,076
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Contd)

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included two (2019: Nil) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
note 16(a). The emoluments of the three (2019: five)

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

15. EEEFAR%Z ®

maREFMAL

FRAEELARSHMALTERE
MBEE (CT-NEF 8 HilE
I 16(@FFFI DT =% (2
T—hEF %) ALz HMEIW

individuals are set out below: T
2020 2019
—EIEE —FT—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFTFRT AR®TFIT
Basic salaries and allowances HATEKZ 7,352 5,196
Equity-settled share-based payments RIEEERD ZIRIB 12,340 39,631
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RREF 5T 2k 52 80

mEARERAT —T_TEEH

19,744 44,907
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Contd)

268

The emoluments fell with the following band:

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

15.

BEEFRZ @
B BRI B -

Number of individuals

A
2020 2019
—EIEE —E—-hEF

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000
HK$6,000,001 to HK$8,000,000
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000
HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000
HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000
HK$11,000,001 to HK$13,500,000

HK$13,500,001 to HK$14,000,000

5,500,001 BT E
6,000,000 7T
6,000,001 8T E
8,000,000 7T
8,000,001 L=
8,500,0007& 7T,
8,500,001 T E
9,000,000 7T
9,000,001 T E
9,500,0003& 7T
9,500,001 TE
10,000,000 7T
10,000,001 E
10,500,000 7T
10,500,001 BT E
11,000,000 75
11,000,001 8T E
13,500,0007 7T
13,500,001 BT E
14,000,000 7T

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the Directors or the five highest paid individuals

as an inducement to join or upon joining the
compensation for loss of office.

Group or as

FR AEERERTAESFHNES
R HMA LIS fERIMAZE
SEE SN R 2 SRS RE R AR (E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of every director is set out

below:

EoEs—s

—_—= =

F+A=+—HLEFE

16. EFEF R

(a)

EEME

KREFZMEHINT

Emoluments paid or receivables in respect of a person’s services as
a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

WEATARGENBARNES ZAARE 2 EAHEKMNE

Employer’s
(Note i) contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement
Salaries and  Discretionary of other benefit
Fees  allowances bonus benefits scheme Total
(Bi3) EEH
Hithigd BKERE
e IBREH BETEL fhtEE  fEHZMH st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARETn ARETxT ARBTR ARETR ARETR
Executive directors WIEE
Guan Guisen (note fii) R (ski) - 2,053 - - 18 2,071
Cao Chunmeng 5% - 1,888 - - 18 1,906
Yan Xiaotian BEH - 1,576 - - 15 1,591
Zhu Ning KE - 2,350 1,064 8,073 37 11,524
Cui Yusong B - 2,17 1,107 1,728 37 4,989
YuTao CIE: - 1,920 m 1,728 37 4,456
Ying Hangyan fEinst - 1,920 817 1,728 37 4,502
- 13,824 3,759 13,257 199 31,039
Independent non-executive ~ BIUFEHITEE
directors
Gu Jiawang AR 235 - - - - 235
Fong Chi\Wah hEE 235 - - - - 235
Deng Tao iz 235 - - - - 235
Xu Yanging BES 235 - - - - 235
940 - - - - 940
Total for 2020 “EIDEMH 940 13,824 3,759 13,257 199 31,979
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZZF+"FA=+—HIEFE
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EH/EHIEFE @
DIRECTORS (cContd)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Cont'd) (a) E=EiE @
The remuneration of every director is set out EEFZZNEEIIUWT
below:

Emoluments paid or receivables in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FEERARHERBARNESZ ZEAARE 2N ARRNE

Employer's

(Note i) contribution

Estimated t0a

money value retirement

Salaries and  Discretionary of other benefit

Fees allowances bonus benefits scheme

(GiED) EEH

Hitfgd  RIREREE

iz IEREE RRTEAL EEtHBE  FHZHR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Total

a5t
RMB'000

ARETL ARETR ARMTR ABETR ARBTR ARETR

Executive directors WIEE
Guan Guisen (note (ii) &R (%) - 2,058 - - 67 2,125
Cao Chunmeng 5% - 1,903 1,105 - 67 3,075
Yan Xiaotian Eli=4ed - 1,713 - - 34 1,747
Zhu Ning 3 - 2,334 975 2,351 15 5,705
Cui Yusong EXn - 2,103 1,247 504 45 3,899
Yu Tao B - 1,907 1,120 504 45 3,576
Ying Hangyan i - 1,908 1,102 504 45 3,559
- 13,926 5,549 3,863 348 23,686
Independent non-executive ~ BUFEHITEE
directors
Gu Jiawang AR 233 - - - - 233
Fong Chi\Wah hEE 233 - - - - 233
Deng Tao iz 233 - - - - 233
Xu Yanging BES 233 - - - - 233
932 - - - - 932
Total for 2019 "2 932 13,926 5,549 3,863 348 24,618
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Conta)

(a)

(b)

PEAEARAH

Directors’ emoluments (Cont’d)
Note:

(i) Estimated money values of other benefits include
equity-settled share-based payments.

(ii) Guan Guisen resigned on 17 February 2021.

None of the directors waived any emoluments
during the year (2019: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

—EosEER

(a)

(b)

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

16. EFEFRME @

EEME @
MIsE -

(i) H M dstBESER
S BE RN S IIE

(ii) MEZRN_E_-_—5_H
+tRHE T

FAMEESESHETAME
CE-NAFHE) -

ESNX 5 RHHER
Rz ERE
AEBHEMEERTILE
NB/AEAPTNA RERAF
EFUAREFCHB T ER
WNEREEER MR F
R FEREREBDAESE
ZERRG ZHREL
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BHE_ T ZF+_B=+—HIFE
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EFRAIKRFE @

DIRECTORS (Contd)

(c) Information about loans, quasi- (c) HBRAUES -ZEHER
loans and other dealings in favour of FERAEEREAREA
directors, controlled bodies corporate ZEMEEMREHM
and connected entities SZEN
The information about loans, quasi-loans and other ERARBIHEN BRG]
dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiary UUERRBEEREREZ
undertaking of the Company in favour of certain HETHESRASY@AZE
connected entities of Mr. Zhu Ning, a director of TEERREMKZZ2ERN
the Company, is as follows: wr

Outstanding Outstanding ~ Maximum

amount amount outstanding
Total at the at the amount
Nature of amount  beginning end of during
Name of the borrower ion payabl of the year the year theyear  Term Interest rate Security
FNZHEX FRZHX FARBHK
fERARTRE MELE FEffamE HEE  HERE 0 BERE BR (IS g

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR AREBTR

As at 31 December 2020
RZE-Z£+°B=+-H

Loans and interest:

ERRAE

Related Company A Note (i) - 800 - 1,300  Repayable on or before  Nil No
18 November 2020

BB ARA It () BRZZZEF+-A B it
+A\BFZEIEE

Entity B Note (i) _ 3,036 - 3145  Guaranteed by 4.34% per annum  No
the substantial on outstanding
shareholder of the loan
related company and
repayable on
31 October 2020

g Mk i HEBARZ IR HHABEER B
BRRBRRAR #4.34% 2
“2IZ2EFA FHEEHE
=+-BEE

Quasi-oans or credit

transactions:

EERHGEERS

Related Company A Note (i) 452 634 452 1,950  Repayable ondemand ~ Nil No

BB ATA LG AREREER it it
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 HE-Z-TE+-F=+—HiEE
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EFEM K= @

DIRECTORS (Conta)

(c) Information about loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
and connected entities (Cont'd)
The information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiary
undertaking of the Company in favour of certain
connected entities of Mr. Zhu Ning, a director of
the Company, is as follows: (Cont'd)

Outstanding ~ Outstanding Maximum

amount amount  outstanding

Total atthe at the amount

Nature of amount beginning end of during

Name of the borrower connection payable  of the year the year the year
FNzHEX FRZHX FARBHEHE

BRALHE HEHE FE(THEFIE BEME  BEWE BEFE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTRT ARBTR ARBTn AR®Tn

(c) HRAUES ZEGER
AEREAEERERR@A
ZER - EERREME
BZEH @)
BEAATRENBART
UNFAREERELRES
ETHESRAREAZE
o EERREMZ S 2 Ak
W

Term Interest rate Security

R S i

As at 31 December 2019
RZE-hE+-B=+—-H

Loans and interest:

ERRAE

Related Company A Note {iii) 800 - 800 800
BB ARA LEa()

Entity B Note (i) 3,036 - 3,036 3,036
BB it s (i)

Quasi-oans or credit
transactions:

EEVAEERT

Related Company A Note {iii) 634 - 634 634
HEATA Bz i

mEARERAT —T_TEEH

Repayable on or before  Nil No
18 November 2020

RZIZBZZE+-F & &
+A\BFZEIEE

Guaranteed by 4.34% perannum  No
the substantial on outstanding
shareholder of the loan
related company, and
repayable on
19 April 2020

HEBARZ IR HHABEER B
BRRBRRAR #4.34% 2
TEITE FHEEHE
mE+AEEE

Repayable on demand il No

AREREER it it
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16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Conta)

274

(c)

Information about loans, quasi-

loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
and connected entities (Cont'd)

The information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiary
undertaking of the Company in favour of certain
connected entities of Mr. Zhu Ning, a director of
the Company, is as follows: (Cont'd)

Note:

(i) 99% owned by Mr. Zhu Ning and Mr. Zhu Ning
being the common director.

(ii) Mr. Zhu Ning being the common director.
(iii) Wholly owned by Mr. Zhu Ning directly and

indirectly and Mr. Zhu Ning being the common
director.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

16. EFEFRME @

(c) HRAUES ZEGER
AEREAEERERR@A
ZER - EERREME
BZEH @)
BEAATRENBART
UNFAREERELRES
ETHESRAREAZE
o EERREMZ S 2 Ak
W )

BYsE

(i) 99%MKREBEIERER K=

(ii RERERHAES-

(iii) HASESEEEREER
B RBRERHAES-
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

17. DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 December 2020, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2019: Nil).

18. LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

PEAEARAH

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately RMB294,671,000
(2019: approximately RMB591,874,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of approximately 16,405,802,000 (2019:
approximately 14,896,270,000) in issue during the
year.

Diluted loss per share

As exercise of the Group's outstanding share
options and warrants for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 would be anti-dilutive,
no diluted loss per share was presented for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

—EosEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

17.

18.

2

BE_ZZHF+_H=+—HL
FEUTERNIBIREARE B
BREMARETERRKENRE CF
—NE EE) e

SR

(a)

(b)

SREXEIE
SEREXABEEILREBEARF
BEEABEFEFEROAR
#294,671,00070 (Z&—H
FHANREMK591,874,000
70) REFERBEEITEER 2
T F1¥9#4916,405,802,000
B (ZZEE—h & 8
14,896,270,0008%) mMst& o

SRIEERE

R TEBE-S-SER
—E—hE+ZA=+—8
14 B 2 S B 2 0 R AT
R R EER
WU YRE_F-FER
—E—hEF+ZA=+—8
IE4F [ 01 4 2 51145 B4 6 45

Ho
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AL =
e MFEERRMIEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_TS-ZHE+_A=+—HILEE
19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. Y% -BERKEE
Furniture
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE FERK
VI E(E WARE RE A%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®EF T AEBF T NS AREFT
Cost [
At 1 January 2019 AZ_E—-NE—-F—H 20,365 36,870 1,531 58,766
Additions HE 32,372 10,429 - 42,801
Disposals HE - (3,500) - (3,500)
Written off HisH (9,220) (511) - (9,731)
Exchange differences EREZR - 12 - 12
At 31 December 2019 RIZ-h&E+-B=1+—H
and 1 January 2020 RZE"FE—-F—H 43517 43,300 1,531 88,348
Additions wE 16,260 7355 - 23,615
Disposals HE - (2,096) - (2,096)
Written off 3 (3,766) (1,241) - (5,007)
Exchange differences [ERELE - (30) - (30)
At 31 December 2020 AZEEF+"/B=+—H 56,011 47288 1,631 104,830
Accumulated depreciation ERiE
At 1 January 2019 RZZ—-h&E—F—H 8,870 11,668 664 21,202
Charge for the year AFERT 6,746 9,677 297 16,720
Disposals HE - (2,984) - (2,984)
Written off HisH (6,940) (470) - (7410)
Exchange differences ERELR - 8 - 8
At 31 December 2019 RIE—-hFE+-A=+—H
and 1 January 2020 R_E-FF—F—H 8,676 17899 961 27536
Charge for the year AEEHRS 8,291 10,623 278 19,192
Disposals HE - (1,927) - (1,927)
Written off HisH (3,462) (1,189) - (4,651)
Exchange differences ERER - (25) - (25)
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZF+-F=+—H 13,505 25,381 1,239 40,125
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2020 R_E-EE+"A=+—H 42,506 21,907 292 64,705
At 31 December 2019 RZE2-hE+ZB=+—H 34,841 25,401 570 60,812
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 HE_ T ZFE+_A=+—HIEE
19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ME- -BERSE @
(Cont’d)
Certain lessors of the leased office premises and MERASMREIBEZAETH
staff quarters had not provided the Group with valid MAXRBAEBRRBEENEEZES
title certificates or relevant authorisation documents WARR IR LIGBRRE B
evidencing their rights to lease the property to the Group. MPAREEBZEN RZZEZ2F
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the +ZA=+—HEIZE—AF+Z
carrying amount of leasehold improvements related to B=1+—B HEzEYEFMRsHEE
these premises was amounted to RMB9,557000 and SEERREE D B A AR 9,557,000
RMB532,000 respectively. Tt AR 532,000t ©
20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. FREEE
Leased
properties
HEME
RMB’'000
ARBFT
At 1 January 2019 nZZ2—h%—HA—H 215,496
Additions NE 44,358
Depreciation e (47,072)
Early termination of leases RERILHRE (7572)
Exchange differences PE 2 =28 (64)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 f:’v‘ hWE+ZB=+—H
—E-FHF—H—H 205,146
Additions =1 87,204
Depreciation e (47,445)
Early termination of leases REBEZRILEE (3,912)
Exchange differences PE 2 = %8 (140)
At 31 December 2020 A ZEZBF+_A=+—H 240,853
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont'd)

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

20. FREEE®

2020 2019
“EIFFE  TENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AERBTT

Depreciation expenses on FREEETERS

right-of-use assets 47,445 47072
Interest expense on lease liabilities HMEaBHNERX

(included in finance cost) Gt AR PR A) 19,525 15,701
Expenses relating to short-term lease B HATE B X 9,931 12,760
Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note MERESMHEEFBEHNH T
50(f). 50(f)

For both years, the Group leases various offices and staff
quarters for its operations. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1
year to 10 years. No extension options and termination
options are included in the lease contracts except for one

PREFE AEEHEESEBRAE
RETEERNREEE - BEKRRD
RBFENERETHE B3LER
EMEFR R &1 o 72 8 TE A B HAPR K o
SRR BCHEARR A EEEREH
ZERLETEIRFNTENZE
fR o

HESNZEERRIFEEI0FE]
Mo fFr—IRAESN  HE S AMEE
MR R R - AR E AR

lease. The Group assesses at lease commencement date BB T A EB S ITHIEHREE
that the Group will exercise the extension options and B UEREREEHAR M8/
consider will extend the lease term, the related extension st AHEBEE-

periods are included in the measurement of lease

liabilities.

Certain lessors of the leased office premises and MERAGAREIBEZATH

staff quarters had not provided the Group with valid
title certificates or relevant authorisation documents
evidencing their rights to lease the property to the
Group. As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019,
the carrying amount of right-of-use assets related to
these premises was amounted to RMB66,106,000 and

RMB4,865,000, respectively.
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MAXAAEEBRHVEENERES
WAERAR S LGB E B E
HEFAEBR Z#F - RIZZE
F+ZA=+—HEZZE—NEF
+ZB=1+—H > HZEWEERH
ZEAREERAESHIAARE
66,106,0007T % A K #4,865,0007T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BEEEF+_B=+—HIFE
21. GOODWILL 21. B8
Youzan Japan
Kabushiki
Kaisha
(Formerly
Third party known as
payment Merchant %\ & 1tIBS)
services services (“Youzan
(“CGUA") (“CGU B") Japan”) Total
g
Youzan Japan
(FiEH

FZHEM GE St @31IBS)
IR# (MR & (REEE ("Youzan
EXEAL B{iB]) Japan J) A%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T ARETT ARET T

Cost D%
At 1 January 2019, RZE-NFE—-B—H

31 December 2019 “2-hE+ZB=+—H

and 1 January 2020 &:;ﬁi’—\,ﬁfﬁ—ﬁ—ﬂ 762,288 1,622,083 - 2,384,371
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—BRB AT

(note 50(al) (MF5E50(a)) - - 1,029 1,029
Exchange difference EREZR - - 3 3
At 31 December 2020 R_EZRF+°A=1+—H 762,288 1,622,083 1,032 2,385,403

Accumulated impairment losses ~ BER{EE

At 1 January 2019 RZE-h&E—-F—H 227658 - - 227658
Impairment loss recognised FNHED 2 RERE

in the year 193,304 - - 193,304
At 31 December 2019 AZE-NE+"B=1—H

and 1 January 2020 kZEZEF—F—H 420,962 - - 420,962
Impairment loss recognised ENERZHERE

in the year - - 1,047 1,047
Exchange difference ERELE - - (15) (15)
At 31 December 2020 RIZZZEF+ZA=+—H 420,962 - 1,032 421,994
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2020 R_EZRF+A=1+—H 341,326 1,622,083 - 1,963,409
At 31 December 2019 RZE2-hE+ZB=+—H 341,326 1,622,083 - 1,963,409
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

21. GOODWILL (conta)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that
are expected to benefit from that business combination.

CGU A and CGU B

The carrying amount of goodwill (before any impairment)
had been allocated as follows:

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

21.

HE @
REBEHNESZBHENRIKE
ROMEBHRRNZEREHPZ
BrREELFBEN ((ReELES
fi) °

REELENARBEELE

B

BENKREE (CEAEER) EX
[T

2020 2019
—ECEH —ET-NE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFIT

Third Party Payment Services (CGU A) B XIRF
(IR ELEBAIA) 762,288 762,288

Merchant Services (CGU B) 5 X IR 75

GR&ESEEBNMB) 1,622,083 1,622,083
2,384,371 2,384,371

Computer software is allocated to third party payment
services segment (CGU A). E-commerce applications and
distribution network are allocated to merchant services
segment (CGU B). Trademarks with indefinite useful
lives are allocated to merchant services segment (CGU
B), and its carrying value at the end of reporting period
is RMB941,953,000 (2019: RMB941,331,000). Details
of these intangible assets are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

21.

PEAEARAH

GOODWILL (cont'a)

CGU A and CGU B (Cont'd)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been
determined on the basis of their value in use using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions
for the discounted cash flow method include those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted
gross margin and revenue during the period. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are
determined on industry growth rate in foreseeable period
based on management experience and on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area
in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted
gross margin and revenue are based on past practices
and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from
the most recent financial budgets approved by the
directors for the next five years with the residual period
using terminal growth rate of 3% (2019: 3%). This
terminal growth rate does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant markets. The Group
has engaged independent external valuers to assist
management to estimate the recoverable amounts of
CGUs.

SBoBEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

21.

BE @

REELTBEUARBEELEN
B @&
REELEBUZ ] WEERBEDERF
RBRERETRB At BEEREER
EE -MIRRERELMHEEZEE
BREEARNERAMER ERE
FAEEN R R W - AEEF AR KR
BRI HISHEBREZ T ERIR
TEEBUZIFERRZRIRATLE
RIEFFRHIE B RFARFEEEL
BRAERBENTEERE K%
REeELBUREEBRTHERZ
RATHEEERXEE -REEF
R WaTh B EEA RIEHAT 5
ERAEE

AREBERBLCESMHENREKRSF
ROV BEEERURESRENE
A FFHAEER ZRIRIERES
3% (CEE—HE :3%) cZRIFEE
EXABBEHMBZFHARAER
EoAEE D REB I/ EBLEMT
BEEBEHtRSEEBUNATU
EEZEE
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

21. GOODWILL (conta)

CGU A and CGU B (Cont'd)

At end of reporting period, the pre-tax rates used to
discount the forecast cash flows in each CGU of the
Group are as follows:

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

21.

BE @

REEFEUARREELEN
B@&
RIBEHHR BUBEAEES RS
EABUENRSRE S RRAL
24T

2020 2019
B —“EZ—hEF
Third Party Payment Services (CGU A) F= AT IR
CREESLEBMA) 20.1% 18.6%
Merchant Services (CGU B) 78 X R 75
(REESEBNB) 20.5% 21.9%

At 31 December 2020, in CGU A within third party
payment services segment, the recoverable amount
calculated based on value in use exceeded carrying value
by approximately RMB71 million. The pre-tax rates used
to discount the forecast cash flow of CGU A change from
20.1% to 22.5% would remove the remaining headroom.

At 31 December 2020, in CGU B within merchant
services segment, the recoverable amount calculated
based on value in use exceeded carrying value (after
gross up adjustment of goodwill attributable to non-
controlling interests) by approximately RMB1,215 million.
The pre-tax rates used to discount the forecast cash
flows of CGU B change from 20.5% to 24.4% would
remove the remaining headroom.

Youzan Japan
The carrying amount of Youzan Japan's goodwill has been
fully impaired by management during the year.
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R _ZF+_H=+—H'HE
=HAENRBEDE ZREEEEMA

S REAEESENIWEIEEE
HBHEREEA AR 71,000,0007T
BAUMIRREES EMAZTERIR
EMEZBRMATFZEH201%E A
22.5% > B EIREREE

RZEZZEF+-A=+—8>
MEXRFDH 2R ELEENB
mMs REABESENTKRE S
EBHEREE (WHIEERERIE
R EETEMAARER OARK
1,215,000,0007c° AU RLIRIR S &
S EBNBZEAIRERE X BRRATF
KE20.5%E524.4% @ &G IRERR
R o

Youzan Japan
RER > BEE B Youzan Japanid
E7REETRHEHRE

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE
22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2. ®\EEE
Computer
software
(internally E-commerce Distribution
generated) applications network Trademark Total
BRaH BF
(REEE) B ER DM [1: Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT AR¥ETT

Cost D
At 1 January 2019 fZE-hE—-F—H 4527 832,949 185,069 941,331 1,963,876
Additions RE 203 - - - 203
At 31 December 2019 A_E-NE+A=+-8k

and 1 January 2020 Z2°ZF-F—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 941,331 1,964,079
Additions hE - - - 622 622
At 31 December 2020 RIEZEHE+ZA=+—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 941,953 1,964,701
Accumulated amortisation and RREHERAESE

impairment loss
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—hE—F—H 2,705 87579 48,263 - 138,547
Charge for the year AEERY 441 124,381 68,544 - 193,366
At 31 December 2019 RIE-NAE+ZA=1t—-HkK

and 1 January 2020 ZETZE—-F—H 3,146 211,960 116,807 - 331,913
Charge for the year FEEHRR 453 124,428 68,262 - 193,143
At 31 December 2020 RZZ2ZEF+-A=+—H 3,599 336,388 185,069 - 525,056
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2020 RZZZ2H5+-F=+—H 1,131 496,561 - 941,953 1,439,645
At 31 December 2019 RZZ—h&E+-B=+—H 1,684 620,989 68,262 941,331 1,632,166
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22.

284

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Conta)

The average remaining amortisation period of computer
software, e-commerce applications and distribution
network are 2 years (2019: 3 years), 4 years (2019: 5
years), and fully amortised (2019: 1 years) respectively.

Computer software is allocated to third party payment
services segment (CGU A). E-commerce applications and
distribution network are allocated to merchant services
segment (CGU B).

The trademarks are used in the merchant services
segment (CGU B) to enhance products’ perceived value
and corporate image. The trademarks have legal life of
ten years but is renewable every ten years at little cost
and is well established. The Group intends to renew the
trademark continuously and evidence supports its ability
to do so. The trademarks are regarded and assessed to
have indefinite useful lives as there is no foreseeable limit
to the period over which these assets are expected to
generate cash flows for the Group.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

22.

BREE @

BB BT BHEARRD BAK
2 PR BEHB R A2E (T
—NE I 3F) AE (CT-NE B
) RAYHBE (CT—AE 1H)

B DEES =D XNRBED
B OARTELENA) - EFEHFER
RoEPEEIEEBRRE DM R
EELEMB) ©

ZEBRARBRRB OB CREE
FEBB) RS ERNRAMEE
REETLR BROEEEHRT
FoRE+FEREMKER BEZ
VYREFNEE - AEBBRFESBHR
B BREBERTREARENIIET
F-HRZFEERPIAEEHR
wRFEEME Z AR 0] 78 R A
R WZEBRRES KT ERES
EIRERFR-

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
171 R e |

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

23.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of major subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020

are as follows:

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

23. RHEBABZIRE
TEWBARN _E_ZEF+_1

=t+—HZFBUOT:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B3 AN
218 RS E BRIKEMRS BREERZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE i
Country Praise Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands 769,231 ordinary shares of 100% - Investment holdings
("Country Praise”) ("BVI") no par value
Country Praise Enterprises Limited HERELEE 769,231 R EHEE 2 BB REER
(TCountry Praise ) (EEELEHE))
Youzan Technology Inc. Cayman Islands 1,513,127,641 shares 51.9% - Investment holdings
(Formerly known as Qima Holdings (2019: 1,478,127580 (2019:
Ltd.) (“Youzan Technology”) which included 50.47%)
44,343,827 shares
subject to Baidu
approval) of US$0.00001
par value
BERRABRAR HEHE 1,513,127641 REREE 51.9% REER
(FIF8Qima Holdings Ltd.) 0.00001% 702 ;& 17 (CE-NEF:
(MBERR) =N 50.47%)
1,478,127580%%
B1544,343,8278%
BREE#E)
Splendid Win Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
HHETEBRAT aE 10,000%7T RERR
Moderntimes Payment Limited BVI US$102,041 - 51%  Investment holdings
("Moderntimes")
Moderntimes Payment Limited RBRYES 102,001 73 REER
("Moderntimes J)
Qima Investment Limited (“QMI") Hong Kong HK$0.01 - 51.9%  Investment holdings
(2019:
50.47%)
Qima Investment Limited 54 0.0187 519% REZR
(rami) CE-hE&:
50.47%)
iREE (bR RELSHERAR  The PRC RMB123,330,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
Beijing Shangyin Investment
Consultancy Co., Ltd. '*
HiRRE (LX) REFHBRAF & AR#123,330,0007 REER

mEARERAT —T_TEEH
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23.

286

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'a)

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

23. RHMBABIZKRE @

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B
2% SR R BETREMRE BEREZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B ik
TRXREREEHEERAT The PRC RMB101,000,000 - 100%  Provision of third party
Beijing Tiantongsaibo Information payment services,
Technology Co., Ltd. # information system
maintenance and
development services
TRAAEREEREARA HE AE#101,000,0007¢ RHE=AZORE
ERAREEREERY
TR ERB£ERERAR The PRC RMB 150,000,000 - 100%  Provision of third party
Beijing Gaohuitong Commercial payment services
Management Co., Ltd."?*
TREEREEERERARF e AR 150,000,0007¢ RHE=AMRHE
TREHNHERRAS The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Trading of goods
Beijing Zhixiang Chuangfu
Commercial Co., Ltd."?#
EREHENEERRAR 2 FE AR #10,000,0007 BE&Gm
FEIEFEIEREHAEMARE  The PRC RMB14,205,060 - 100%  Investment holding
BRAH
Shenzhen Innovationpay Co., Ltd."?
FIFERRIERE KA HE AR 14,205,0607T RERR
REBEARAE
TRE—EHNEERAS The PRC RMB23,000,000 - 51%  Provision of third party
Beijing Onecomm Technology payment management
Co., Ltd. 124 services and sales of
POS devices
ER—BEMEEERAR e AR %23,000,0007T REE=HFZNEE
IR RHEPOSEE
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZBET_R=-t—HLEE

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'c)  23. MHBABZIRE @

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
BRI
2% SR R BETREMRE BEREZEAL TELE
Direct Indirect
Hi% EifE

MNEBER R BR2AE Hangzhou The PRC US$195,500,045 - 51.9% Internet information service,
Youzan Technology Co., Ltd. '* (2019: US$160,999,985) (2019: wholesale and retail
("Hangzhou Youzan") 50.47%)

MMEERRERAT? H 195,500,045 7 519% EHM@EERSE HE

(MNEE)) CE2-NEF: C2-nE: kZTE
160,999,9853 7T 50.47%)

FNBEERRMBRAT The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 519% Internet information service,
Shenzhen Youzan Information (2019: wholesale and retail
Technology Co., Ltd." 50.47%)

RIBBEERIBRAR H AR #5,000,0007 519% EHMEERE HE

CE—hE: &2%
50.47%)
MNEBENERBRAS The PRC RMB100,000 - 51.9%  Restaurant management and
Hangzhou Youzan Dining Co., Ltd."* (2019: retail
50.47%)
MMEEERERERAR 2 AE100,0007t 519% ZBEBERTE
C2-NE:
50.47%)

KERBEERIARAT The PRC N/A - 51.9%  Internet information
Tianjin Youzan Information (2019: services, wholesale and
Technology Co., Ltd. 50.47%) retail
(" Tianj\'n Youzan")"

XKERBEEBMBRATR s BB 519% EHAEE SRS HE
(%éﬁ%ﬁ CE—h&E: REZE
50.47%)

MIBEHFHRERAG The PRC USD7250,000 - 100%  Investment holdings

MIBEHFREBRAG FE 7250,000% 7T - 100% HEER

FNEAZREBRAF! The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment holdings

FIEANEREERAE FE AE150,000,0007T - 100% HEZR
EERERE (R BRAE The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Factoring and guarantee

business
ElfERERE (RI) BRAR! H AR 150,000,007 - 100% RERERER

2, & Youzan Japan Japan JPY159,267000 - 52.6%  Providing operation services
Youzan Japan Kabushiki Kaisha (2019: 10%, for merchants and
(Formerly known as £z, 211IBS) classifiedas  integrated new retail
("Youzan Japan”) financial assets solutions for beauty

at FVTOCI) industries in Japan
= & 4 Youzan Japan SRS 159,267000H El - 526% ABRREMESRE 15
(RIFBIATUEHIBS) CE2-NE: BARERITERMRERN
(MYouzan Japan ) 0% NER SERRAFE
YN
SATEEAM
ZHEBRERZ
MBEE)
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23.

288

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'a)

Note:

(1) The English translation name is for identification purpose
only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese.

(2) In 2020, the registered shares of these subsidiaries were
restricted to transfer freely by a PRC District People's
Procuratorate to facilitate legal investigation not related
to the Group. (2019: Only Beijing Onecomm Technology
Co., Ltd was restricted as at 31 December 2019).

(3) These companies are wholly-foreign owned enterprises
in the PRC.

(4) These companies are limited liability companies in the
PRC.

The above lists the subsidiaries of the Company which
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results for the period or formed a substantial portion of
the assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

23.

RHBARZRE @

B E -

(1

)

(3)

)

RYERLEHSE -ZBEZES
HBRHPX

RIEZTF R ERERERT
BEREZAREBELE ZZWERR
ZEMBGO R —EREE AR
ZRH EHEE (CE2—NF !
FIER—IEHMNBERBRATRZ
BE-NF+A=FT—HXRH) -

ZERABNTEZIIBEEEDR
%0

ZEANBR/RNABEZEREER
EI

ERBIEEDATEREHRRE
BB AEREENEBARID

=

ZHRABNERABFIF EFBA
RHEEMMBATD ZHBERERB
BER AR
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HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (conta) 23. RMBATZIRE @
As at 31 December 2020, bank and cash balances of the N ZETEFF+ZA=+—H K&
Group's subsidiaries deposited with banks in the PRC & B A B FE R PEIIRIT LB T
denominated in HKD, RMB and USD were amounted to ANRERETHEZRITRIRELHE
RMB616,000, RMB658,616,000 and RMB554,981,000 BB AR®616,0000 AR
respectively (2019: RMB656,000, RMB431,258,000 and 658,616,0007T &z A R #6554,981,000
RMB54,000 respectively (re-presented)). Conversion of T (ZE—AF DA ARE
the mentioned balance from RMB into foreign currencies 656,0007T ~ A K15431,258,00070 K&
and from foreign currencies to RMB is subject to AR #54,0007T (KEF)) o Latss
the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and BRAARBRIARIMNERBINER
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of WA ANREBEBR(PRIMNESIER
Foreign Exchange Regulations. B R (fEE ~ EE RN EEIERTE)
The following table shows information on the subsidiaries TREVNGEEHAEEMEBEKX
that have non-controlling interests (“NCI") material to the IR D (TIEER#Em) 2 M
Group. The summarised financial information represents BABIZEK -BRMBEREIERS

amounts before intercompany eliminations. ETREIBYHEAI 2 &8

Youzan Group

BEBEE
2020 2019
Name %18 —EITFE —ZTNEF
Principal place of business/country of TEEEMI M PRC PRC
incorporation AL EIR [ AR

% of ownership interests/voting rights held R REHARIEFERG R
by NCI at end of reporting period PR RS

SERAN 48.10% 49.53%
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'a)

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

23. RHMBABIZKRE @

2020 2019
ZEIEFE Z—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTT AR®TT

At 31 December: ®W+ZB=+—8":
Non-current assets (excluding goodwill) ERBEE (FEEEE) 2,009,886 2,090,707
Current assets BB E 2,051,805 1,246,395
Non-current liabilities SEREEsE (522,855) (492,860)
Current liabilities mENEE (1,494,656) (1,950,801)
Net assets BEFE 2,044,180 893,441
Accumulated NCI KEtFERED 786,134 255,608
Period ended 31 December: #EZ+—-H

=+—HIEMHE :
Revenue (include intersegment revenue) Wz (FH A2 EPE W e 1,575,984 997771
Loss 18 (506,994) (656,148)
Total comprehensive income ZEUWALLEE (488,735) (641,535)
Loss allocated to NCI NEEEIFERER 2518 (251,180) (321,161)
Dividends paid to NCI IR FIEIEREm 2 R - -
Net cash generated from/(used in) %ﬁ%iﬁf@jﬁﬁﬁ/ (PRAD)

operating activities REFER 255,765 (572,841)

Net cash used in investing activities SEEEPIAIREFER (51,650) (50,042)
Net cash generated from financing activities RAE EENPIIFIRE FEE 737,295 768,562
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B MIREFEY)

1B IN$EE 941,410 145,679
Exchange difference bE 0 =28 (32,710) 7814
Cash and cash equivalent at 1 January R—B—HBZEREk

REFEY 415,787 262,294
Cash and cash equivalent at 31 December R+_B=+—HZ

HEkREZEY 1,324,487 415,787
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HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’a) 23. RMBARZIRE @
As at 31 December 2020, bank and cash balances N _EEF+ZHA=+—H'F
of Youzan Group deposited with banks in the PRC BEERERNPREETUARER
denominated in RMB and USD were amounted to ETXEZRITRREESER DA
RMB652,193,000 and RMB554,981,000 respectively A ANREH652,193,00070 & AR
(2019: RMB413,955,000 and RMB54,000 respectively (re- 554,981,0007c (Z&E—HF : D5
presented)). Conversion of the mentioned balance from 2 NE15413,955,0000 & A R #&
RMB into foreign currencies and from foreign currencies 54,0007t (8 FEF)) o LiiASERH A
into RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange RERIARIIMNERBINERIRD A
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, REABB(PEINEEIRIEG ) &
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. (EE-EERNESERTE)
24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 24. MREEQTIZKE
2020 2019
—EBF “ENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
Unlisted investments in the PRC: RHRBEZIELEHEE !
Share of net assets ELBEETFE 1,150 5,174
Goodwill B 32,061 29,823
33,211 34,997
Impairment losses, cumulative RETBERIE (30,041) (30,041)
3,170 4,956
FEAEARAT —T_SE4H 291
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24.
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Contd)

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

Details of the Group's associates at 31 December 2020

were as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Percentage of
equity interest

24. RHEARZRE @
A BB E A F)
BE+—HZ#EmT

SCECFEtC

registration and Registered attributable
Name operation capital to the Grou Principal activities
& [ R
By FEMAAL R HMEER BREEALE FEER
LEREeRERREERAR The PRC RMB5,000,000 49%  Micro business lending
(FizE(a)) o AE#5,000,0007 MEGEER
Shanghai Yu Chang Financial Information
Services Co., Ltd.*
(note (a))
FEEEEEREEARAR (k@)  The PRC RMB1,000,000 20%  Information technology
Shanghai Xueying Information & a2 AR #1,000,0007c development and
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note (a)) consultancy services
ERBMHE R
SRR
TRABRHEBRAR (@) The PRC RMB10,000,000 20%  Provision of consultancy
Beijing Wallet Science and a2 AR 110,000,0007% services for internet
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note (a)) operation
RMEHEES
SRR
EMRTEEREERAR The PRC RMB3,299,112 4.86%  Information technology
(TEMBEF) () f (2019:RMB3,207470) (2019:5%)  development
Guangzhou Kuaizi Information Technology ARM3299 1127t 486% (ZE—HE . (EERMEE
Co., Ltd. (CE—AE: 5%)
("GZ Kuaizi")* (note (a)) AE13,2074707T)

AREREHEBRAT The PRC RMB1,164,023 5%  Information technology
(FRER) (H&Fa) ] AR11,164,0237C development and
Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing Co., consultancy services

Ltd. (“NJ Houjian")* (note (a)) EERAFAER

SRR

ARBEREFEBERAT The PRC RMB12,515,000 36.25%  Online trading

(GaEARE) FE AR#12,515,0007 BERS
Henan Youjian E-Commerce Co., Limited

("Henan Youjian")*
MNEERERIBRAR The PRC RMB5,000,000 45%  Marketing planning
Hangzhou Maizan Brand HE AE15,000,0007T (2019: N/A) &84

Planning Co., Ltd* 5% (ZE—hE:

AER)

EREMEEREERRAT The PRC RMB7142,900 30%  Online and offline retail

(T ) ] AE7142,9007T (2019: N/A) B ERBETEE
Guangdong Huigong Supply Chain 30% (ZE—HE:

Management Co., Ltd.* (“Huigong”) )
* The English translation name is for identification purpose HEXELERDE-ZBRZER

only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese.

HIERHPX o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZTEF+_HA=+—HILEFE

24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd) 24,

Note:

(a) The carrying amount of those associates were fully
impaired in previous years because the directors of the
Company expected that no profit would be generated in
foreseeable future.

Although the Group holds less than 20% of the voting
power of GZ Kuaizi and NJ Houjian, the Group exercises
significant influence over these entities because the
Group is entitled to appoint a director out of the five
directors of these entities.

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's
share of the amounts of all individual immaterial
associates that are accounted for using the equity

REERRZRE @
B E -

(a) RBTEFE ZFHEQTNZIRE
EEZHRE RARTRTES
FAHARN B R R A G EEF R o

FEAEEBEAENRFRERE
BAE20% 2 KB HAREE A X
EMERRNEAEARE) RERS
rEEREREZEEZSEHELT LY
ERPHHEHP—HES-

TRESFETAERRGUEDE
ARZFIBENAERBEATZ
EAE

method.
2020 2019
—TIRFE Z—hNHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARETT
At 31 December: ®w+—B=+—8":
Carrying amounts of interests w2 AREE 3,170 4,956
Year ended 31 December: #=+—-AH
=+—HLEE:
(Loss)/profit for the year, net FEW (EE) wmH o FEE (1,161) 5,289
Other comprehensive income H 2wl A - -
Total comprehensive income 2EUALREE (1,161) 5,289
FEAEARAT T SHER 293




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

24.

25.

294

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (cont'a) 24, MEVZEQNBTIZERE @
The Group has not recognised loss for the year ANEEHABIER-RUIEE A E]
amounting to approximately RMB1,772,000 (2019: Z FREBLAARE,722,0007T (=
RMB1,031,000 for associates other than Henan Z—NF IEERMSNZHE AT
Youjian) for associates other than Huigong. The A ANE11,031,00070)  EHELINR
accumulated losses not recognised were approximately EME AR ZARERREB/BEBRLOIA
RMB3,416,000 (2019: RMB1,644,000 for all associates K 13,416,0007t (ZZ—H4F : /A
other than Henan Youjian) for all associates other than BEMSNZHBEBE AT ABARE
Huigong. 1,644,0007T) ©
As at 31 December 2020, the bank and cash balances of N ZETEFF+ZA=+—H &&E
the Group's associates in the PRC denominated in RMB EREBE AU ARESEZR
amounted to RMB97362,000 (2019: RMB19,323,000). TRIBE&FEN ARTE97362,000
Conversion of the mentioned balance from RMB into 7T (ZE—A%F  AR#¥19,323,000
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into 70) o LA ARB R AIMNE
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control REIMNER AR ARIEBER(FE
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and SMNEE B IRIRG ) Ko (45 08 ~ & T K T BB
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. BIRFTE)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 2. HEAFESATHMZAWK
mIRZ M BEE
2020 2019
ZEIEFE Z—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
Unlisted equity securities JE LR AGE 117,024 97457

As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of these unlisted
equity securities were valued by applicable market
multiples approach and guideline transaction method.
(2019: market multiples approach).

R_B_BF+_RB=+—H "%
FFEHRAFBSFZAFEEE
Rz BB EBERESIRZE(CF
—NEF I MIBEHE) ETEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA—DAN
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

25.

26.

PEAEARAH

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (cont’a) 25, ?ﬁ@zF{E%t]\T:EEfﬁéE”&
mIRZITBEE ©®
Financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in the BATEATEMEZEREEZ
following currencies: HMHBEEVUATIEESHE
2020 2019
—EEHF — N
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFIT
US dollars (“USD") FEt (&) 42,354 696
RMB AR 74,670 96,761
117,024 97457
EARNEST MONEY PAID FOR A 26. FLBEKRECIHES

POTENTIAL INVESTMENT

On 24 December 2020, Hangzhou Youzan signed an
agreement for potential investment to acquire 15%
new issued equity interest of EEHABEHHERIEAR
‘A@] (Shanghai Burgeon Software Technology Co., Ltd.)
(“Shanghai Burgeon”) at a consideration of approximately
RMB212 million. RMB50 million earnest money was paid
on 28 December 2020.

On 19 January 2021, Hangzhou Youzan entered into
capital agreement and shareholder agreement with
Shanghai Burgeon and its existing shareholders to
confirm the acquisition. RMB50 million earnest money
will become part of the consideration and the remaining
balance of approximately RMB162 million was settled by
Hangzhou Youzan on 22 January 2021.

* The English translation name is for identification purpose
only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese.

“ECTEER

TR E+"ATAMA
FERE-REEREWE LB
tsRERHERKAERAST (TLE
8181 Z15% M ETRIE  ERK
ARB2288T -BERZT-FF
TR+ \BXHEEARE
B0H &It

A ZE2-_—F—RFB+thB -mMAE
BRI BREREFERRILE
BNV ERE PR E RN
REs0OEETZHESRIERANRE
Zz—8n > WARKE1628E T 268
EERVWNEER T -_—5—8
“+TH&B-

* BXEZREHBE-ZBREZESD
HIBRHPX o
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

27.

28.

296

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

INVENTORIES 27 &
2020 2019
—EIEE —ZT—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFRT AR®TFT
Finished goods RN MR 1,384 1,517
As at 31 December 2020, an allowance was made for A TETEF+_A=+—H &

estimated irrecoverable inventories for approximately

SEAAWEIZFEFHEBOAR

RMB6,025,000 (2019: RMB5,943,000). #6,025,0007T (ZZE—NF : AR
5,943,0007T) °

TRADE RECEIVABLES 28. FEURBR=R
2020 2019
—_ 7 —_= "EE = _j-l..ﬂz
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®TFIT
Trade receivables FE UL BR =X 19,813 17075
Allowance for doubtful debts REREIME (17,992) (16,730)
1,821 345

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group usually
does not grant any credit term to customers unless
some special cases. (2019: the Group's trading terms
with customers are mainly on credit. The credit terms
generally range from 25 to 90 days).

R8&EE—_ZE-_TF+"A=+—H
IEFEE > BRERBERIIN KEBEB
BLERTEREMAEER &F
—NF AERRFFEZEGKEHE
EAEE-FEEH—MHRNF25E90
H) e
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fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

28.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont'a)

The aging analysis of trade receivables based on the
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

28. FEUWRBRFR @@

FEUERRR (REZRMFE  LEH
PREEE) 2 BREGDATIOT ©

2020 2019

—EBF “ETNF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFT AREBTT

0 to 120 days 0&E120H 1,821 345
Over 120 days 120B - -
1,821 345

As at 31 December 2020, an allowance was made
for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of
approximately RMB17992,000 (2019: RMB16,730,000).

R ZE_EFEF_A=+—H M
StABIUR (O Z FEUAR AR E B 29
AK#517992,00070 (ZTE2—HF A

R #%16,730,0007T) ©

Reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables: FEURBR R8s 2 HHER ¢
2020 2019
—EIEE —ZT—NEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®Fx ARETFT
At 1 January n—A—H 16,730 15,909
Allowance for the year FREE 1,262 821
At 31 December W+-—B=+—H 17,992 16,730
297
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BHECZTEF+_A=+—HLEFE

29. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER  29. FA{TRIE-REREMEWR
Bi=]

RECEIVABLES H
2020 2019
—ECEFE —ZT-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®TFIT
(Re-presented)
(B &)
Prepayments in relation to RS ARFEERE 2
advertising services SEANEEE] 269,836 412,127
Other prepayments HAMFETIB 116,653 120,534
Deposits B 13,712 30,458
Loans to others (note) mEMALTIEHZ
B () 10,610 3,036
Other receivables restricted ERANGEEEEST
for settling settlement obligations Z HEWERIE 347,951 346,483
Other receivables Hh g zis 50,556 31,433
809,318 944,071
Analysed as: aNiT=
Non-current assets EREEE 3,209 17490
Current asset MBIEE 806,109 926,581
809,318 944,071
Note: As at 31 December 2020, a loan to a potential investee izt : RZEZE2EF+"HA=+—H"18

amounting to RMB10,610,000 were guaranteed by a
third party and repayable on or before 22 May 2021. The
loan is interest free and denominated in RMB.

At 31 December 2019, a loan amounting to RMB3,036,000
(principial RMB3,000,000 and accumulated outstanding
interest RMB36,000) were guaranteed by third party and
repayable on 19 April 2020. The loan principal balance
amounting to RMB3,000,000 bears interest of 4.34% per
annum. The loan was repaid during the year. The loan is
denominated in RMB (note 16(c)).

BEREEFIEHZERARE
10,610,0007cHH— % E = H iR
BR_E_—FRA-+"H=-Z
BIEZ ZERNRERUAR
EREE

RZ—-hE+B=+—H —
$ AR¥3,036,000c 2 B (&
%A AR 13,000,00070 ° Btk
BRI E A ARK36,0007T) HE=
HER BR_E_FTEMAB+A
REE ZERZASHBEARE
3,000,000701#%4.34% 2 FE F) K5t
B -ZEREBNRFEREE - ZEMN
AR STHE (MisE16(c)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZTEF+_HA=+—HILEFE

29. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER  29. FA{TRIE-REREMEWR

RECEIVABLES (conta) 18 (%)

As at 31 December 2020, an allowance was made for N_E2-EF+"HA=+—H" @
estimated irrecoverable prepayment, deposits and other et A ElZFBNRIE - RE R
receivables of approximately RMB8,539,000 (2019: HMEKRREBEEEEGEOAREK
RMB27576,000). 8,639,0007T (ZZE—Nn&F : AR

27.576,0007T) ©

Reconciliation of allowance for prepayments, deposits FETFRIE ~ %5 R H A FEWGRIB
and other receivables: ZHIR !

2020 2019

“—EIEF ZT—hHF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT ARBTT

(Re-presented)

Ge==pl)
At 1 January w—A—H 27576 31,624
Allowance for the year FREHE 51 382
Reversal of allowance for the year F (O] (19,088) (4,430)
At 31 December R+=-B=+—H 8,539 27576
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g A
777 N

AATS AR MIEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

29. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 29.

30.

300

RECEIVABLES (Cont'a)

The carrying amounts of the Group's prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are denominated in the

following currencies:

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

FAfTRRIA ~ & R H UL RR
18 @)

AEBBANRIA & KR E MBI
BZREEDUTIEREE !

2020 2019
—E2ITF Z—NHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
RMB AERH& 804,420 935,845
HKD ATT 2,061 2,01
Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE (THE.) 2,837 6,215
809,318 944,071
CAPITALISED CONTRACT COSTS 30. EXEELIMA
2020 2019
ZEIBF ZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®ETT
Incremental costs of obtaining contracts BEIBMAREGNZ
capitalised — Subscription Solutions Lg% N= N 181,712 110,266
Fulfilment costs of third party B TIRBEL M
payment services 13,548 18,317
195,260 128,583
Analysed as: aNIT=
Non-current assets ERBEE 24,464 9,790
Current assets TMENEE 170,796 118,793
195,260 128,583
Amortisation recognised as selling PR EHARR SR A
expenses related to subscription EASTRERR R S 22 ERE 2
solutions during the reporting period HERRS 212,842 161,438
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fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

31.

PEAEARAH

INDEMNIFICATION ASSETS AND
WITHHOLDING TAX PAYABLES

Estimated withholding tax payables based on 10%
of estimated capital gain (“Estimated Capital Gain”)
on indirect equity transfer of Hangzhou Youzan was
recognised upon acquisition of Youzan Group. Estimated
Capital Gain is the difference of market value of
consideration shares issued at 18 April 2018 and 51%
Youzan Group equity contributed by the sellers.

Indemnification asset equals to the carrying amount of
the estimated withholding tax payables were recognised
at the same time because the sellers agreed to indemnify
the Company for losses and penalties should the
Company being requested by PRC tax authority to pay
the withholding tax and penalties, if any.

All sellers settled the above said tax in from 2018

to 2020. As at 31 December 2020, no outstanding
withholding tax payables and indemnification assets.

SRCBEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

31.

BEEEREMTENR

BB EBZREEZEZ10%E
stEAWE (MEstEARRT)) 518
ZEFENBEIRREEEEEE
RipEss o st EARR@m/H I =T — N\
FOB+NBETZAEBRMNZS

BEHEBSFERMZI%EBERKE
ZEFRe

BEBESNEEATAINRZER
H1E > ThRIFRERD  RAREPER
TR 2 RN B S TR K SR
WAE) BARERERALTZIE
KR EITR

FIEERHAR - N\GEFEZZEZ
TEERLAMBE- R T -TF
TR =+—H > BEREFRINIRMR
RBEEE-
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

32. LOANSTO AN EMPLOYEE AND A 2. AI—%EER—MEAKAE
RELATED COMPANY fEHZ &
Accrued Accrued
Principal interest Principal interest
balance at as at balance at as at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Party Terms of loan Note 2020 2020 2019 2019
A\ZEZEE AZEZEE RIB—hE RIZ—HE
+ZB=+-BH +ZBA=+-H +IZB=+-H +ZEB=1+-H
Ll BHER FitsE 2R ZETIS ZEREERR ZIESHIE
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT ARETFT ARETFT
(Re-presented)
(& =7))
Non-current
RS
A employee Unsecured, repayable on 24 December (ii) 2,650 - 2,650 -
2026, bearing interest of 0% per
annum in first 5 years and 2.5% per
annum in the remaining years.
—%E8 ERE AR T RET_AZ+0EA
BB BISFEZ ERERO%RETEE
ZERER25%
Current
piik
Loans to a related company
m—ERHARELZER
Related Company A Unsecured, interest free and repayable on (i) - - 800 -
or before 18 November 2020
FBABA EEE GENBR_E-TE+-A
+NBHZ AR
2,650 - 3,450 -
Note: BT
(i) A director of the Company, Mr. Zhu Ning, is the director (i) AARERREREBZEAH AT
of this related company. It is 99% owned by Mr. Zhu ZEFE-REIEFERIZE—N
Ning as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. F+ZA=1T—H KRELLHA
H99% 1% ©
(ii) The employee is the senior management of the Group. (ii) ZRERAEBZSMEERE -
ECL of the above loans have been assessed by the Group KEBETFHLMERZTEREE
and considered minimal. All loans are denominated in iR WRAEM-FIBEERHIMUA
RMB. RMSHHE o
302 CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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AR e B ERARMYEE
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

33. AMOUNTS DUE FROM A NON-
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND A RELATED
COMPANY

(a) Amount due from a non-controlling

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

33. BR—EMEBATIFERAR
R B — i RA 2 B 7RI

(a)

R — B AT IEER

shareholder of subsidiaries is as BEERFRIAWT -
follows:
Maximum
Balance at amount
31 December Balance at outstanding
2020 1 January 2020 during the year
RZEZZHF
+ZB RIZTZTF
=+—H —HA—H FRRE
Name e ZAEER 2 EEE KEEEH
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®F AR®EFT ARETTT
Mr. JOONG Chi-Wei hEEE L 260 260 260

The amount was unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, no allowance

was made for estimated irrecoverable amount due
from a non-controlling shareholder of subsidiaries.

TEEEHRAT —TTEFH

ZRE A IR R B A
EREE-

RIB-BRER-T—NE
+ZA=+—8 BERER
— 2 HBATFERRE
fert AT Bl B B o
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

33. AMOUNTS DUE FROM A NON- 33. EW—HMEBLRIEERAR
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER OF R — AR ATIRIE @)
SUBSIDIARIES AND A RELATED
COMPANY (cont'd)

(b) Amount due from a related company is (b) FEUR—FEIRAE A EFRIEYN

as follows: T
Maximum
Balance at amount
31 December Balance at outstanding
2020 1 January 2020 during the year

RZBZEE
+ZB RZ-T-TF

=+—H —HA—H FARD
Party A Z4EER KRR REEEHE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF AREFTT AREFTT
Related company A BE A EA 452 634 1,950

The amount was unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, no allowance
was made for estimated irrecoverable amount
due from a related company. The amounts were
denominated in RMB.
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— R A B Z s A A [El
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_S-SE+-A=+—HILEE
34. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES 34. ZIRHISRITAEER
2020 2019
“EIEF “ZT—AHF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

For settlement of amounts payable to AREERNREEZ
employees EEE] 24,474 -
Frozen by a PRC District People’s EhE—HME ARSRN
Procuratorate to facilitate legal RIEAREAREE
investigation not related to the Group W2 AERE 30,436 266
Pledged as security of banking facilities EIREIRITTIRENRES 3,504 4,307
58,414 4,573
All restricted bank balances were denominated in RMB. FREZBHIRITHEBRIEIUARES
fEe
Conversion of the above balances from RMB into foreign PiEHRBEARERIARINERSE
currencies and from foreign currencies to RMB is subject SME R NRIEREE (PEISME
to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations BIRRGI) K (4508 ~ S T EBIR
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of FRE Do

Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

35.

36.

306

BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK

The Group places mandatory reserve funds with the
People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC") and the amount is
determined by the PBOC from time to time. The amount
is interest bearing (note 9) (2019: The amount is non-
interest bearing).

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

As at 31 December 2020, bank balances of
RMB99,864,000 (2019: RMB108,741,000) were
exclusively designated for the purpose of fulfilling the
Group's settlement obligations as set out in note 43.

Bank and cash balances of the Group deposited with
banks in the PRC and denominated in the following
currencies:

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

35.

36.

FR P RERITRRIE
AEBREEEBEERETEA
RIRFT (TREIARIRITY) - ZAUER
PEIARRIT R B - AR S
B (M39) (CB—NE ZMEH
%®8) o

IRITRIRELEER

ATETEEFE+ " H=+—H>E1T
48R AR 1699,864,0007T (Z&E—H
F . AR#5108,741,0007T) WM =¥43
Pt EMBIEAEREESTRR

AEEFRNRBETLEUTIE
BEHEZIRITRIREAEER

2020 2019
ZEIBF —“ZET—NEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT AR®BFT

HKD BT 633 31,241
RMB AR 658,616 431,258
usD ETT 961,703 273,295
1,620,952 735,794

Conversion of the above balances from RMB into
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

FEFBARBRADINE RSB
SNE R AREARBE(PREINE
EIRRA) Fe (e~ EE R T EEE
RED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 HE_ T ZFE+_A=+—HIEE
37. TRADE PAYABLES 37. FE(TERFR
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of }T&“ﬁ Re (BRFIEmERSE) 2
receipt of goods, is as follows: IREE DU -
2020 2019

—EFITE TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

0 to 90 days 0Z90H 383 -
91 to 180 days 91THZE180H - -
181 to 365 days 181HZE365H - -
Over 365 days 365H M E 4,013 4,013

4,396 4,013
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are RIZEZEFRZZE—NAF+A
denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. —t+—B AEBREMERRZEEE

MARMESTHE.
38. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 38. TREIRERAKHEHMEIFIE
2020 2019

—ETEE —ZT—NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT AR¥TFT

(Re-presented)

(B2 E%))

Deposits received Al s 142,251 106,323
Receipt in advance BRI

— advertising services related (note (i) —ERESR®

(Ft=E()) 19,639 14,980

Receipt in advance — others (note (ii)) FEWERIE — E A (B EE() 39,880 20,996

Accrued salaries FESTLTE 217,843 139,487

Accrued expenses FESTRIS 87,254 48,162

Amounts payable to employees FETE S FIE 24,514 1,908

Other payables H fih & FRIE 89,537 51,735

620,918 383,591
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

38.

39.

308

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES cont'e) 38. FEieERKREMEMTIE @
The carrying amounts of the Group's accruals and other rEBEERERAREMEMNRIBEZ
payables are denominated in the following currencies: EREEILUTIEEEHE !
2020 2019
“EBIEF ETNHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT

RMB AR 604,332 371,91

HKD BT 10,393 9,939

JPY H 209 -

usb ETT 5,984 1,741

620,918 383,591

Note: MIEE -

(i) The amount represented advertising credits received in (i) ZAUBIETE A R IE AR N ER 2
advance from social media. - ba )

(i) The amount represented transaction fee, top-up amount (ii) ZREERZ B EERETERK
for advertisements and promotion fee received in TEEKE BRI HEE -
advance from merchants.

AMOUNT DUETO A NON-CONTROLLING 39. FEff—RMBAS ZIEEER

SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount was unsecured, interest free and repayable
on demand.

RRERTRIE
BREARIER RO RARERE

o

il
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZTEF+_HA=+—HILEFE

40. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 40. &X98RFE

2020 2019
—EIEE —ZT—hHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR¥TT

Billings in advance of BAEEZIRATIER

performance obligation

— Subscription Solutions —EIBBR AR 667,607 454,273
Contract liabilities mainly arise from non-refundable BHNERIEXRE]IEERIEMHA
advance payments in relation to subscription solutions STREMRER S ZAER 2 A RURIETAN
made by subscribed merchants while the underlying o MABRABRFS 8 AR IR it o

services are yet to be provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZE_EF+_A=1+—HIFE
40. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (conta) 40. EN8E®
Movements in contract liabilities: BB EE !
2020 2019

ZEITF T AF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AEBTET

Balance at 1 January R—A—BZz & 454,273 314,890
Increase in contract liabilities as a result HHBERRIEMEIRE

of billing in advance of provision of RT3 28 2 1R B USURR

Subscription Solutions a0 1,261,285 732,946
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of S&4IE&EREREN

recognising revenue during the year Y & Rk (1,047,951) (593,563)
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—HZ#&8% 667,607 454,273

The amount of billings in advance of performance
received that is expected to be recognised as income
after more than one year is RMB56,371,000 (2019:
RMB47567,000).

310

BN —FEBRIBABRAZE R
BRI A AR 56,371,000
T (ZTE—NF: AR¥47567000
7o) °©

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

41.

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

LEASE LIABILITIES 41. HHEARE
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
RIEHEL™® RIEEECRZRAE
2020 2019 2020 2019
“ETF “T-hF ZEZTE —T—hHE
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREFTx ARETFT AR¥FTFR AERETFT
Within one year —ER 33,235 46,028 19,170 31,477
In the second to fifth years, E_FEFEERE
inclusive (BREEEMS) 177,631 126,024 112,445 84,555
After five years EEME 122,716 112,623 110,646 99,593
333,582 284,675 242,261 215,625
Less: Future finance charges RIS W (91,321) (69,050) N/A RERH N/AAFER
Present value of lease obligations TAE&ERE 242,261 215,625 242,261 215,625
Less: Amount due for settlement &, : #1218 8 A EI E8
within 12 months (shown EE 8
under current liabilities) MrREhafE
AR (19,170) (31,477)
Amount due for settlement R12EB & EHREE
after 12 months k¢ 223,091 184,148

The carrying amounts of the Group's for lease
denominated in the following currencies:

SEBREZREAELUTIEE
HE -

2020 2019

—EEF —E—-hE

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®EFx ARETFT

RMB AR & 240,187 214,604

HKD BT 2,074 1,021
242,261 215,625
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

42.

312

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

OTHER LOAN 42. HthE®
2020 2019
—EIEEFE “E-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BFx ARETFT
Other loan from Baidu, at amortised cost REBENHEMER
HEHN AT 2 - 201,337

On 7 August 2019, the Company, two Baidu Inc.’s
wholly owned subsidiaries (namely, Baidu SPV and
Baidu Online) entered into subscription agreement
with Youzan Technology, for issue, sell and allot holding
company 17737531 Youzan Technology's shares (“Baidu
Qima Shares”) to Baidu SPV by cash consideration
of US$177; and Warrants to be issued by the Youzan
Technology to Baidu Online which entitle its holder
the right to purchase 17737531 Baidu Qima Shares. A
deposit in RMB equivalent of the aggregate exercise
price of US$29,999,823 was provided by Baidu Online
to a subsidiary of the Youzan Technology in August 2019
(“Qima Warrants”). In the event that the Warrants are
wholly exercised by its holders, Youzan Technology Inc.
shall be entitled to forfeit all the Baidu Qima Shares at
nil consideration. In the event that the Qima Warrants
expires before it is exercised, any and all Baidu Qima
Shares shall be repurchased by Youzan Technology Inc.
at its original issuing price upon the expiration of the
Warrants.

N ZE-AFENBTtH AREK
Baidu Inc.ZMREEK B AE (B
Baidu SPVzBaidu Online) 25 &7}
R BB BT B E KRS
8177375311 B BRI 1A (TBaidu
Qimaf&19 1) FBaidu SPV:IR&ER
BRI177TEZETRBEERZMABaidu
OnlineE T THIEFE A#FEE
17,7375318%Baidu Qimaf&1p Z 2 8%
#E:E o Baidu Onlinef® —Z&—HEN
BAEBERE—HNE AR MHE
B AE1TH1(829,999,823FE T AR
fﬂﬁt&% (TQimasB B T 1) © 130 8%
HEBHEREATEBITE MBEER
RERABRAEEUASKERKER
BBaidu Qimalg{n o fHQimazd g #E
ERITERIER IBEERRBRER
BIERRREZFEEREBURETE
BE B 1E {0 K 2 ZFBaidu Qimaf&{p o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

42.

43.

PEAEARAH

OTHER LOAN (Cont'a)

The rationale for the arrangement described above is
to facilitate Baidu Online’'s obtaining of the necessary
approvals (“Approvals”) from competent authorities
in the PRC for investing in Youzan Technology Inc.
no later than 30 June 2020. Details of the above
subscription agreement can be found in the Company’s
announcement dated 7 August 2019.

The deposit provided by Baidu Online is accounted for as
loan payable because it is refundable to Baidu Online if
Baidu Online cannot obtain the necessary Approvals.

The fair value of the loan was estimated at
RMB195,200,000 on initial recognition and measured
subsequently at amortised cost.

On 27 May 2020, the Approval was obtained and Qima
Warrant exercised in full by Baidu's affiliate. Details are
set forth in the Company’s announcement dated on 27
May 2020.

SETTLEMENT OBLIGATIONS

Settlement obligations represent payables to merchants
for the third party payment services that the Group
collects from the payment service providers of
consumers. The amounts are due for settlement on
demand and is denominated in RMB.

SRCBEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

42.

43.

Hth&m= @

btz e A EHBaidu Online
ETER B -FEAAZ+HA
RREABREARATDREGHE
TEHPIZ LB (HHE) - B
ER RS RN AAD
BAZT—AENBtHZAL.

Baidu OnlinelgtZ & ARAEN
B3 FAAfHBaidu Onlinefi; B8
MEHEE > BIIB[3R 48 FBaidu Online ©

ZERZ AFERT DG
= ANER1195,200,00070 » H#& 7
$H PR A 5t & o

ACECEBEFETA_+tHHBEE
o RQimasd REZEHE E R
BABHITE -FHBHN AL B
ATETEERRA_+EHZAS

EHEAE
BEEEETEARTES AR
RISH P EE B E 2 X A RS (e
A URER 2 FUUE © SRR AR B R E
B AR EHE
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

44. DEFERRED TAX

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

44. EIERIA

Capitalised
Intangible contract
Tax losses assets costs Total
¢\ (v
RIEGE BEEE AOBE BF

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT ARBTRT AREBTR

At 1 January 2019 RZIZ—NEF
—RB—H
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss for 5t A/ (&) E£R
the year (note 13) B (I5E13)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NEF
and 1 January 2020 +-B=+—-HkK
“ETTE
—B—H
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss for 5t A/ (K #8) E X
the year (note 13) B (FEE13)
At 31 December 2020 RIZBZEF
+-B=+-8

314

94,616 (273,534) (13,650) (192,668)
72,975 28,930 (2,891) 99,014
167,491 (244,604) (16,541) (93,654)
28,214 28,810 (11,738) 45,286
195,705 (215,794) (28,279) (48,368)
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VA—DAN
171 R e |

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

a4.

DEFERRED TAX (Cont )

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for consolidated statement of financial position purpose:

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

44. RIERIE ()
U T AR BRRRmIFL 2
SEILIRIBRER AT -

2020 2019
—EIBF “ZENF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRT AR®BTT

Deferred tax assets IRICIRIEE B
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIEEE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of RMB1,634,928,000 (2019: RMB1,420,830,000)
available for offset against future profits.

As at 31 December 2020, deferred tax assets of
RMB195,705,000 (2019: RMB167,491,000) were
recognised in respect of unused tax losses of
RMB1,304,699,000 (2019: RMB1,116,607000) arising
from a major subsidiary as according to its forecast, the
Directors have exercised their judgement to assess that
there will be sufficient future taxable profits available to
offset against the unused tax losses. These tax losses
will expire from 2024 to 2030 (2019: from 2024 to 2029).

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the remaining RMB330,229,000 (2019: RMB304,223,000)
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. These tax losses will expire from 2021 to
2030 (2019: from 2021 to 2029).

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

195,705 167491
(244,073) (261,145)
(48,368) (93,654)

RIREHR AEBETHRIEHEE
RKimF 2 RBEARMBEEAARE
1,634,928,0007T (ZZE—HE: AR
#1,420,830,0007T) °

N_E2EF+"A=+—H —8F
FENBARRBEEBARERER
AR EEIE AR 1,304,699,0007T

—Z2—NfF . AR¥1,116,607000
) EREERBEE AR K
195,705,0007c (ZZE—NE : AR
167,491,0007T) » EEITEE A&
MEF A B 2 R IRERR R F]
AR RS EMBEIR - ZEMR
BEBRN_ZE_OFE-Z=-F
FCE—NE ZE_NFE_ZT
ZNE) B

R R & A SRR 2 8] 78R
BEEs T RBARNBEEARE
330,229,0007C (ZE—NF : ARKE
304,223,0007T) fEsE LL%ﬁIE,é)%"
ZERBEHBERN _ZEZ—FF
Z=2F (CE—NF 2T E
EE"NF) B

315
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

45. SHARE CAPITAL 45. 7
2020 2019
k-3 ZE-NEF
Number of Number of
shares Amount Amount shares Amount Amount
BE G Bt &E  RNYE i C| Erat|
Note ‘000 HK$'000 RMB'000 '000 HK$'000 RMB'000
fisE Tk TET ARETR T TAT ARETR
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of ~ SREE0.01ETT
HK$0.01 each ZERER 20,000,000 200,000 20,000,000 200,000
Ordinary, issued and L@ E&TK
fully paid: e
At 1 January n—B—H 15,465,807 154,658 128,665 13,442,530 134,425 111,350
Share issued under  1RIEECE 1T
olacing B @ 1,240,000 12,400 11,324 . . -
Share issued under  1RIEFRE T
subscription e 1n (b) - - - 1,719,030 17190 14,717
Exercise of share TRt
option 27596 276 243 - - -
Exercise of warrant  {TfERRREE
shares B 1n 48blvii) 520,000 5,200 4,749 - - -
Allotment of Awarded @5 5E A B2
Shares to Trustee RENRR (D - - - 304,247 3,043 2,598
At 31 December ®+=RH
=1+—H 17,253,403 172,534 144,981 15,465,807 154,658 128,665
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

45. SHARE CAPITAL (conta)

Note:

(a)

PEAEARAH

On 8 April 2020, the Company entered into placing
agreement with 2 placing agents in respect of
1,240,000,000 new shares of the Company to be
allotted and issued at HK$0.64 per share. The placing
were completed on 17 April 2020 and the net proceeds
from the placing was approximately HK$784,077000
(approximate RMB716,052,000).

On 2 April 2019, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with 5 subscribers in respect of
1,719,030,188 new shares of the Company to be
allotted and issued at HK$0.53 per share (share price).
The subscriptions were subsequently completed in
April 2019 and the net proceeds from the placing
was approximately HK$910,175,000 (approximate
RMB779,229,000).

SRCBEER

W ECECEF+_A=+—HIEE

45. IR @)

5T -

(a)

(b)

RIE_ZEFMNANH A AFH
M E N IERILER0.64BTHE
F AL 2% K 8597 2.1,240,000,0008 7
NEHRMEIUERERZ -BRER
RIZZZTFEMB+tHER i
EFTSTIE B4 A784,077,0008
7t (89 AR %6716,052,0007T) ©

RIEBE—HENE QA mEEHE
RABBAGTILRE RS kA
NEBIRERZH0.538 7T (BR1HD
1B4%) B8 K& 85171,719,030,188k%
HRD -RBEFBEEBNR _ZT—H
FENBER BBEZFISRIEFEE
#975910,175,0005 7T (W AR &
779,229,0007T) °
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

45.

318

SHARE CAPITAL (Cont'd)

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue
new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem
existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital.

Net debt, includes interest-bearing bank loans, other
borrowings, accruals and other payables, less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of the Group’'s equity excluding non-
controlling interests. The Group’'s policy is to maintain
a low debt-to-adjusted capital ratio and this policy is
unchanged. This policy will be reviewed on an annual
basis.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

45,

B @)

FEEEAEE BB MEAE
B> SIS A BB B L ERS
£ B HE 17T 2 AR B 4 P 22 R (B4R o

FEELARLLAREERTER A
EERBECERREZEBERBRE
EZRBEE EEBERRBLIMU
AR RERUHREBERRNE A&
E R AR AR S EITHR B
ip~ SEMER BRI ERN
HEBELURNEET -

FEBREHHEHEELLXE
EBEEE R - ZE R B EFHIRUE
ABERGE-

B PREES BRITER  HitE
B TRIRE AR EME M RIERIE S
RIRESEY KR BERBELE
EEm (FEEIFERER) ZPTA
D AEEZBERAMEREESH
MABERLER ZBERFRIF A # -
ZBERR G FETER-

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

45. SHARE CAPITAL (conta)

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

45. IR @)

2020 2019
—EIEE —ZT—hHF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Other loan HMMEM - 201,337
Accruals and other payables iR & AR EMMEARIE 620,918 383,591
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIBREEEY (1,751,730) (746,194)
Excess cash and cash equivalents BRERERIREFEY (1,130,812) (161,266)
Total equity excluding non-controlling 4B B

interests (R EfEIFERE D 3,858,795 3,658,468
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio ERHRABEREARLLE N/A R¥EH N/A 77 B

The externally imposed capital requirements for the
Group is to have a public float of at least 25% of the
Company's shares in order to maintain its listing on the
Stock Exchange. Based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the directors, at least 25% of the Company'’s total issued
share capital was held by the public.

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

A5 B 7 MR HORS B SR BT
il HSMNEBHENN 2 B A B KRB AR
EDBRRAB RN B ARFTFRE
REBEARBMBLAFENARES
FRAD RBFRBEAABBEITRALR

A /125% o
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

46. OTHER RESERVES

320

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

46. Hfthf#fE

Financial ~ Subsidiary's
assets at treasury
Capital Statutory Exchange FVTOCI share
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
BRATE
A
At 2@
k#kz HWEARZ
EXfiE EERE ERHE MBEEHE EEROEE Lh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AREBTR A\RETR ARETz ARETR ARETx
At 1 January 2019 RZE-nE-F-H (57399) 8,060 36,801 (27449) - (39,987)
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ENAER - - 37226 (28 855) - 8,371
Other loan (note 42) EMER (5k42) 14,787 - - - - 14,787
Issuing shares of a subsidiary to stock AR REHAETHBARZ
incentive plan (note 50(d)) TRin (zE50()) (16,905 - - - ) (16,912)
Changes in equity for the year EREZED (2,118) - 37226 (28,855) ) 6,246
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+_A=1+—-H (59,517) 8,060 74,027 (56,304) (7) (33,741)
At 1 January 2020 RZE-EE-A-H (59,517) 8,060 74,027 (56,304) (7) (33,741)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZERNLRE - - (89,737) 5,703 - (84,034)
Release of FVTOCI upon disposals RHERBRRATEIAL
A2 AN - - - (721) - (7211)
Acquisitions of interest in a subsidiary WE-ENBARZRE
without change of control note 50(b)&(c]) (EEHRES) (HE500K0) 560,717) - - - - (560,714)
Changes in equity for the year ERERED (560,717) - (89,737) (1,508) - (651,962)
At31 December 2020 RZBEE+ZA=1-H 1620234) 8060 (5700 (57812 M 68704
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BE_ZTEF+_HA=+—HILEFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47. FRATZMFRRR KR HE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE EE
COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) ZFREZHFFRRER
Company
As at 31 December
m+=ZA=+—H
2020 2019
“EIEFE EZ—hHF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

et ARBTFRT  AREBTT

Non-current assets JERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ [ B K& & & 99 129
Right-of-use assets FRESE 2,003 985
Investments in subsidiaries RHBATIZKRE 4,063,870 2,623,066
Amounts due from FE U B B8 A Bl =R I8
subsidiaries 174,108 187906
Financial assets at FVTOC|  #&/AFEsH AT E M
TEWEEKRZ
THEE 42,354 -
Loan to a subsidiary BT —RERB AR - 303,804
4,282,434 3,115,890
Current assets MBIEE
Prepayments, deposits BUME BTk
and other receivables H U R IR 876 927
Indemnification assets WEEE - 5,814
Amount due from a subsidiary F& W — &} B A 5 718 47,773 -
Loan to a subsidiary ERF—ENBAE - 312,846
Bank and cash balances IR1T R IR E 45 ER 414,874 308,028

463,523 627615
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BHECZTEF+_A=+—HLEFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47. FTATZMFRRR R HE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 28 =
COMPANY (conta)
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) ZAABZTEAERRE @

Company (Cont'a)

As at 31 December

®+=ZA=+—H
2020 2019
—EBF “ENF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
s ARBFT AR®TFT
Current liabilities mEaE
Accruals and other payables TEIZ & &
H I I8 10,349 9,381
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE{THT B A SIFIE 26,747 28,525
Lease liabilities GEN == 1,393 1,021
Withholding tax payables FESTEINR - 5,814
38,489 44,741
Net current assets MEBEERE 425,034 582,874
Total assets less current MEERNRSEE
liabilities 4,707,468 3,698,764
Non-current liabilities EREIEE
Lease liabilities HEa’E 681 -
681 -
NET ASSETS BEFE 4,706,787 3,698,764
Capital and reserves BXR kA
Share capital % 45 144,981 128,665
Reserves e 46(b) 4,561,806 3,570,099
TOTAL EQUITY Rt 4EEE 4,706,787 3,698,764
Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March N_E-—F=AZ+/<H
2021 and are signed on its behalf by: KREFGHE WHTIES
REREE .
Mr. Cao Chunmeng Mr. Yu Tao
EHEBLE BIERCE
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY (conta)

(b)

PEAEARAR

Reserves movement of the Company

47.

—=—

F+A=+—HLEFE

TATIZ IR R R B
S5

(b)

T ABZ#EEE

Shares
held for Shares Financial
Share Share Share Award asset at
premium  Contributed option Award Scheme FVTOCI  Exchange Warrant - Accumulated
account surplus reserve Scheme reserve reserve reserves reserve loss Total
BATE
AR
B 2ENER
wEctE  RARE  2emEE FRiEE
RivERE  BARER BRERE FEZRE  HIRE #E  ERER e RHER &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR ARBTn ARETrn ARETn ARBTn ARETn ARETn ARETRn ARETR
A1 January 2019 WoE-hE-E-R 4128847 61,582 gI5TT (81450 131,386 - 3,637 TH (88370 347501
Total comprehensive income for the year  ER2ERALE - - - - - - 45,627 - (849,851) (804,224)
Issuance of subscription shares EGEL 64,512 - - - - - - - - 764,512
Allotment of Awarded Shares toTustee  IRFEARSREBRGD 132479 - - (135,077) - - - - - (2,598)
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ RIEEEBRTAFE - - 9541 - 126,887 - - - - 136,428
Release upon lapse of share options RERBANERR - - (32,784) - - - - - 32,784 -
Fullyvested Awarded Shares transfer ~~ FER \ BREBEBLRBRH
0 awardees - - - 179,938 (179,938) - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year ENELEEH 896,991 - 23,043) 44,861 [53,051) - 45,627 - 817067) 94,118
At 31 December 2019 RIZ-NF+ZA=+-H 5,026,838 61,582 64,334 (136,589) 78,335 - 81,264 T (1,605439) 3,570,099
At 1 January 2020 RZBZZF—F-H 5,025,838 61,582 64,334 (136,589) 78,335 - 81,264 T (1605439 3,570,099
Total comprehensive income FR2EUALE
for the year - - - - = 10,144 (96,875) - 44,99 (131,726)
Issuance of placing shares (note 45(a)  BTEERIA (H5H45() 704,728 - - - - - - - - 704,728
Exercise of warrants AEARER 338,052 - - - - - - (7) - 337278
Exercise of share option fTEERE 24497 - (5,267) - - - - - - 19,230
Release upon lapsed of share option REREXUERR - - [54,975) - - - - - 54,975 -
Equity-settled share-based payments REEEROZATE - - 29400 - 32,797 - - - - 62,197
Release upon lapse of share options REREXUERR - - - 61,065 (61,085) - - - - -
Changes i equiy for the year ERERED 1067277 S s B0 828 04 (96878 Mo 9w 91
At 31 December 2020 RZEZFF+ZR=+-8 6,093,115 61,582 33492 (75,524) 50,067 10,144 (15,611) - (1594,459) 4561806
TETEEER 323



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

48. RESERVES

(a) Group
The amounts of the Group's reserves and
movements therein are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(1) Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising
from the issue of shares at a price in excess
of their par value per share and is not
distributable but may be utilised in paying
up unissued shares of the Company to be
issued to the shareholders of the Company
as fully paid bonus shares or in providing
for the premiums payable on repurchase of
shares.

(1) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group arose
as a result of the Group reorganisation
implemented in preparation for the
listing of the Company's shares in 2000
and represented the excess of the then
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired, over the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company issued in exchange
therefore.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

48. RESERVES (Conta)

(b)

PEAEARAH

Nature and purpose of reserves (Cont’d)

(i11)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number
of unexercised share options granted to
employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based
payments in note 4(u) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess
of the fair value of the Group's share of
net assets over the purchase price and
the premium arising from acquisition. The
amount is retained in the consolidated
statement of financial position until the
disposal of the subsidiaries.

Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve, which is non-
distributable, is appropriated from the
profit after taxation of the Group's PRC
subsidiaries under the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with accounting policies set
out in note 4(d) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

48. RESERVES (Conta)

326

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Cont’d)

(vii)

Warrant reserve

Warrant reserve represents the net
proceeds received from the issue of
warrants of the Company. The reserve will
be transferred to share capital and share
premium accounts upon the exercise of the
warrants.

On 6 July 2015, the Company issued
530,000,000 unlisted warrants at an issue
price of HK$0.002 per warrant pursuant to
a subscription agreement. Each warrant
entitles the holder to subscribe for one
ordinary share of HK$0.01 each at an initial
subscription price of HK$0.72 per share at
any time within 5 years commencing from
the date of issue of the warrants.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

48. RESERVES (Conta)

(b)

PEAEARAH

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

48. {#E ®

Nature and purpose of reserves (Contd) (b) fEEEEREN®
(vii)  Warrant reserve (Cont'd) i)  ERERIEEE R (B
During the year ended 31 December 2020, HE_Z_ZTF+_
520,000,000 warrant were exercised and B=+—BLFE>
the net proceeds were HK$374,400,000 520,000,0000% 53 i% 1
(approximately RMB342,027,000). EEEITEFAER
TH$ 88 #3374,400,000
B (AR
342,027,0007T) °
Terms of unexpired and unexercised R|REPFR > KA K&
warrants at the end of the reporting periods: RITEERIER 2 FHA
wr
Number of underlying
shares of the warrants
R ERRMNEE
Date of issue Exercisable period 2020 2019
=k 17168 ZEZTE —E-NEF
6 July 2015 6 July 2015 to
5 July 2020 - 520,000,000
“E-AFtAARH E—HFtBAHZE
“ETZFtHAAH
CRCBEGR 327



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
l%/\mﬂ

AR AR EE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

48. RESERVES (Conta)

328

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Cont’d)

(viii)  Shares held by Share Award Scheme and

(ix)

Shares Award Scheme reserve

The Group has adopted Share Award
Scheme as set out in note 49(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. When
the Company allots shares to the Trustee of
the Share Award Scheme, it would deduct
the same value of allotted shares from the
equity and is presented as “Shares held for
Share Award Scheme”. When the Trustee
of the Share Award Scheme transfers the
Company's shares to the awardees upon
vesting, the value of Awarded Shares are
credited to “Shares held for Share Award
Scheme”, with a corresponding adjustment
made to “Share Award Scheme reserve”.

Financial assets at FVTOC/ reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the
fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI held
at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy in note 4(l) to the consolidated
financial statements.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

48. {#E ®

(b)

EEEEREN @
wiii) - BR17 2R Byt BIPTFF IR (7

(ix)

RR17Z R E 1
rEBCHRMEGH
5 R Mt 5E49(b) P &
ZRIDEEETEl - B
A B\ R R 5T E
AN 3 vl S
Hig B miNfRER B
ok EBE L2
7 TR D SR 51 845
B2 - BRI
IR IPASEYN N
Rl A QB IR EET
AR AR RZERG 2
BES A TARDEE
SEFAZRG)  TH
MR 17 2% Bh 5+ 811 1
fEHRRERE -

B FESATAMZ
B am iR BB E
#
BATFESATEEME
Bk B EE R
BEEN R E AR
AT ESATEME
ERmRZ M BEEZ
Rt AT EESFEE
WIRER B FFIRERWN T
A(VPRELZ E 5T R E
1TRRIR

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 HE_Z " ZF+_"_A=-+—HIEFE
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 49. RHZ(ITRIE
(a) Share Option Schemes (a) FERGHESTEY
The Company adopted two share option schemes, AT IBRE R 5T 2
namely, Share Option Scheme 2012 and Share BT -——FEREFE K
Option Scheme 2019. TE-NFRERESE
Summary of terms 1R Z
Details Share Option Scheme 2012 Share Option Scheme 2019
F15 —_Z—_FERES —_Z—-NFEREE
1. Purposes To provide incentives and rewards To enable to grant options to the eligible
B8 to eligible participants who participants as incentives or rewards for
contribute to the success of the their contributions to the Group.
Group's operations. ERANB M ERBEERHEBERE 7

AHAEREFHDERMEE AREOETEEFRIFEMZ SR ZEHR-
Mz EERSBRERHER AR

Eo

FEERERAT — I - SEER 329



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)

Summary of terms (Cont'd)

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

49. RBZ(TRIE @

(a) FARIESTE @

Details Share Option Scheme 2012 Share Option Scheme 2019

F15 —_Z—_FERES —_Z-NFERED

2. Eligible Eligible participants include full- Eligible participants include (i) any
participants  time and part-time employees, employee or proposed employee,
== executives, officers, directors, manager or officer (whether full or part
2HE business consultants, agents, time) of the Company or any of its

legal and financial advisors of the
Company and the Company's
subsidiaries.
BERZHEBAERARIRER
BB AEl 2 2R RBEES
THAB -EHBE -EF %5
B BN AR AR
f o

330

subsidiaries; (i) any director (including
executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; (iii) any advisors,
consultants, contractors, distributors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners, joint venture, promoters and
service providers of any member of the
Group.
BENRSEZAE(NKRABNEEAINE
REZ EAEENETEE KBRS
AB (R BaRm) (AR RHHEE
At B AR 2 A AES (BFNITHIEH
ThAHBILESR) (i)KEBERKE
NEZAEEIEER S FEFAA N KB~ D
N tEE B -ER EBBY 58
B2 RN RARFS MR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)

Summary of terms (Cont'd)

Details Share Option Scheme 2012
F15 —_Z—_FERES

BE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HULEE
49. BRIPZ{ITRIE (@)
(a) FERRTESHE (@)

Share Option Scheme 2019
—_E—hFERIEE

3. Maximum The Company may grant
number of options to the participants to

shares subscribe for ordinary share of
=3=Y540) HK$0.01 each, subject to, when
g B8 aggregated under this scheme

and any other share option
schemes of the Company must
not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares in issue from
time to time.

RAB A2 EERHERE
UREsREE) BTz EE
B% o tEZEF S BRI _ ERBEAST
B AR B H SRS 2
OB R ARG %R TNEEE
NEF BTN ARRB0% °

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

The maximum number of shares of the
Company which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised
under the scheme and any other inventive
or option scheme(s) of the Company must
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time
to time. No options may be granted under
this scheme if any grant of option will
result in such 30% limit being exceeded.
RIR B A 51 8 e A BME R L A2 B sk
FERES S EREMBEFITRZAEE
RATEERE R AEEIT(E T P SEAC 38 R 31T
ZERABRERHBESHNEBELR
NE)VRE BTN 230% o fHEAE T
FE B 1 I S BB B 5% 30% I PR EE » B NS
RIBAR BRI B

The total number of shares which may
be allotted and issued upon the exercise
of all options to be granted under this
scheme and any other incentive or option
scheme(s) of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in
issue as at the date of approval of this
scheme.

RIRBE AT 8 e A~ BRI H BB 5
ERES N TREZMEBRIEETT
fEMel e BT RN ER > &
AEBBHERFEZHEE TR Z
10%
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)

Summary of terms (Cont'd)

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) FARIESTE @

Details Share Option Scheme 2012 Share Option Scheme 2019

F15 —_Z—_FERES —_Z-NFERED

4. Maximum The maximum number of shares ~ The maximum number of shares issuable
entittement  issuable under share options to under share options to each eligible
of each each eligible participant within participant within any 12-month period,

participant any 12-month period, is limited to
FH28%E 1% of the shares of the Company
CIEX=pd in issue at any time. Any further
Eo#E grant of shares options in
excess of this limit is subject
to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.
RER+ZERHEA mEH
BERSHEEREEREI R
AETRMERSHE  UEAE
PAEFEBEZEITRMNZ1%%5
fRoE—FIRLBRAILIERE B
MBI IR ER KGR BRI/ o

5. Option The exercise period of the share
period options granted is determinable
FENGEHEAPE by the directors, and commences

after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later
than five years from the date of
the offer of the share options.
PR EERE Z TR ESR
EoRETHEBERERG BEEE
EIFHBERE BESTEFANT

+
4o
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shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
at any time. Any further grant of shares
options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

RER+ZER BN meLaEks
HERHNERES R ZAZETRDRS
B MEBENEANEEETRN 2
1% o E— TR H BRI IREE 2 BRER
RIREARGEREHE

The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors,
and commences after a certain vesting
period and ends on a date which is not
later than ten years from the Offer Date of
the share options.

PR HBREZ THEHESRAE  NE
TRBHREMRAG BEEEREEZZEEA
HARE ST+ A TeAS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)

Summary of terms (Cont'd)

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) FARIESTE @

Details Share Option Scheme 2012 Share Option Scheme 2019

F15 —_Z—_FERES —_E—hFERIEE

6. Exercise The exercise price of the share The exercise price of the share options
price options is determinable by the is determinable by the board of directors
TfEE directors, but may not be less and must be at least higher of (i) the

than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the
Company's shares on the date

of the offer of the share options;
(ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date
of the offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer.
ERETEERERRTE A5
BRTIEERSE (K ABRK
MR EEREERE BB
PRz BB (VR AB RN N E
EEZFEHBHAAESEEET
2P 2 TR E 5 K(i)AR
RN EZRLBHAZEE

7. Remaining The scheme became effective
life of the on 3 May 2012 and, unless
scheme otherwise cancelled or amended,
&l will remain in force for 5 years
T R FHA from that date.

FEER _E——_FRB=H&E
W BRIFSITEUHEER] » BRIE
ZHESFRBER

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the Offer Date, which must be

a Business Day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Company's shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Offer Date;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Company's
share. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is
payable on the grant of a share option.
ERETEERESS AT BBERT
HEEREE (A ABRMIEZRED
HHR CEREXER) THXPIE HRERRR
2z WHE (R AB RO N EEEER
HEHBRAESEHTEHIMEHRE
RFH) 2 FHWHE ; KR AB KN Z
HE - NELEREN AT MEERE
AT 0

The scheme became effective on 12 June
2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

FEIERN ZE—NFATZHER bR
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APEEE
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)
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(a)

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Other terms (adopted in both Share Option
Scheme 2012 and Share Option Scheme 2019)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted
to a connected person, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or
with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’'s shares at the date of the grant)
in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAH

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Other terms (adopted in both Share Option
Scheme 2012 and Share Option Scheme 2019)
(Cont'd)

Other disclosure

The fair value of share options granted is
recognised in profit or loss taking into account
the probability that the options will vest over the
vesting period. Upon the exercise of the options
the resulting shares issued are recorded as
additional share capital at the nominal value of
the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
per share over the nominal value of the shares
is recorded in the share premium account. At
the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve is transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve is
transferred to retained profits. Lapsed options,
prior to their exercise date, are deleted from the
outstanding options. All equity-settled share-based
compensation expense is settled in equity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

SRCBEER
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)
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(a)

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Other terms (adopted in both Share Option
Scheme 2012 and Share Option Scheme 2019)
(Cont'd)

Other disclosure (Cont'd)

The grantees may exercise the options in whole
or in part by giving exercise notice to the grantor
at any time during the option period provided that
the grantees shall exercise the options to acquire
the option shares in accordance with the following
vesting schedule:

Vesting schedule for Share Option Scheme 2012

One year after the grant date 30%
Two years after the grant date 30%
Three years after the grant date 40%

Vesting schedule for Share Option Scheme 2019

At 1 July 2020 25%
At 1 July 2021 25%
At 1 July 2022 25%
At 1 July 2023 25%

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

W ECECEF+_A=+—HIEE

, TAW7AN F= =
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'a) 49. MRINZ(TTRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FERGIEE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BRI B BENT
following:
At 31 December 2020 — Share Option Scheme RIEZEF+Z/F=+—
2012 H——F—_FfERIEZ)
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RIBZBE
RZZZZE FREE/ +ZA
RiA5H (i3 %R —A-H FRRH k% ERTTE =+-H
Share Option Scheme 2012
- ERRENE
11 June 2015 1 February 2016 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 20,100,000 - (20,100,000) - -
“2-1%5A+-H S EZA-HECZCRERATH 12587
1 February 2017 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 20,100,000 - (20,100,000) - -
ZE-tFZF-HEZZRIZESEHH 1.25%7T
1 February 2018 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 26,800,000 - (26,800,000) - -
Z2-\FZA-BEZZIZESEHH 1.25%7T
67,000,000 - (67,000,000) - -
Other employees
HiftES
11 June 2015 1 February 2016 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 10,710,000 - (10,710,000) - -
“E2-1%5B+-H S EZA-HECZCRERATH 12587
1 February 2017 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 10,710,000 - (10,710,000) - -
ZE-tFZF-HEZZIZESEHH 1.25%7T
1 February 2018 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 14,280,000 - (14,280,000) - -
Z2-\FZA-HEZZIZESEHH 1.25%7T
35,700,000 - (35700,000) - -
Total share options for Share
Option Scheme 2012 102,700,000 - (102,700,000) - -
2" ERRESEZ
REREEY

PEAEARAH

For Share Option Scheme 2012, if the options
remain unexercised up to 10 June 2020, the
options expire. Options are forfeited if the
employee leaves the Group.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 BHE_ T ZF+_B=+—HIFE
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'a) 49. RASZIIFRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as RELER 2 MREFIENT ¢
following: (Cont d) (#)
At 31 December 2020 — Share Option Scheme RIEZEF+Z/F=+—
2019 H——ZF— N FERIEEZ)
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RIBZBE
RZEZEE EREE/ +ZA
RiA5H (i3 %R —A-H FRRL k% ERTE =+-8
Share Option Scheme 2019
“E-hERREHD
Director of the Company
- Mr. Zhu Ning
KRAFEE-RERYE
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
“Z-NE+RTEA T2 FtA-HEIRIMERA=TH 10087
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
-5 tA-HEIZRZMERA=1H 10087
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
R CECE-HEIEIMEREZTHE 1008w
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
TR -FtA-HEIZRIMERA=TH 10087
100,000,000 - - - 100,000,000

Other directors of the Company

AAEHEMES
14 October 2019 1July 2020 10 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - (10,000,000 5,000,000
ZE-NETRTEA “ETRECA-HECTCMERACTRE 090ER

1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000

RC-FtA-HEZEIMEREZTH  090ET

T July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000

“ETTETA-HEZEMEAAZTHE 090ET

1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000

“ETCETA-HECE-MEAAZTHE 090ET

60,000,000 - - (10,000,000) 50,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 ECEEF+"HA=+—HIEEE
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'a) 49. MRINZ(ITTRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BRI  BREFBEOT
following: (Cont’d) (#)
At 31 December 2020 — Share Option Scheme RIEZEF+Z/F=+—
2019 (Cont’d) H——ZF— N FERIEEZ)
()
Number of share options
EREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RZBZEE
RIZZEE EREE/ +ZA
BitAH 7t T8 —-B-H FREL k% ERTE =+-A
Share Option Scheme 2019
“E-hERREGE
Senior management of the Group
rEEERERE
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - (7498,000) 3,752,000
“Z-nE+R-H ZEIZELA-AEIZIMERESTHE 0T5AR
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
2C-5tA-HEZECWEARAZTHE  0T5ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
B HtA-HEIECWEARAZTHE  0T5ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
ZRCCHtA-HEZECMERAZTHE  0T5ET
45,000,000 - - (7498,000)  37502,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(a)

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

, TAW74N F> =
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'a) 49. MRINZ(ITTRIE @
Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FERGIEE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as RELER 2 MREFIENT ¢
following: (Cont’d) (#)
At 31 December 2020 — Share Option Scheme RIEZEF+Z/F=+—
2019 (Cont’d) H——E—hFRBREZ
()
Number of share options
EREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RZBZEE
RIZZEE EREE/ +ZA
BitAH 71 T8 —B-H FREL k% ERTE =+-A
Share Option Scheme 2019
“E-hERREGE
Employess of the Group
rEEES
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 31,500,000 - (250,000)  (10,098,000) 21,152,000
“Z-nETR-H ZEIZELA-AEIZIMERESTHE 0T5AR
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 31,500,000 - (1,000,000) - 30,500,000
TEC-FtA-HECSIMERAZHHE  075ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 31,500,000 - (1,000,000) - 30,500,000
TECTECLA-HECSIMERAZHHE 075ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 31,500,000 - (1,000,000) - 30,500,000
TECZECLA-HECSIMERAZHHE 075ET
126,000,000 - (3250,000) (10,098,000) 112,652,000
Total share options for Share
Option Scheme 2019 331,000,000 - (3,250,000)  (27596,000) 300,154,000
Z-NEERENEZ
ERELy
Total share options for both
schemes 433,700,000 - (105,950,000)  (27596,000) 300,154,000

340
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For Share Option Scheme 2019, if the options
remain unexercised up to 30 June 2024, the
options expire. Options are forfeited if the
employee leaves the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 HE_ T ZFE+_A=+—HIEE
p ES =
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont'a) 49. RPZITRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FERRHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as YRR BRSBTS
following: (Cont d) (#)
At 31 December 2019 — Share Option Scheme RIE—NF+ZH=+—
2012 H——EF—_FEREHZ)
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during  lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2019 the year the year the year 2019
RIB-RE
RIE-hE EREE/ +ZA8
REBH g T8 —-A—-A FRE ESVL ERTTHE =t+-H
Share Option Scheme 2012
B EEREE
Directors and Chief Executives
ESRERAHAS
11 June 2015 1 February 2016 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 20,100,000 - - - 20,100,000
“2-1&/A+-H "3 "E"A-HEZE"EEABTH 12587
1 February 2017 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 20,100,000 - - - 20,100,000
“EtEZA-HECZCRERATA 12587
1 February 2018 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 26,800,000 - - - 26,800,000
ZE-\FZA-HEZZCRERATA 12587
67000,000 - - - 67000,000
Other employees
HihES
11 June 2015 1 February 2016 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 28,500,000 - {17790,000) - 10,710,000
“2-1&/A+-H 3 "E"A-HEZE"EEABTH 12587
1 February 2017 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 28,500,000 - {17790,000) - 10,710,000
“B2—tE_A-RE"E_FERATH 126%7
1 February 2018 to 10 June 2020 HK$1.25 38,000,000 - (23,720,000 - 14,280,000
ZE-\FZA-HEZZCRERATA 12587
95,000,000 - (569,300,000 - 35,700,000
Total share options for share
option scheme 2012 162,000,000 - (569,300,000 - 102,700,000
“E-ERRRHEL
REREEY
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

342

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)

Details of the specific categories of options are as

following: (Cont’d)

At 31 December 2019 — Share Option Scheme

BE_ T EFE+_A-+—HILEE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) FARIESTE @

BERRZBREFBENT
(&)

TE-AFF A=

2019 H——E—hFRBREZ
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2019 the year the year the year 2019
RIB—RE
- RIE-hF 3 EREE/ +ZA8
REBH 75 1FE —-A-H FREH ESye ERTE =+-H
Share Option Scheme 2019
“S-NEREREHD
Director of the Company
- Mr. Zhu ng
NEES-KBLE
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 t0 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 - 25,000,000 - - 25,000,000
ZZ-NEFTETEE ZEtE-HEZZMERE=HH 100E7T
1 July 2021 t0 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 - 25,000,000 - - 25,000,000
TET-FtA-HEIZIMEREZTH 10087
1 JuIy 2022 t0 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 - 25,000,000 - - 25,000,000
CEICEtA-AEIERIMEREZTH 100E7T
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 - 25,000,000 - - 25,000,000
“ZT-EtA-BEZECMERA=THE 100ET
- 100,000,000 - - 100,000,000
Other directors of the Company
FRFEMES
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 - 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000
ZZ-NEFTETEE T2 FtA-HEIRMERA=TH 090%TT
1 JuIy 2021 t0 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 - 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000
ZEI-FtA-HEZZIMEREZTH 090ET
1 July 2022 t0 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 - 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000
2T _EtA-BEZECMEAA=TH  090ET
1 July 2023 t0 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 - 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000
TECCELR-AECECMERA=1H 090%TT
- 60,000,000 - - 60,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4=

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

BHEZ

48. RPZ(TTRIE @

“SETTA=t—BULEE

H ’ = 01
Share Option Schemes (Cont’d) (a) FEERRHEEE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as HERR 2 BREFBNT
following: (Cont’d) (#&)
At 31 December 2019 — Share Option Scheme S CE—NF+ZA=+—
2019 (Cont’d) H——ZF— N FERIEZ)
#)
Number of share options
BREE
At Granted Expired/ Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during  lapsed during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2019 the year the year the year 2019
‘ RIB-NEF
B k k RZB-NE - EnzE/ ~ !
BHAE 38 AE  —B-B  ERBH kY EAfE Zt-8
Share Option Scheme 2019
“E2-nERREE
Senior management of the Group
rEUEREEE
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 - 11,250,000 - - 11,250,000
“Z-nETE-H CETRECA-AEIRIMESRESHE 05T
1 JuIy 2021 t0 30 June 2024 HK$Q.75 - 11,250,000 - - 11,250,000
“ET-FtA-HEISCMERAZHHE 0758
1 July 2022 0 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 - 11,250,000 - - 11,250,000
TRTCEEA-HEZZIMERBZTH  075ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 - 11,250,000 - - 11,250,000
ZRI-FtA-HEIZIMERAZ=THE  075ET
- 45,000,000 - - 45,000,000
Employees of the Group
£8ES
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 - 31,500,000 - - 31500000
“Z-NE+F-H “EISELA-HECSIMERASHE 0758
1 July 2021 10 30 June 2024 HKS0.75 - 31,500,000 - - 31,500,000
“ZT-#tA-BE_ECMEAA=TH  075ET
1 July 2022 t0 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 - 31,500,000 - - 31,500,000
CETTECA-HAEIRIMESRESHE 05T
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$Q.75 - 31,500,000 - - 31,500,000
TETERCA-HECSIMERASHE 0758
- 126,000,000 - - 126,000,000
Total share options for Share
Option Schemg 2019 ) - 331,000,000 - - 331,000,000
“ENERREHEZ
REREEY
Total share options for both
schemes - 162,000,000 331,000,000 (59,300,000} - 433,700,000
EEREREE e £
343
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)
Details of the share options outstanding during the

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) FARIESTE @
FARBERTERREFEN

year are as follows: e
2020
ZEI%E
Share Option Share Option

Scheme 2012 Scheme 2019 Total
ZZ-ZERRERD ZEZ-NERRERD agt

Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average Number of
share exercise share exercise share
options ‘_price options ‘_price options

MiETS Mg
BERESE ffE  BREHE ffE  BREHE

HKS$ HK$

BT BT
QOutstanding at the beginning of the year ~ E#)HR1THE 102,700,000 125 331,000,000 085 433,700,000
Granted during the year FREH - NATER - NATER -
Exercised during the year ERITE - NAZRER (27596,000) 0.80 (27596,000)
Lapsed during the year FREN (102,700,000) 1.25 (3,250,000) 0.75  (105,950,000)
QOutstanding at the end of the year EXRHATE - NAZREE 300,154,000 0.86 300,154,000
Exercisable at the end of the year FRAFITE - 54,904,000 54,904,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAH

W ECECEF+_A=+—HIEE

49. RBZ(TRIE @

Share Option Schemes (Cont'd) (a) FERGHESTE @
Details of the share options outstanding during the FAERTEBRESFBN
year are as follows: (Cont’d) T (#)
2019
“Z-nE
Share Option Share Option
Scheme 2012 Scheme 2019 Total
ST ERERENE “E-hERRERE st
Weighted
Number of average Number of Weighted Number of
share exercise share average share
options price options  exercise price options
mEFs mEFs
BREHE TRE  BREHE THRE  EREHE
HK$ HK$
B AT
QOutstanding at the beginning of the year ~ E#iH K171 162,000,000 1.25 - NAZTEE 162,000,000
Granted during the year FREH - NAZTEAR 331,000,000 085 331,000,000
Exercised during the year ERITE - NA R - N/A R -
Lapsed during the year FREN (59,300,000) 1.25 - NATRER (59,300,000
Outstanding at the end of the year EREFTE 102,700,000 125 331,000,000 085 433,700,000
Exercisable at the end for the year FRAFITE 102,700,000 - 102,700,000

The weighted average share price at the date of
exercise for share option exercised during the year
ended 31 December 2020 for share option scheme
2019 is HK$1.27 (2019: HK$0.52 (restated) for
share option scheme 2012 and HK$0.48 (restated)
for share option scheme 2019).

During the year, 27,596,000 share option have
been exercised (2019: Nil). The options outstanding
at the end of the year have a weighted average
remaining contractual life of share option scheme
2019 is 3.5 years (2019: 0.47 years for share
option scheme 2012 and 4.5 years for share
option scheme 2019). The exercise prices range
from HK$0.75 to HK$1.25 for both share option
schemes.

SRCBEER

BHE_Z_ZZF+°A
=+—HUEFE ZT—NF
BRESTEINEREETE
HHEEZMEFHARDERS
12787 (ZTE—AF T
—ZFERESTE 50528 T
(KEH) R _E—HEBER
TSt EI50.4878 7T (EEF)) o

£ 27596,00010 R ERE
BETECE2E—nF | - =
Z-NEFBEBRESENERX
B ARIT R IR 2 NS
Fer SN FHAILFE (T2
—NE: - FHERE
BAB0ATER_E—NERER
RSt 8| A4 50F) - M1n B
T Z 1T EEHER0.758 T
F1.2587T°
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

AR AR EE

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd) 49.

346

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Cont’d)
Details of the share options outstanding during the
year are as follows: (Cont’d)

In 2019, 331,000,000 options were granted on 1
October 2019 and 14 October 2019 under Share
Option Scheme 2019. The estimated fair value of
the options granted on that date is HK$71,131,000.

The fair value of Share Option Scheme 2019 was
calculated using Binomial Option Pricing Model.
The inputs into the model are as follows:

Grant date = BHA

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

AR ZAFRRIE (@)

(a) FARIESTE @

FARBERTERREFEN
T &

W —Z—Ah%>331,000,000
MEBREERE_Z=—NE
BREAABNR _ZE—NE
+BA—HR_ZE—HhE+
B+HHEH RzAEH
2HEREZGFATER
71,131,000 75 ©

“E-NERERESEZA
FELERAZEANAEEE
RAEGE - ZIRB 2t A BB
L

Share Option
Scheme 2019
—_Z—h%F
fEfetEstal

Share price of the Company on grant date KABREREBEZRE HK$0.48

Exercise price TEE

Expected volatility TEHR R 18

Expected life TEHAF A

Risk-free rate RN R

Expected dividend yield TEEARG B X

Expected volatility was determined by calculating
the historical volatility of the Company’s share
price over the previous 5 years.

— HK$0.50
0.48%7T
ZF0.508 7T
HK$0.75

— HK$1.00
0.75%87T
F1.008 7T
71.91%
-71.97%
71.91%&E71.97%
4.7 years

475

1.348% to
1.452%

1.348% &E1.452%
0%

RERBDREBFEEART
RIBASFEZ REESEKIEE
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b)

PEAEARAH

Share Award Scheme

On 31 May 2018 (“Adoption Date”), the Company
has adopted the Share Award Scheme (“Share
Award Scheme”) aimed to recognise the
contributions by Eligible Persons and provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for
continuing operation and development of the
Group, and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption
Date unless early terminated by the Board.

The Board can make award of Shares of the
Company to Selected Participants, but must not
make any further award of unvested Shares which
would result in the number of Shares awarded
by the Board under the Share Award Scheme
representing 10% or more of the issued Shares
from time to time without Shareholders’ approval.
The maximum number of Shares which may
be subject to an award or awards to a selected
participant in any 12-month period shall not in
aggregate exceed 1% of the issued Shares.

No award shall be made by the Board and no
instructions to acquire Shares shall be given by
the Board to the Trustee under the Share Award
Scheme where any director is in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation
to the Group or where dealings by directors are
prohibited under any code or requirement of the
GEM Listing Rules and all applicable laws from
time to time.

SRCBEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

49.

AR ZAFRRIE (@)

(b)

iab b
RZE-—N\EFRA=+—H
(TR E ) > A AT R
R EER s 8 (ThR {7 52 Bh 5t
g8 EEBSFEERALZ
BRI MR F R AR LUk
BRERBRAEBZFE
EERER URANERZE
—FERRSIGBAE-

PRIFES SRR L [RIK
722 Eh 5t 8 B #R A H HAEE10
FHBAMRES -

EFgrREE2HEARY
RABZREBRD  MERRFR
ERRLEE-DRHEM
HARFEBRMDUEMBUEES
SRERDERSEREZ
RNBEMLFAREZETRD
ZBEDZ T L RAER12
BRHEE—REESHEA
RUEZ—BHNZEER D K&
ZRhEEHE A EE
BEETRNDZBDZ—-

HERNEFESHRNATEER
ZARNEEBEBRERAER %
GEM_EMRA ZEE TR
MEUKRFFBEAFTERZE
RRLSFETR S MESR
TRERHER EFETF
BTaRMNERE ZZFEA
BHBARNDZIERe

347



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
l%/\mﬂ

AR AR EE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

348

(b)

Share Award Scheme (Cont'a)

Subject to the relevant Share Award Scheme
Rules, (1) the Company can issue and allot
Shares to the Trustee from time to time under
general mandates granted or to be granted by the
Shareholders at general meetings of the Company
from time to time (unless such issue and allotment
of Shares has otherwise been approved by the
Shareholders) for future awards; or (2) in case
where the Board have selected certain Eligible
Person to be Selected Participant(s), the Company
shall, as soon as reasonably practicable after the
grant date, for the purposes of satisfying the grant
of awards, issue and allot Shares to the Trustee
under general mandates granted or to be granted
by the Shareholders at general meetings of the
Company from time to time (unless such issue and
allotment of Shares has otherwise been approved
by the Shareholders) and/or transfer to the Trust
the necessary funds and instruct the Trustee to
either (i) subscribe Shares to be issued by the
Company or (ii) acquire Shares through on-market
transactions at the prevailing market price. The
Trustee must hold the Shares until they are vested
in accordance with the Share Award Scheme
Rules. When the Selected Participant has satisfied
all vesting conditions specified by the Board at the
time of making the award and become entitled to
the Shares forming the subject of the award, the
Trustee will transfer the relevant vested Shares to
the Selected Participant.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

49.

AR ZAFRRIE (@)

(b)

AR 32@hEtEl (@)

AR RS EIRAZ
RIET > (WAERBAIRERR
RERBDAFZRERE L
AREREBELIRREZ
— IR R FE A LT RE
LRy (EZBREITREER
7 AR B LUE Mt 75 U HE /B
BRON S HRHEFEEETE
ETRERALIREESHA
N BRABRPE L B
BEYIBEATERTER (B
R AR RIBRRN A
NBERFZRERNE ERE
ARFEREZ —REERTZ T
ANBETRECERD (EZIEE
TRECERMDBRRELEM
AMERIBRIN K& SAE
EEBMEEE RIETESE
NI AERBR FETZR
MRWAURTHEZBERN
RH WK - XFEEAL AR
ERMEERNBERN
BhstEIRAIERB AL EEE
ZRANBENESFSFHE
Bh s ¥5 € Z P A BR B IR (R 1
MERESBERERRNZ
DS XEEARIEEBEE R
BROBBETEESHEA-
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Conta)

The Trustee shall not exercise any voting rights and
powers in respect of any Shares held under the
Trust (including, but not limited to, the Awarded
Shares, the Returned Shares, any bonus Shares

and scrip Shares).

First Awards

During the year ended 31 December 2018, a total
of 551,522,400 Awarded Shares (“First Awards”)
were granted and out of which, none was granted
to the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the First Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's Share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements were received. The fair value of
awarded shares granted was HK$0.62 per Awarded

Share.

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

49.

AR ZAFRRIE (@)

(b)

AR 32@hEtEl (@)
RREATRITEREGEER
Bz ARG (BFEEBRER
SRR~ BRIERMD  ERA
FIB D g B RR1D) PRI 2
EERBREFRIES

= d ]
HE_ZZ—NE+H
T t+—BLEEE> & H
551,522,400 R 1H (&
iEED)) BIRE > Hh s
FARRBES FIIRHBERE
Bz AFEDDBREARNTR
PRAEHRZTENE I
EEEEBGEMLEHREE
EZ AR E - Fris K%
BRRMm 2z AFEASKRIER
BE150.6278 7T
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b)

350

Share Award Scheme (Cont'd)

Second Awards

On 19 November 2018, the Board announced the
granting of another lot of 314,376,000 Awarded
Shares and subsequently reduced to 304,247200
Awarded Shares (“Second Awards”) on 24
January 2019, none was granted to the directors
of the Company. The Company received all
approvals and allotted Second Awards to Trustee
on 1 February 2019, but the grantees acceptance
were not received until 15 March 2019. Also on
15 March 2019, the Board adjusted the number
of Awards Shares previously announced and
granted additional 23,064,800 Awarded Shares to
58 grantees using lapsed shares of First Awards
and Second Awards held by Trustee in the Trust
Fund. The fair value of the Second Awards granted
was calculated based on the market price of
the Company's Share at the measurement date
that all relevant approvals in connection with the
GEM Listing Rules requirements and acceptance
from the Eligible participants were received. The
fair value of Second Awards shares granted was
HK$0.52 per Awarded Share.

On 5 May 2019, the Board passed a resolution
to modify the vesting schedule of 80 grantees
of Second Awards, which resulted in immediate
and full vesting of 154,897600 Awarded Shares.
Other than that there was no other modification
of vesting conditions that will results in the
acceleration of vesting.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

AR ZAFRRIE (@)

(b)

BRI EERN st &I (@)
FE_XEE

RZE—NF+—B+Ah
H EEZgEMRES
314,376,000 R EN % (n »
BRZZE—NF—AZ+M@
iR/ E304,2472000% 52 B
Bfn (T8 —x42Ey)) » EAhar
EBIEFARBEF - AREE
BEFRBHLE TR _F—A
F_A-—HBAAEBARES
“RERRMDOEEI T
—NF=ZB+HHAERE
ANEgE# LN R ZB—NE
—Bt+haB > EEgRBELA
EMEEHZRERMITEUZ
AT ESEEEHFEZE
NEBRE —NIRE RN
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HEZXEBZAFETLR
BAABRMVRFEEHZ
MEE W EEEBRBGEM
EHRAEE Z PR E AR
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HEZXRBRBZAFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b)

PEAEARAH

Share Award Scheme (Cont'd)

Third Awards

On 21 August 2019, the Board passed a resolution
to grant additional 7,814,400 Awarded Shares
("Third Awards”) by using the lapsed shares of
First Awards and Second Awards held by Trustee
in the Trust Fund, of which none was granted to
the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the Third Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's Share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of Selected
Participants were received. The fair value of Third
Awards granted was HK$0.51 per Awarded Share.

Third Awards granted to Selected Participants
are divided into 3 tranches. The first tranche
representing 50% of the awards would be vested
when the Selected Participant completing 2 years
of continuous service to the Group from the date
of first day of employment. The second and third
tranches each represent 25% of the awards, and
would be vested after completing the third year
and fourth year of continuous service to the Group,
respectively.

SRCBEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

AR ZAFRRIE (@)

(b)

AR 32@hEtEl (@)
F=REEH

R_E—hFENBZ+—H"
BEFEGRE—BERARE UZ
SEANTEETSESTFEZH
REBIRE REB AW
f& 10 % HEESN7,814,4008% 2
BIRM (TE=k42E) » Hep
TR FARATESE FIFEH
BFZRERZAFETDIRE
/NI R B N =<l = B - i o]
B8 wEEERMGEM L
MRMFAEREETL2HAZ
BN A AL E o FTiR H
FZREBZAFELER
BB 1P0.518 7T 0
BPEFTL2HEAZHE =K
Bhn A3 - F IR 2
50% > RNET R HE BRERE
EHERAEBETRABM
FrHERENEB - F K
BB IEEN 2 25% 0 D
AREAERTRE=FK
FNFEERBERERE-
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Fourth Awards

On 1 July 2020, the Board passed a resolution
to grant additional 45,120,000 awarded shares
(“Fourth Awards”) by using the lapsed shares
of First Awards and Second Awards held by the
Trustee in the Trust Fund, of which none was
granted to the directors of the Company. The fair
value of the Fourth Awards granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company’s share
at the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of selected
participants were received. The fair value of Fourth
Awards granted was HK$1.37 per Awarded Share.

Fourth Awards granted to selected participants
are divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche
representing 25% of the awards would be vested
when the Selected Participant completing 1 year
of continuous service to the Group from the date
of grant. The second, third and fourth tranches
each represent 25% of the awards, and would be
vested in the second, third and fourth anniversary

from the date of grant, respectively.

352

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

49.

AR ZAFRRIE (@)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (conta) 49. RRIPZATRIE @

(b) Share Award Scheme (Cont'a) (b) BRIDIZENETE| @
Movements in the number of Awarded Shares held HE_Z2_Z2HF£+_HAH
by the Trustee for the year ended 31 December =t+—HIEFE > XETAFF
2020 are as follows: ZREROEBEESNT

Number of Number of

Awarded Awarded

Shares Shares

RERMEBE HEIRMHEE

2020 2019

—EZEF “ZT—hHF

At the beginning of the year REH] 282,990,600 337088,400

Granted [SEscAun 45,120,000 335,126,400

Vested and transferred B 57 B B iE (118,906,800) (358,345,000)

Lapsed B (22,486,400) (81,041,400)

Returned Shares EEERHD 22,486,400 81,041,400

Recycled lapsed shares B U EIR M (45,120,000) (30,879,200)

At end of the year RER 164,083,800 282,990,600
Vested but not transferred as at REREFEE M REE

the end of the year 3,641,000 14,487,000

50. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED 50. “ZRIE NIRRT

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

PEAEARAH

Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 1 January 2020, QMI has further acquired
42.63% equity interest in Youzan Japan, a company
incorporated in Japan with cash consideration
of JPY97000,000 (approximate RMB6,215,000).
Upon completion, the Group owned Youzan Japan
52.63% equity interest and obtained the control of
Youzan Japan. Youzan Japan is principally engaged
in providing operation services for merchants
and integrated new retail solutions for beauty
industries in Japan. The acquisition is for the
purpose of diversifying the Group’s revenue base
overseas.

—EosEER

(a)

WKEE—FEMEB AR
N_ZE_ZF—H—H QMI
E—2 UIRE R E97000,000
HE (89 AK%6,215,0007T)
WHE—REREAREFMmARILLZ
‘A&]Youzan Japan<Z42.63%
N E NERER
Youzan Japanz 52.63% A& #E >
I #ESYouzan JapanZ
1 o Youzan JapanE E{f HZx
AERIEHEERT TAE
BRTEREBGREMSERR
AR WEEBESEETZTER
EBZBINIRER
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50. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

354

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont'd)

(a)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Cont'd)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Youzan Japan acquired as at the date of

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

50. GEIRERE

HRFRMIEE @

(a) WEBE—FRRBARE @

R HEPTUW B Youzan
JapanAl H A BEREBEZ AR

completion, is as follows: FEDOT
RMB'000
ANE®BFT
Net assets acquired: Fr e B &3 1E -
Trade receivables & U BR =X 127
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables FE{JFIE & K
HAth e IR 1,314
Amount due from a shareholder FEW—54 B R TRIE 4,886
Bank and cash balances RITRIREAER 10,328
Trade payables FETERFR (1,822)
Accruals and other payables FEIRE B R EMERIE (934)
Borrowings (EEN (2,136)
Current tax liabilities BNHAMRIE &R (586)
1,177
Non-controlling interests JEER TR (5,295)
Goodwill (note 21) e (f1sE21) 1,029
6,911
Satisfied by: T AR E:
Carrying amount of pre-existing interest BEHEZREE
(note 7(b)) (MI5E7(b)) 696
Cash consideration previously paid as deposit fEaIfEARE BN ZIRERE 6,215
6,911
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: IWBEEZIRERAFLE .
Cash and cash equivalents acquired P IR e RIREEEY 10,328
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

50. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont'd)

(a)

PEAEARAH

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Cont'd)

The fair value of trade receivables, prepayment,
deposits and other receivables and amount due
from a shareholder acquired is approximately
RMB127000, RMB1,314,000 and RMB4,886,000
respectively. All of the contractual cash flows are
expected to be collected in full.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Youzan
Japan is attributable to the expected synergies of
the combination.

Youzan Japan contributed approximately
RMB97000 to the Group's revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2020 for the period between
the date of acquisition and the end of the reporting
period. Youzan Japan incurred approximately
RMB4,227000 to the Group's loss for the year
ended 31 December 2020 for the year between
the date of acquisition and the end of the reporting
period.

—EosEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

50.

mERERERRME @

(a)

KiE—REREB AT @

FiT U5 78 FE U BR 30~ FBAT RRIE
& M H A B WGRIE U K e
W—REREBEZRFE
DRIENER1270007T A
R 11,314,000 R AR &
4,886,000t FR A & HRE
TRETEET R RG] -

W B Youzan JapanE4% 2 &
BER S Z TR EMAE

R B BB E RS AR AR
Youzan JapanZA&EEEHZE
—EEF+ "B =+—H
IEFEZWHEEMOARE
97000 MW FE HEAE SR &
EAZRHARS > Youzan Japan&Zs
EEEE_Z-ZF+A
—t+—HIEFEZBEESE
#) N #54,2270007T ©
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

50. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont'd)

356

(b)

Acquisition of equity interest in a
subsidiary without change of control

- 26,606,296 of Youzan Technology's
shares

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company has contracted to acquire additional
26,606,296 Youzan Technology’'s new shares with
cash consideration of US$45 million (approximately
RMB306,728,000). Upon completion on 27 May
2020, the Company’s equity interest in Youzan
Group was increased from 50.47% to 50.76%.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

50.

mERERERRME @

(b)

BE—RHRBAT 2R
1 (I i hl i Es) —
26,606,2960% & B % iz {7

BHE_Z—h&E+A
=+—BHLEFE > AABBEF]
HLIREREASEEET W
AR #£306,728,0007T) Uk &
BER$26,606,2960% )%
PR ZTEZEFHRA-++
BHERE XABDREBEEE
B REB0.47 %1 MNE
50.76% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

50. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont'd)

(c)

(d)

Acquisition of equity interest in a
subsidiary without change of control

— 35 million of Youzan Technology'’s
shares

On 16 September 2020, the Company entered
into Share Subscription Agreement with Youzan
Technology, in relation to the subscription of
35,000,061 Youzan Technology's new shares,
with cash consideration of US$160 million
(Approximately RMB1,085,138,000). Upon
completion on 16 September 2020, the Company’s
equity interest in Youzan Group was increased from
50.76% t0 51.9%.

Non-cash transaction - Issuing shares
of a subsidiary to stock incentive plan

On 2 August 2019, the Group's non-wholly owned
subsidiary, Youzan Technology allotted and issued
shares to Qima Teamwork Inc. (“Qima Teamwork”)
(credited as fully paid). Upon completion, the
Company’'s equity interest in Youzan Technology
decreased to 50.47% from 51.48%.

TEEEHRAT —TTEFH

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

50.

mERERERRME @

(c)

(d)

IWEE—REIMEB AT Z R

RE (M Sl pE e &) —
35,000,0000% 5 B4 A%
%]

N ZEEFARFTH
KRB RBERFITLRG
REHE NAERURE
18160,000,000FE 7T (K9 A
E#51,085,138,0007T) sREE4Y
35,000,061 8B BB K
PN _E_TFEAA+/NH
TR ARBNBEEER Y
B&EF50.76 %2 I E51.9% ©

IEIRERF — ARG HE
SRR IT—HRBATZ
B
RZE—NAFENBZH &
EEFE2ENBLRARAEH
R mQima Teamwork Inc.
(FQima Teamwork ) fig 8% &
BTN ABRKRBE) 1R 5T
W& AABRBEEREZR
#EH51.48% N EZE50.47% °
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

50. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont'd)

(d) Non-cash transaction - Issuing shares

of a subsidiary to stock incentive plan
(Cont’d)
Youzan Technology has a stock incentive plan
and Qima Teamwork Inc. is the special vehicle
that holds the shares of Youzan Technology for
the purpose of attracting, retaining and providing
additional incentives to employees and consultants
of Youzan Technology. Under the aforesaid stock
incentive plan’s current arrangement, Qima
Teamwork shall issue and transfer its shares to the
vested grantees provided that the vested grantees
agree to surrender the voting rights of their vested
Qima Teamwork shares to Mr. Zhu Ning. As at
31 December 2019, Youzan Technology has not
granted any share awards under its stock incentive
plan and Qima Teamwork held 106,428,391 shares
of Youzan Technology.

(e) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

358

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

50.

mERERERRME @

(d)

(e)

JEIRER 5 — AR HED
R IT—HERBARZ
B @@

BEERNEHBEE —BERMDAE
=t mQima Teamwork Inc.
REBEERZKRMDZER
TE BNERSIEBRE
BER 2 EERERBIREMH
H s B8 i o R 15 F it i 1n
HENEtE 2 RN H HER
BARABERSHEHEERZ
Qima Teamworkf& 1 =z & #
BEETRESLE BIQima
TeamworkfEfF E i& 5 82470
HETERBARA-HEC
Z—-hnE+_RA=+—8"
BEREHABEERGH
Byt &3 T MDD EZE
Qima Teamworkis B B &R
106,428,391 I& f& 17 ©

MEEHEEZEEHR

TERFATEERELTHE
EZ8EEH BRERERIF
ReSP -NEIPELEZE
BERRERBIRKE TR
EREAERZEGREN
BEXRPHOESBETIME
REREZEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

50. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont'd)

(e)

EoEs—s

—=—=

F+A=+—HLEFE

50. iR REWRRMTE @

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (e) BMEBEIEBELEZEERIK
financing activities (Cont'd) F=))
Early
termination
Interest of leases  Acquisition
1 January Cash Inception expenses and rent of  Exchange 31 December
2020 flows of leases [note 11} concession  subsidiaries difference 2020
RERAL I5%%
it S5 3 HERY &R ¢ 1 +28
-A-A Réng G (1) fig%% KELE ERER =t+-A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Other loan [note 42) R (5t42) 201337 (204,485) - 8,361 - (5,213) - -
Borrowing (R - (2,136) - - - 2136 - -
Lease liabliies (note 41) BESE (124) 215,625 (73.910) 87204 19525 (6,039) - (144) 242,261
416,962 (280531) 87204 21886 (6,039) (3,077) (144) 242,261
Impact
on initial
application  Re-presented
of balance at Interest ~ Acquisition
1 January HKFRS 16 1 January Cash eXpenses of 31 December
2019 (note 3) 2019 flows (note 1) subsidiaries 2019
BER
ERIBRE
BAFSE  RIE-N eIk
“F-1 %g  -B-H NEEZ it +ZA
£-B-H (:3) <2@=54e  RenE (1) WERE =t+-8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTL  ARBTn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
Other loan (note 42) A8 (5a) - - - 194,994 6,343 - 201,337
Lease liahilties (note 41) AEEME (Ha41) - 213,880 213,880 (13,956) 15,701 - 215,625
- 213,880 213,880 181,038 22,044 - 416,962
TETEEER 369

PEAEARAH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g A
777 N

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

AATS AR MIEE

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

50. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED 50. #ZRIREMEMKRMT @

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (contd)

(f) Total cash outflow for leases HERERLEEE
Amounts included in the consolidated statements FeRERERPMMEZME
of cash flows for leases comprise the following: BEHROENATEIE:

2020 2019
ZEIBF ENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFTr AR®ETT
Within operating cash flows REREMEN 29,456 13,321
Within investing cash flows KEREMREN - -
Within financing cash flows MEREMREN 54,385 35,609
Exchange difference bE 7 = RB 144 -
83,985 48,930

These amounts relate to the following: ZESEETIRIEERM
2020 2019
—BIEF “Z—NHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®Fr AR®ETT
Lease rental paid ENEEEE 83,985 48,930
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

51. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

PEAEARAH

The Group provided transaction services to
facilitate the transactions process between
merchants and consumers. In connection with
provision of such service, Hangzhou Youzan
entered into a payment service agreement with
Beijing Gaohuitong (a subsidiary of the Group),
pursuant to which Beijing Gaohuitong, a licensed
payment company, provided settlement service to
the Group's merchants.

—EosEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

51.

HARE

(a)

AEBERMRZWRF > LUE
EBREBEEZBNRS
M2 o R HERBME > I
WEBHIERSESR (F&H
Z MW BT 873 24 BRE 1
&I RS ES (—EE
XA AR) AAEERBKRE
HEERT -

361



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
l%/\mﬂ

AR AR EE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

51.

362

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Contd)

(a)

(Cont’d)

After consulting the Group's legal counsel,
transaction service in the past provided by
Hangzhou Youzan (“Past Transaction Service”)
might be deemed as having engaged in payment
activities without licence by the relevant authority
in China under Administrative Measures for the
Payment Services Provided by Non-Financial
Institutions ((GFEREBZTRBEERE))
and may give rise to the risk of being required to
terminate such practice according to the relevant
PRC regulations. Furthermore, according to
Measures for Banning lllegal Financial Institutions
and lllegal Financial Business Activities ((3E;& &R
WRENIEZEMERTHEGEIDE)) that remain
in force during the year ended 31 December 2020,
confiscation of illegal gains and administrative
fine in the range of one time to five times of any
illegal gains from such operation (in case of no
illegal gains, administrative fine of RMB100,000 to
RMB500,000) could be imposed by the relevant
regulatory authorities.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

51.

HARRE @

(a)

#)

KRR ERZERERER
MNEERBEREZRS
R (DBERZRF) A8
WHEIA B ERPIR R GF R
WEBZNIRBEERE) G
MAREHFIRENES
A E R E R EARE
MWERRIEWLEER 2R
BReolbsh REBERBE_ZTZ
ZF+_A=+—HLEFE
Bz GEfEmEBNIEE
TREFLHIEIE) B
B & B B PI R R WIF AR 1S
R B DUR BRI 2R 5 AR T SR A PR
BHEERENTEIR (2
BIFEPMER ATRUAR
100,000Z500,0007CH947 BT

) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

51. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (cont )

(a)

(b)

PEAEARAH

(Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and
up to the date of approval of these financial
statements, Hangzhou Youzan had not been
determined by the relevant regulatory authorities
as engaging in payment activities without licence.
In February 2021, Hangzhou Youzan has ceased
providing transaction service. After consulting
the Group legal counsel, the Directors are of the
view that, based on that Hangzhou Youzan ceased
providing transaction service, (i) the likelihood
that current business operations of Hangzhou
Youzan would be penalised for having engaged
in unlicensed payment activities is low, and (ii)
the likelihood that Hangzhou Youzan would be
retrospectively penalised for having engaged in
unlicensed payment activities is low. As a result,
the Directors are of the opinion that material
financial impact to the Group as a result of the Past
Transaction Service is not probable.

On 22 April 2020, Hangzhou Youzan and its
merchant had a legal dispute with a third party
for trademark infringement. The third party sued
for infringement of their registered trademark
and claimed the merchant and Hangzhou Youzan
for damage of RMB2,000,000. Management
and the Group's legal department assessed the
likelihood of the claim are low and the maximum
compensation, if any, could be RMB2,000,000.

SRCBEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

51.

HARRE @

(a)

(b)

#)
BEEr_Z=_ZTFE+_A
—t+—HEFERBEZS
R RERLER R IINE
BHARBREENMET
ARCHOUIREZMER -
TEC—F-HMINAEBE
FILIR B R Z R - KB A
EBZEEERE BRI
BEFLIRERZRE &%
RAE (IMMNBERFEHER
ERAREARALHAIZNER
32 Bz &1 2 BT AE M 2 Re (i) AN
BERRERLHIIZME
BB MWES 2 EER
FRoAL EERA BER
SIRBIAEHAERERE
AKFFEF Lo

RIZZEZEF+B+ZH W
MNEBREBREEEE
BB = HEELRUL - ZE
—HiEEREEEFMEE I
BERXREMNEERBEAR
#2,000,0007T ° B K A&
EEFEBHPITGERE A
EMERR ReEE @A) 7
BEA A ER#52,000,0007T ©
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

51.

364

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Contd)

(c) On 12 October 2020, Hangzhou Youzan and 2
merchants had a legal dispute with a third party
for product design infringement. The third party
sued for infringement of product design used by
the merchants and claimed the merchants and
Hangzhou Youzan for damages of RMB2,000,000.
Management and the Group’s legal department
assessed the likelihood of the claim as low and
the maximum compensation, if any, could be
RMB2,000,000.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020.

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

51.

HARRE @

(c)

R_E_EFPBA_-+_"H>
MINE B R W% E X E S
Rt BHESE =L LR
WapeozE=HEEFERER
B E SRR T AL R 1 > T [ 7S
REMNEERBEEEE
AR #2,000,0007T - EIEfE
KA £ BA BT ERE
ZAEMRE e EE (W
B) FJEA AR ®2,000,000

Iz ©

fREXFIIRBEEN R _ZF
+TZR=t—H rxEETHMES
REAAREE-
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

52. COMMITMENTS 52. K
Commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting REREAAREBINEEREELEZE
period but not yet incurred are as follows: RAEEWT
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
Equity investment in a company — B AR 2 BRER 6,787 10,137
Property, plant and equipment #@% i 5= B e 1 3,278 574
53. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 53. REHEZRHE
The Group as lessee TEBEREBA

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
office and staff quarters. As at 31 December 2020, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed in note 20.

At 31 December 2020, the Group entered into a lease
for an office that are not yet commenced, with non-
cancellable period of 3 years with an extension option,
the total future undiscounted cash flows over the non-
cancellable period amounted to RMB17497000.

FEEEARAT T _TEFH

AEETEHITUMAERELES
ZHRBPHEE - R_E-ZF+_°A4
=+—H EHEEHEEEMEE20H
REZEHEAERZ ZEHEEHE
AL

RZEZEF+"/A=+—H &&
EA—EERERZWMAEIILAE
B AO IR AIE I A E AR
B Ao R AR KRG IRIRS
TMEAREEA AR 1174970007z
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

54. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

366

(a)

In addition to those related party transactions and (a)

balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following

54. RAEE XS

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

PRz G BRREMIBOPR

WEE 2 R 77 32 5 RS R b

AEBRENBERFBS A

material transactions with its related parties during MTEARRS :
the year:
2020 2019
“EITF  EZNHF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ANEREFTT
Technology services fee paid to BN —fEREBAEZ
a related company FiR%E& (1,188) -
Dividend income from an associate RE—EBEABZ
Iz B 3,625 4,350
Loan to an employee B—%EEFHZER
— principal (note 32) —&% (M5E32) - 2,650
Loans to a related company FRE—REREEAS
during the year EHZ B
— Principal borrowed during the year —FREBAZEE 500 800
— Repayment during the year —FRIER (1,300) -
Advertising service fee received from B —RIRE A SIUNEL 2
a related company (exclude VAT) BER%E
(FEIEIBER) 2,915 -
Revenue from a related company kBB AS z Wa 6,031 -
Revenue from an associate RE—EBE ARz Wm 516 1,698
Administrative expenses paid to a non- Bt —FEk B A B JEEER
controlling interest of a subsidiary R 2 TR (1,684) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

54. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (conta)

(b)

(c)

PEAEARAH

BE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HULEE

54. RAME RS @

On 5 June 2020, the Company entered into b) R-ZE=EZZ=FBHH>
Shares Purchase Agreement with Guang Holdings N/AB#iGuang Holdings
Limited to acquire 10 millions new Class A shares Limiteds] (L R1D BB E sk
in Guang Holdings Limited by consideration L 185,000,0003 T e B&
US$5,000,000. The acquisition was completed on Guang Holdings Limitedz
8 June 2020 and the Group classified as financial 10,000,000 #TAZERR 17 o UK
assets at FVTOCI. Details refer to the Company's BERZZZZEF/A/\H
announcements dated on 5 June 2020 and 8 June T AEESEARATE
2020. SFATHME2EWRERZ M
BEE -FBAR2BAQEH
AZ_ZFBEAAK
—EIEFRANBZRE.
The remuneration of directors and other members ) EETRHEMEREEBEAER
of senior management during the year was as FARZHFHMAOT :
follows:
2020 2019
“E2TEHF — N5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
Salaries, bonuses and allowances TETEALRoERL 25,418 28,442
Equity-settled share-based payments RRIEASE & IR1H (T FIE 23,725 21,800
Retirement benefit scheme IRRREH 5T &R
contribution 235 479
49,378 50,721
CRCBEGR 367
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

55. EVENTS AFTERTHE REPORTING PERIOD 55. #R&EHIEEM

368

(a)

(b)

(c)

On 19 January 2021, Hangzhou Youzan entered
into capital injection agreement and shareholders’
agreement with Shanghai Burgeon and its
existing shareholders to confirm the acquisition
of 156% enlarged equity interest. RMB50 million
earnest money paid (note 26) became part of
the consideration and the remaining balance of
approximately RMB162 million was settled by
Hangzhou Youzan on 22 January 2021.

During January 2021, Hangzhou Youzan received
reports from consumers in respect of complaining
a merchant who used Hangzhou Youzan's
Subscription Solutions for less than 1 year had not
delivered the goods after payment of credit points
that the consumers previously purchased from
that merchant via Hangzhou Youzan's e-commerce
platform. Hangzhou Youzan's in-house legal
department and risk control department have
investigated the cases and carried out internal
assessment. After considering the aforesaid
internal assessment, the Directors concluded
that Hangzhou Youzan has no responsibility in
such cases and it is not probable that Hangzhou
Youzan would require to make compensation to the
relevant consumers.

On 6 January 2021, Hangzhou Youzan acquired in
aggregate of 4.66% equity interests of Company
C from its existing shareholders with a total
consideration of RMB7922,000.

(a)

(b)

(c)

NZ_EZ—F—HB+hB8"
mMMNEEHR EBREKRAER
BEREITILIEHZERRERR
g UHESRUREE15% 2 K818
AR - BfmEE (H5E26)
AR #50,000,000cEA
Bz —87 MR ARE
162,000,000t EHINE &
N _E_—F—HB-+°"H

+ ==
EEe

N2 —F— AR N
BEBEWRIHEERS  WifE
AmMMNEEZIIRMBARAE
FENERNE R ER Z L H
BEZNHEHLRBEBANING
BETEBFTAEZAER
BEZERBEDERXNEMe
MINEE 2 NI AR KR
RIEGI B EHEGETRE
T ETT R ERET M o R E R Lt
WERST B BTN AR
MNEBEERZZMG L EST
WINBEERKEIREAME AR
HEEELEE.

R _E - —F—8/H>
MINBEEURRKEBARE
7,922,000t E A BICIHRE K
RN ABCZEH4.66%0%
1o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

55. EVENTS AFTERTHE REPORTING PERIOD
(Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

PEAEARAH

(Cont'd)

On the same day, Hangzhou Youzan entered
into an investment agreement with all existing
shareholders of Company C. According to which
Hangzhou Youzan intends to inject RMB16,800,000
to Company C for additional issue registered
capital, provided that Company C achieves either
quarterly, half-yearly or yearly sales targets in 2021
as specified in the investment agreement, so
that after completion of the potential investment,
Hangzhou Youzan’'s holding of equity interests
of Company C will reach 10%. Hangzhou Youzan
can choose not to proceed with the potential
investment in Company C if the performance
targets cannot be meet.

Hangzhou Youzan paid Company C RMB2,000,000
in January 2021 as earnest money for the potential
investment, such amount together with interests
calculated at bank deposit rate is refundable
when Hangzhou Youzan choose not to proceed
with the potential investment on grounds that the
performance targets not being meet.

In February 2021, Hangzhou Youzan ceased
providing transaction service. Hangzhou Youzan
would cease earning transaction service fee and
does not expect to incur material transaction cost
afterwards.

SRCBEER

HE_ZSF+"A=1+—HILFE

55. ¥REHEEH @

(c)

(d)

6=

ER IMEERRBCHA
RERRTUKREWZE &
e mMEERAABCEE
AR 116,800,0007t » LLEL{E
BRINEHITSEME A - MERTIRZ
ANBCHLRBHRREWZETR
EZ_BE_—FZE -¥FE
NFERHEER FEERE
TERE MMBERAEZRF
CIRERIZEI0% - HEEB IR
BAER AIMMEEREE
NETEERERECe

MMBER - —F
—BARAFACXHTARE
2,000,000 cERBEEHREZ
RET WINEBRZEES
BRAEBEMEZACETER
RER MR RRIRTE
MHRABZHM BRI FRIE

R_B_—F_H mMNEE
FIERERZRB - INEE
REIEBIRR ZRBE T H
A HBRIAIEELEEAR
SR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

55. EVENTS AFTERTHE REPORTING PERIOD
(Cont’d)

(e)

On 26 February 2021, the Company and BetaCafe
Holdings Limited issued a joint announcement
for the (i) proposed distribution (“Distribution”) of
the shares of Youzan Technology Inc. held by the
Company to all shareholders of the Company (such
shares are proposed to be listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange by way of introduction);
and (i) the taking private of the Company after
completion of the Distribution by way of a scheme
of arrangement under section 99 of the Companies
Act. Details are set forth in the joint announcement
dated 26 February 2021.

56. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been re-presented to
conform to the current period’'s presentation. The new
classification of the accounting items are considered
to provide a more appropriate presentation of the
state of affairs of the Group and provide more relevant
information to reflect the Group’s nature of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses.

370

HE_Z_ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

55.

56.

BEHREG @

€ M= —F"FZ+/,xB>
K/NE #HBetaCafe Holdings
Limited T2 Bt & A5 > LU
ERARNBRFEZEERE
BRABZKRMBDIKTEA
BIFBRE (M) (BRK
DN 4B 75 R B P
L™ RINVBIBRAEESE
99fR @B 5t B L HEI DK 5T
REBRRELBEIL BT
5 BE2RBRAZS I —%
“BEZ+RBzEa RS-

EEE T

WETLHEBREFEENDEUTE
KB Z 25 AN -G EBZHD
B AEREBTRAMEBRSE
EEZRMIIBHEZHBEE R L
RixAEBEE BF WAKRMZ
ZMEe
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A FHEHE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-BA=+—ALEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZEIEFE “ET-AE ZZE-)\E ZE—tH ZZ5RE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFTR ARETR AREFR ARETRT ARETR
(Re-presented)
(=5
RESULT E
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEREEK
Revenue & 1,820,723 1,168,857 586,287 179,761 68,732
Cost of sales HEMA (738,639)  (575,455) (388,076) (157187) (48,198)
Gross profit EA 1,082,084 593,402 198,211 22,574 20,534
Investment and other income BREREMBA 76,937 29,727 18,523 1,324 3,153
Other gains and losses, net Hiam 518 F%8 1,569 (198,992) (40,284) 38,790 (53,160)
Selling expenses HERS (781,882)  (543215)  (182,366) (20,594) (14,501)
Administrative expenses THAX (241,438)  (196,797) (190,118) (104,359) (107184)
Equity-settled share-based payment fe s BRI T IFIE (62,197)  (136,428)  (250,148) (18,891) (41,501)
Amortisation of intangible assets BT EE (193,143) (193,366) (136,310) 1,673 -
Other operating expenses HiR &Y (445,165) (349,927) (189,589) (36,225) -
Loss from operations BEEE (563,235)  (995596)  (772,081) (115,708) (192,659)
Finance cost R (27,886) (22,044) - - -
Share of losses of associates, net EMEAT 2R B8 (1,161) 5,289 (12) (1,517) -
LOSS BEFORE TAX PRIRAIRG IR (592,282)  (1,012,351) (772,093  (117225)  (192,659)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FERiER/ B 46,629 96,782 46,186 393 207
LOSS FORTHE YEAR FROM REFALEXRBZF NGBS
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (545,653)  (915,569)  (725,907) (116,832) (192,452)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BT
Loss for the year from BRIEREER 2
a discontinued operation FREE - - - - (3,756)
LOSS FORTHE YEAR FREE (545,653) (915,569) (725,907) (116,832) (196,208)
FESEARAT —F_TEER 371



FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

R FEERE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-BA=+—ALEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EZZE “E-NE “T-)\& “Z—tF “Z—RE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFTR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Attributable to: MNTFALEEESS
Owners of the Company UNSIEZZEPN (294,671) (591,874)  (431,459) (97027)  (183,800)
Non-controlling interests JEERRER (250,982)  (323,695) (294,448) (19,805) (12,408)
(545,653)  (915,569)  (725,907) (116,832) (196,208)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE AERIEERER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 12,212,480 10498860 6,683,935 1,159,690 968,596
TOTAL LIABILITIES Bes (7582,381)  (6,599,813)  (2,799,469) (133,216) (199,725)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS JEERR R (771,304)  (240,579)  (556,027) 8,120 (13,907)

(3,858,795) 3,658,468 3,328,439 1,034,594 754,964
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